UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015

OR

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-32195



GENWORTH FINANCIAL, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)

6620 West Broad Street Richmond, Virginia (Address of Principal Executive Offices) 80-0873306 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

> 23230 (Zip Code)

(804) 281-6000

(Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \boxtimes No \square

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (\S 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes \boxtimes No \square

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer	X	Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer		Smaller reporting company	
Indicate by check mark	whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes \Box	No 🖾	
A = = £ A = = 1 22 2015 40	7 200 (22 shares of Close A. Commune Stark meneration \$0,001 and share share such to dia.		

As of April 22, 2015, 497,388,632 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, were outstanding.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>PART I—F</u>	INANCIAL INFORMATION	Page
Item 1.	Financial Statements Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2015 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2014 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 (Unaudited) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 (Unaudited) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 (Unaudited) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 (Unaudited) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	3 3 4 5 6 7 8
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	67
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	129
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	130
PART II—	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	131
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	131
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	136
Signatures		137

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

GENWORTH FINANCIAL, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

	March 31, 2015 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2014
Assets	(********	
Investments:		
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value	\$ 62,942	\$ 62,447
Equity securities available-for-sale, at fair value	306	282
Commercial mortgage loans	6,149	6,100
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	188	201
Policy loans	1,506	1,501
Other invested assets	2,723	2,296
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities, at fair value	411	411
Total investments	74,225	73,238
Cash and cash equivalents	5,158	4,918
Accrued investment income	735	685
Deferred acquisition costs	4,918	5,042
Intangible assets	227	272
Goodwill	15	16
Reinsurance recoverable	17,339	17,346
Other assets	650	633
Separate account assets	9,064	9,208
Total assets	\$ 112,331	\$ 111,358
Liabilities and stockholders' equity		
Liabilitis:		
Future policy benefits	\$ 36,488	\$ 35,915
Policyholder account balances	26,146	26.043
Liability for policy and contract claims	8,030	8,043
Unearred premiums	3,731	3,986
Other liabilities (\$38 and \$45 of other liabilities are related to securitization entities)	3,899	3,604
Borrowings related to securitization entities (S81 and \$85 are at fair value)	205	219
Non-recourse funding obligations	1,983	1,996
Long-term borrowings	4,601	4,639
Deferred tax liability	1,103	908
Separate account liabilities	9,064	9,208
Total liabilities	95,250	94.561
Commitments and contingencies Stockholders' equity:		
Class A common stock, \$0.001 par value; 1.5 billion shares authorized; 586 million and 585 million shares issued as of March 31, 2015 and		
December 31, 2014, respectively; 497 million shares outstanding as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014	1	1
Additional paid-in capital	11,998	11,997
	11,998	11,997
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):		
Net unrealized investment gains (losses):		
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other-than-temporarily impaired	2,724	2,431
Net unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired securities	24	22
Net unrealized investment gains (losses)	2,748	2,453
Derivatives qualifying as hedges	2,247	2,070
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	(303)	(77)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	4,692	4,446
Retained earnings	1,333	1,179
Treasury stock, at cost (88 million shares as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014)	(2,700)	(2,700)
Total Genworth Financial, Inc.'s stockholders' equity	15,324	14,923
Noncontrolling interests	15,324	14,923
Total stockholders' equity	17,081	16,797
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 112,331	\$ 111,358

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Amounts in millions, except per share amounts) (Unaudited)

		nths ended ch 31,
	2015	2014
Revenues:		
Premiums	\$ 1,323	\$ 1,307
Net investment income	803	805
Net investment gains (losses)	(16)	(17)
Insurance and investment product fees and other	225	227
Total revenues	2,335	2,322
Benefits and expenses:		
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	1,243	1,194
Interest credited	180	183
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	380	378
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	121	134
Interest expense	116	127
Total benefits and expenses	2,040	2,016
Income before income taxes	295	306
Provision for income taxes	91	87
Net income	204	219
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	\$ 154	\$ 184
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders per common share:		
Basic	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.37
Diluted	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.37
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:		
Basic	497.0	495.8
Diluted	498.9	502.7
Supplemental disclosures:		
Total other-than-temporary impairments	\$ (3)	\$ (1)
Total ouer-unar-temporary impairments	\$ (3)	5 (I)
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments included in other comprehensive income (loss)		
Net other-than-temporary impairments	(3)	(1)
Other investments gains (losses)	(13)	(16)
Total net investment gains (losses)	\$ (16)	\$ (17)

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Amounts in millions)

(Unaudited)

	Three mon Marc	
	2015	2014
Net income	\$ 204	\$ 219
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:		
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other-than-temporarily impaired	323	706
Net unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired securities	2	6
Derivatives qualifying as hedges	177	219
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	(370)	(21)
Total other comprehensive income (loss)	132	910
Total comprehensive income (loss)	336	1,129
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests	(64)	4
Total comprehensive income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ 400</u>	<u>\$ 1,125</u>

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Amounts in millions)

(Unaudited)

	Common stock	Additional paid-in capital	Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	Retained earnings	Treasury stock, at cost	Total Genworth Financial, Inc.'s stockholders' equity	Noncontrolling interests	Total stockholders' equity
Balances as of December 31, 2014	\$ 1	\$ 11,997	\$ 4,446	\$ 1,179	\$ (2,700)	\$ 14,923	\$ 1,874	\$ 16,797
Comprehensive income (loss):								
Net income	—	—	_	154	—	154	50	204
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other- than-temporarily impaired	_	_	293	_	_	293	30	323
Net unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired securities	_	_	2	_	_	2	_	2
Derivatives qualifying as hedges	_	_	177	_	_	177	_	177
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	—	_	(226)	—	—	(226)	(144)	(370)
Total comprehensive income (loss)						400	(64)	336
Dividends to noncontrolling interests	—	_	—	—	—	_	(54)	(54)
Stock-based compensation expense and exercises and other		1				1	1	2
Balances as of March 31, 2015	<u>\$ 1</u>	\$ 11,998	\$ 4,692	\$ 1,333	<u>\$ (2,700)</u>	\$ 15,324	\$ 1,757	\$ 17,081
Balances as of December 31, 2013	\$ 1	\$ 12,127	\$ 2,542	\$ 2,423	\$ (2,700)	\$ 14,393	\$ 1,227	\$ 15,620
Comprehensive income (loss):								
Net income	-	_	_	184	_	184	35	219
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other- than-temporarily impaired	_	_	692	_	_	692	14	706
Net unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired securities	_	_	6	_	_	6	_	6
Derivatives qualifying as hedges	—	_	219	_	—	219	—	219
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	—	—	24	—	—	24	(45)	(21)
Total comprehensive income (loss)						1,125	4	1,129
Dividends to noncontrolling interests	_					_	(13)	(13)
Stock-based compensation expense and exercises and other		(3)				(3)	1	(2)
Balances as of March 31, 2014	<u>\$1</u>	\$ 12,124	\$ 3,483	\$ 2,607	\$ (2,700)	\$ 15,515	\$ 1,219	\$ 16,734

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Amounts in millions) (Unaudited)

		ch 31,
	2015	2014
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income	\$ 204	\$ 219
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:	(15)	(20)
Amortization of fixed maturity securities discounts and premiums and limited partnerships	(17)	(28)
Net investment losses (gains)	16	17
Charges assessed to policyholders Acquisition costs deferred	(196) (110)	(187)
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	(110)	134
Deferred income taxes	39	134
Net increase (decrease) in trading securities, held-for-sale investments and derivative instruments	18	26
Stock-based compensation expense	(2)	8
Change in certain assets and liabilities:	(2)	0
Accrued investment income and other assets	(75)	(109)
Insurance reserves	614	550
Current tax liabilities	(3)	(182)
Other liabilities, policy and contract claims and other policy-related balances	15	(285)
Net cash from operating activities	624	61
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Proceeds from maturities and repayments of investments:		
Fixed maturity securities	1,153	1,135
Commercial mortgage loans	198	139
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	13	7
Proceeds from sales of investments:		
Fixed maturity and equity securities	420	708
Purchases and originations of investments:		
Fixed maturity and equity securities	(1,839)	(2,172)
Commercial mortgage loans	(247)	(132)
Other invested assets, net	(64)	111
Net cash from investing activities	(366)	(204)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Deposits to universal life and investment contracts	630	814
Withdrawals from universal life and investment contracts	(527)	(505)
Redemption of non-recourse funding obligations	(13)	(8)
Repayment of borrowings related to securitization entities	(11)	(7)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests	(54)	(13)
Other, net	10	(12)
Net cash from financing activities	35	269
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(53)	20
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	240	146
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	4,918	4,214
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 5,158	\$ 4,360

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(1) Formation of Genworth and Basis of Presentation

Genworth Holdings, Inc. ("Genworth Holdings") (formerly known as Genworth Financial, Inc.) was incorporated in Delaware in 2003 in preparation for an initial public offering of Genworth common stock, which was completed on May 28, 2004. On April 1, 2013, Genworth Holdings completed a holding company reorganization pursuant to which Genworth Holdings became a direct, 100% owned subsidiary of a new public holding company that it had formed. The new public holding company was incorporated in Delaware on December 5, 2012, in connection with the reorganization, under the name Sub XLVI, Inc., and was renamed Genworth Financial, Inc. ("Genworth Financial") upon the completion of the reorganization.

The accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements include on a consolidated basis the accounts of Genworth Financial and the affiliate companies in which it holds a majority voting interest or where it is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE"). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

References to "Genworth," the "Company," "we" or "our" in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and these notes thereto are, unless the context otherwise requires, to Genworth Financial on a consolidated basis.

We have the following operating segments:

- International Mortgage Insurance. We are a leading provider of mortgage insurance products and related services in Canada and Australia and also participate in
 select European and other countries. Our products predominantly insure prime-based, individually underwritten residential mortgage loans, also known as flow
 mortgage insurance. We also selectively provide mortgage insurance on a structured, or bulk, basis that aids in the sale of mortgages to the capital markets and helps
 lenders manage capital and risk. Additionally, we offer services, analytical tools and technology that enable lenders to operate efficiently and manage risk.
- U.S. Mortgage Insurance. In the United States, we offer mortgage insurance products predominantly insuring prime-based, individually underwritten residential
 mortgage loans, also known as flow mortgage insurance. We selectively provide mortgage insurance on a bulk basis with essentially all of our bulk writings being
 prime-based. Additionally, we offer services, analytical tools and technology that enable lenders to operate efficiently and manage risk.
- U.S. Life Insurance. We offer and manage a variety of insurance and fixed annuity products in the United States. Our primary products include long-term care
 insurance, life insurance and fixed annuities.
- International Protection. We provide payment protection coverages (referred to as lifestyle protection) in multiple European countries and have operations in select
 other countries. Our lifestyle protection insurance products primarily help consumers meet specified payment obligations should they become unable to pay due to
 accident, illness, involuntary unemployment, disability or death.
- Runoff. The Runoff segment includes the results of non-strategic products which are no longer actively sold. Our non-strategic products primarily include our variable annuity, variable life insurance, institutional, corporate-owned life insurance and other accident and health insurance products. Institutional products consist of funding agreements, funding agreements backing notes ("FABNs") and guaranteed investment contracts ("GICs"). We no longer offer retail and group variable annuities but continue to service our existing blocks of business.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We also have Corporate and Other activities which include debt financing expenses that are incurred at the Genworth Holdings level, unallocated corporate income and expenses, eliminations of inter-segment transactions and the results of other non-core businesses that are managed outside of our operating segments, including discontinued operations.

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") and rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Preparing financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements (including normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary by management to present a fair statements of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The results reported in these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements that may be expected for the entire year. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include herein should be regarded as necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the entire year. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include herein should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes contained in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

(2) Accounting Changes

a) Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted

On January 1, 2015, we early adopted new accounting guidance related to measuring the financial assets and financial liabilities of a consolidated collateralized financing entity. The guidance addresses the accounting for the measurement difference between the fair value of financial assets and the fair value of financial liabilities of a collateralized financing entity. The new guidance provides an alternative whereby a reporting entity could measure the financial assets and financial liabilities of the collateralized financing entity in its consolidated financial statements using the more observable of the fair values. There was no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2015, we adopted new accounting guidance related to the accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactions and repurchase financings. The new guidance changed the accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactions and repurchase financing such that they were consistent with secured borrowing accounting. In addition, the guidance requires new disclosures for all repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions which will be effective in the second quarter of 2015. We do not have repurchase-to-maturity transactions, but have repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions that will be subject to additional disclosures. This new guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements but will impact our disclosures in the second quarter of 2015.

On January 1, 2015, we adopted new accounting guidance related to the accounting for investments in affordable housing projects that qualify for the low-income housing tax credit. The new guidance permits reporting entities to make an accounting policy election to account for investments in qualified affordable housing projects by amortizing the initial cost of the investment in proportion to the tax benefits received and recognize the net investment performance as a component of income tax expense (called the proportional amortization method) if certain conditions are met. The new guidance requires use of the equity method or cost method for investments in qualified affordable housing projects not accounted for using the proportional amortization method. The adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

On January 1, 2015, we early adopted new accounting guidance related to the accounting for share-based payment awards when the terms of an award provide that a performance target can be achieved after the requisite service period. The guidance requires that such performance targets should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of an award, and that compensation cost should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved. We have a performance stock unit plan where awards for employees who are retirement eligible can vest on a pro-rata basis upon retirement even if retirement occurs before the performance target is achieved. There was no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

b) Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted

In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued new guidance related to the presentation of debt issuance costs. This guidance requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The guidance is effective for us on January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted, and is required to be applied on a retrospective basis. We are still in the process of evaluating the impact the guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2015, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to consolidation. This guidance primarily impacts limited partnerships and similar legal entities, evaluation of fees paid to a decision maker as a variable interest, the effect of fee arrangements and related parties on the primary beneficiary determination and certain investment funds. This guidance is effective for us on January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. We are in the process of determining the impact on our consolidated financial statements.

(3) Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing each income category presented below by the weighted-average basic and diluted shares outstanding for the periods indicated:

		Three months ended March 31,	
(Amounts in millions, except per share amounts)	2015	2014	
Weighted-average shares used in basic earnings per common share calculations	497.0	495.8	
Potentially dilutive securities:			
Stock options, restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights	1.9	6.9	
Weighted-average shares used in diluted earnings per common share calculations	498.9	502.7	
Net income:			
Net income	\$ 204	\$ 219	
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35	
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ 154</u>	\$ 184	
Basic per common share	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.37	
Diluted per common share	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.37	

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

(4) Investments

(a) Net Investment Income

Sources of net investment income were as follows for the periods indicated:

		ee months ended March 31,
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Fixed maturity securities—taxable	\$ 639	\$ 648
Fixed maturity securities—non-taxable	3	3
Commercial mortgage loans	85	83
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	4	4
Equity securities	4	4
Other invested assets	55	50
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	1	1
Policy loans	33	31
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments	3	5
Gross investment income before expenses and fees	827	829
Expenses and fees	(24)) (24)
Net investment income	\$ 803	\$ 805

(b) Net Investment Gains (Losses)

The following table sets forth net investment gains (losses) for the periods indicated:

		Three months ended March 31,	
(Amounts in millions)	2	015	2014
Available-for-sale securities:			
Realized gains	\$	15	\$ 7
Realized losses		(12)	(23)
Net realized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities		3	(16)
Impairments:			
Total other-than-temporary impairments		(3)	(1)
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments included in other comprehensive income (loss)		_	
Net other-than-temporary impairments		(3)	(1)
Trading securities		6	12
Commercial mortgage loans		2	3
Net gains (losses) related to securitization entities		8	6
Derivative instruments (1)		(32)	(21)
Net investment gains (losses)	\$	(16)	<u>\$ (17)</u>

(1) See note 5 for additional information on the impact of derivative instruments included in net investment gains (losses).

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We generally intend to hold securities in unrealized loss positions until they recover. However, from time to time, our intent on an individual security may change, based upon market or other unforeseen developments. In such instances, we sell securities in the ordinary course of managing our portfolio to meet diversification, credit quality, yield and liquidity requirements. If a loss is recognized from a sale subsequent to a balance sheet date due to these unexpected developments, the loss is recognized in the period in which we determined that we have the intent to sell the securities or it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the securities prior to recovery. The aggregate fair value of securities sold at a loss during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$140 million and \$265 million, respectively, which was approximately 93% and 92%, respectively, of book value.

The following represents the activity for credit losses recognized in net income on debt securities where an other-than-temporary impairment was identified and a portion of other-than-temporary impairments was included in other comprehensive income (loss) ("OCI") as of and for the three months ended March 31:

(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Beginning balance	\$ 83	2014 \$101
Reductions:		
Securities sold, paid down or disposed	(5)	(2)
Ending balance	<u>\$ 78</u>	\$ 99

(c) Unrealized Investment Gains and Losses

Net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investment securities reflected as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows as of the dates indicated:

(Amounts in millions)	Marc	h 31, 2015	Decembe	er 31, 2014
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:				
Fixed maturity securities	\$	6,500	\$	5,560
Equity securities		35		32
Other invested assets		(2)		(2)
Subtotal		6,533		5,590
Adjustments to deferred acquisition costs, present value of future profits, sales inducements and benefit reserves		(2,112)		(1,656)
Income taxes, net		(1,534)		(1,372)
Net unrealized investment gains (losses)		2,887		2,562
Less: net unrealized investment gains (losses) attributable to noncontrolling interests		139		109
Net unrealized investment gains (losses) attributable to Genworth Financial, Inc.	\$	2,748	\$	2,453

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The change in net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale investment securities reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was as follows as of and for the three months ended March 31:

(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Beginning balance	\$ 2,453	\$ 926
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period:		
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities	943	1,431
Adjustment to deferred acquisition costs	(98)	(99)
Adjustment to present value of future profits	(20)	(52)
Adjustment to sales inducements	(15)	(13)
Adjustment to benefit reserves	(323)	(188)
Provision for income taxes	(162)	(378)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities	325	701
Reclassification adjustments to net investment (gains) losses, net of taxes of \$ and \$(6)		11
Change in net unrealized investment gains (losses)	325	712
Less: change in net unrealized investment gains (losses) attributable to noncontrolling interests	30	14
Ending balance	\$ 2,748	\$ 1,624

(d) Fixed Maturity and Equity Securities

As of March 31, 2015, the amortized cost or cost, gross unrealized gains (losses) and fair value of our fixed maturity and equity securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows:

(Amounts in millions)	Amortized cost or cost	Not ot tem	Gross unreal her-than- oorarily paired	Othe temp	s r-than- orarily paired	tem	Gross unrealiz ther-than- porarily paired	Othe temp	es er-than- porarily paired	Fair value
Fixed maturity securities:										
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored enterprises	\$ 4,985	\$	1,147	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 6,132
Tax-exempt	348		29		_		(16)		_	361
Government-non-U.S.	1,829		180		—		(1)		_	2,008
U.S. corporate	24,526		3,395		22		(43)			27,900
Corporate-non-U.S.	13,791		1,177		1		(83)		_	14,886
Residential mortgage-backed	4,746		414		15		(11)		(1)	5,163
Commercial mortgage-backed	2,508		180		5		(3)		_	2,690
Other asset-backed	3,813		29		1		(41)			3,802
Total fixed maturity securities	56,546		6,551		44		(198)		(1)	62,942
Equity securities	280		29		_		(3)			306
Total available-for-sale securities	\$ 56,826	\$	6,580	\$	44	\$	(201)	\$	(1)	\$63,248



NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

As of December 31, 2014, the amortized cost or cost, gross unrealized gains (losses) and fair value of our fixed maturity and equity securities classified as available-forsale were as follows:

		Gross unrealized gains					Gross unrealized losses			
(Amounts in millions)	Amortized cost or cost	temp	ner-than- orarily paired	temp	r-than- oorarily oaired	tem	her-than- porarily paired	temp	er-than- oorarily oaired	Fair value
Fixed maturity securities:										
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored										
enterprises	\$ 5,006	\$	995	\$	—	\$	(1)	\$	—	\$ 6,000
Tax-exempt	347		29		_		(14)			362
Government-non-U.S.	1,952		156				(2)		_	2,106
U.S. corporate	24,251		3,017		20		(88)		_	27,200
Corporate-non-U.S.	14,214		1,015		—		(97)		—	15,132
Residential mortgage-backed	4,881		362		15		(17)		(1)	5,240
Commercial mortgage-backed	2,564		143		4		(9)		_	2,702
Other asset-backed	3,735		23		1		(54)		—	3,705
Total fixed maturity securities	56,950		5,740		40		(282)		(1)	62,447
Equity securities	253		36				(7)			282
Total available-for-sale securities	\$ 57,203	\$	5,776	\$	40	\$	(289)	\$	(1)	\$62,729

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our investment securities, aggregated by investment type and length of time that individual investment securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, as of March 31, 2015:

]	Less tl	nan 12 moi	nths		12 mo	nths or m	ore			Total	
			Gross				Gross				Gross	
(Dellan emerate in millione)	Fair		realized	Number of	Fair		ealized	Number of	Fair		realized	Number of
(Dollar amounts in millions) Description of Securities	value		osses	securities	value	10	sses (1)	securities	value	10	sses (1)	securities
Fixed maturity securities:												
Tax-exempt	<u>s —</u>	S			\$ 109	\$	(16)	10	\$ 109	\$	(16)	10
Government—non-U.S.	50	Ψ	(1)	18	\$ 10) 	Ψ	(10)		50	Ψ	(10) (1)	18
U.S. corporate	1,178		(19)	174	468		(24)	66	1,646		(43)	240
Corporate—non-U.S.	1,024		(68)	172	249		(15)	39	1,273		(83)	211
Residential mortgage-backed			_		129		(12)	76	129		(12)	76
Commercial mortgage-backed	87		(1)	14	99		(2)	20	186		(3)	34
Other asset-backed	823		(4)	116	432		(37)	51	1,255		(41)	167
Subtotal, fixed maturity securities	3,162		(93)	494	1,486		(106)	262	4,648		(199)	756
Equity securities	68		(3)	64	_		_	_	68		(3)	64
Total for securities in an unrealized loss position	\$3,230	\$	(96)	558	\$1,486	\$	(106)	262	\$4,716	\$	(202)	820
% Below cost—fixed maturity securities:												
<20% Below cost	\$3,089	\$	(66)	483	\$1,369	\$	(55)	242	\$4,458	\$	(121)	725
20%-50% Below cost	73		(27)	11	117		(50)	14	190		(77)	25
>50% Below cost	_		<u> </u>		_		(1)	6	_		(1)	6
Total fixed maturity securities	3,162		(93)	494	1,486		(106)	262	4,648		(199)	756
% Below cost—equity securities:												
<20% Below cost	64		(2)	58	_		_	_	64		(2)	58
20%-50% Below cost	4		(1)	6					4		(1)	6
Total equity securities	68		(3)	64	_		_	_	68		(3)	64
Total for securities in an unrealized loss position	\$3,230	\$	(96)	558	\$1,486	\$	(106)	262	\$4,716	\$	(202)	820
Å	<u> </u>	-			<u> </u>				<u> </u>			
Investment grade	\$2,766	\$	(59)	445	\$1,292	\$	(85)	204	\$4,058	\$	(144)	649
Below investment grade (2)	464		(37)	113	194		(21)	58	658		(58)	171
Total for securities in an unrealized loss position	\$3,230	\$	(96)	558	\$1,486	\$	(106)	262	\$4,716	\$	(202)	820

(1) Amounts included \$1 million of unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities.

(2) Amounts that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or more included \$1 million of unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

As indicated in the table above, the majority of the securities in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months were investment grade and less than 20% below cost. These unrealized losses were primarily attributable to volatility in the utilities and energy sector, which resulted in a decline in the value of our corporate securities since acquisition. For securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months, the average fair value percentage below cost was approximately 3% as of March 31, 2015.

Fixed Maturity Securities In A Continuous Unrealized Loss Position For 12 Months Or More

Of the \$55 million of unrealized losses on fixed maturity securities in a continuous unrealized loss for 12 months or more that were less than 20% below cost, the weighted-average rating was "BBB+" and approximately 75% of the unrealized losses were related to investment grade securities as of March 31, 2015. These unrealized losses were predominantly attributable to corporate securities and municipal securities including fixed rate securities purchased in a lower rate environment and variable rate securities purchased in a higher rate and lower spread environment. The average fair value percentage below cost for these securities was approximately 4% as of March 31, 2015. See below for additional discussion related to fixed maturity securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or more with a fair value that was more than 20% below cost.

The following tables present the concentration of gross unrealized losses and fair values of fixed maturity securities that were more than 20% below cost and in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or more by asset class as of March 31, 2015:

	Investment Grade								
			20% to 50%	Greater than 50%					
			% of total				% of total		
	Fair	Gross unrealized	gross l unrealized	Number of	Fair	Gross unrealized	gross unrealized	Number of	
(Dollar amounts in millions)	value	losses	losses	securities	value	losses	losses	securities	
Fixed maturity securities:									
Tax-exempt	\$9	\$ (3	6) 1%	1	\$—	\$ —	— %	—	
U.S. corporate	26	(10)) 5	1	_		—	—	
Structured securities:									
Residential mortgage-backed	5	(4) 2	4	_	_	_		
Other asset-backed	68	(26	5) 13	4	—			_	
Total structured securities	73	(30)) 15	8					
Total	\$108	\$ (43	b) <u>21</u> %	10	\$	\$	%		

	Below Investment Grade									
	20% to 50%					Greater than 50%				
			% of total				% of total			
	Fair	Gross unrealized	gross unrealized	Number of	Fair	Gross unrealized	gross unrealized	Number of		
(Dollar amounts in millions)	value	losses	losses	securities	value	losses	losses	securities		
Fixed maturity securities:										
Structured securities:										
Residential mortgage-backed	\$ 1	\$ (1)	— %	3	\$—	\$ (1)	— %	6		
Other asset-backed	8	(6)	3	1						
Total structured securities	9	(7)	3	4		(1)		6		
Total	<u>\$9</u>	<u>\$ (7</u>)	<u> </u>	4	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$ (1</u>)	%	6		

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

For all securities in an unrealized loss position, we expect to recover the amortized cost based on our estimate of the amount and timing of cash flows to be collected. We do not intend to sell nor do we expect that we will be required to sell these securities prior to recovering our amortized cost. See below for further discussion of gross unrealized losses by asset class.

Structured Securities

Of the \$38 million of unrealized losses related to structured securities that have been in an unrealized loss position for 12 months or more and were more than 20% below cost, \$1 million related to other-than-temporarily impaired securities where the unrealized losses represented the portion of the other-than-temporary impairment recognized in OCI. The extent and duration of the unrealized loss position on our structured securities was primarily due to credit spreads that have widened since acquisition. Additionally, the fair value of certain structured securities has been impacted from high risk premiums being incorporated into the valuation as a result of the amount of potential losses that may be absorbed by the security in the event of additional deterioration in the U.S. economy.

While we considered the length of time each security had been in an unrealized loss position, the extent of the unrealized loss position and any significant declines in fair value subsequent to the balance sheet date in our evaluation of impairment for each of these individual securities, the primary factor in our evaluation of impairment is the expected performance for each of these securitization trust as well as the historical performance of the underlying collateral. Our examination of the historical performance of the securitization trust included consideration of the following factors for each of securitize is used by the trust: (i) the payment history, including failure to make scheduled payments; (ii) current payment status; (iii) current and historical performance of the underlying collateral included: (i) historical default rates, delinquency rates, voluntary and involuntary prepayments and severity of losses, including recent trends in this information; (ii) current payment status; (iii) loan to collateral value ratios, as applicable; (iv) vintage; and (v) other underlying characteristics such as current financial condition.

We used our assessment of the historical performance of both the securitization trust and the underlying collateral for each security, along with third-party sources, when available, to develop our best estimate of cash flows expected to be collected. These estimates reflect projections for future delinquencies, prepayments, defaults and losses for the assets that collateralize the securitization trust and are used to determine the expected cash flows for our security, based on the payment structure of the trust. Our projection of expected cash flows is primarily based on the expected performance of the underlying assets that collateralize the securitization trust and is not directly impacted by the rating of our security. While we consider the rating of the security as an indicator of the financial condition of the issuer, this factor does not have a significant impact on our expected cash flows for each security. In limited circumstances, our expected cash flows from reliable financial guarantors where we believe the financial guarantor will have sufficient assets to pay claims under the financial guarantee when the cash flows from the securitization trust are not sufficient to make scheduled payments. We then discount the expected cash flows using the effective yield of each security to determine the present value of expected cash flows.

Based on this evaluation, the present value of expected cash flows was greater than or equal to the amortized cost for each security. Accordingly, we determined that the unrealized losses on each of our structured securities represented temporary impairments as of March 31, 2015.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Despite the considerable analysis and rigor employed on our structured securities, it is at least reasonably possible that the underlying collateral of these investments will perform worse than current market expectations. Such events may lead to adverse changes in cash flows on our holdings of structured securities and future write-downs within our portfolio of structured securities.

The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our investment securities, aggregated by investment type and length of time that individual investment securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, as of December 31, 2014:

	1	Less t	than 12 mo	onths	12 months or more			Total				
			Gross				Gross				Gross	
(Dollar amounts in millions)	Fair value		realized losses	Number of securities	Fair value		realized	Number of securities	Fair value		ealized	Number of securities
Description of Securities												
Fixed maturity securities:												
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored enterprises	\$ —	\$	—		\$ 75	\$	(1)	10	\$ 75	\$	(1)	10
Tax-exempt	_		_	_	111		(14)	10	111		(14)	10
Government—non-U.S.	67		(1)	18	22		(1)	4	89		(2)	22
U.S. corporate	1,656		(31)	240	1,359		(57)	210	3,015		(88)	450
Corporate—non-U.S.	1,568		(69)	239	515		(28)	70	2,083		(97)	309
Residential mortgage-backed	180		(1)	24	254		(17)	90	434		(18)	114
Commercial mortgage-backed	163		_	21	362		(9)	49	525		(9)	70
Other asset-backed	1,551		(12)	215	487		(42)	55	2,038		(54)	270
Subtotal, fixed maturity securities	5,185		(114)	757	3,185		(169)	498	8,370		(283)	1,255
Equity securities	30		(3)	46	48		(4)	6	78		(7)	52
Total for securities in an unrealized loss position	\$5,215	\$	(117)	803	\$3,233	\$	(173)	504	\$8,448	\$	(290)	1,307
% Below cost-fixed maturity securities:												
<20% Below cost	\$5,148	\$	(103)	753	\$3,054	\$	(115)	477	\$8,202	\$	(218)	1,230
20%-50% Below cost	37		(11)	4	131		(53)	15	168		(64)	19
>50% Below cost	_		_	_	_		(1)	6	_		(1)	6
Total fixed maturity securities	5,185	_	(114)	757	3,185		(169)	498	8,370		(283)	1,255
% Below cost—equity securities:												
<20% Below cost	26		(2)	40	48		(4)	6	74		(6)	46
20%-50% Below cost	4		(1)	6	_		_		4		(1)	6
Total equity securities	30	_	(3)	46	48		(4)	6	78		(7)	52
Total for securities in an unrealized loss position	\$5,215	\$	(117)	803	\$3,233	\$	(173)	504	\$8,448	\$	(290)	1,307
Investment grade	\$4,623	\$	(75)	675	\$2,936	\$	(146)	431	\$7,559	\$	(221)	1,106
Below investment grade (2)	592		(42)	128	297		(27)	73	889		(69)	201
Total for securities in an unrealized loss position	\$5,215	\$	(117)	803	\$3,233	\$	(173)	504	\$8,448	\$	(290)	1,307

(1)

Amounts included \$1 million of unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities. Amounts that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or more included \$1 million of unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities. (2)

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The scheduled maturity distribution of fixed maturity securities as of March 31, 2015 is set forth below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers of securities may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

	Amortized	
	cost or	Fair
(Amounts in millions)	cost	value
Due one year or less	\$ 2,060	\$ 2,077
Due after one year through five years	10,913	11,552
Due after five years through ten years	11,584	12,343
Due after ten years	20,922	25,315
Subtotal	45,479	51,287
Residential mortgage-backed	4,746	5,163
Commercial mortgage-backed	2,508	2,690
Other asset-backed	3,813	3,802
Total	<u>\$ 56,546</u>	\$62,942

As of March 31, 2015, \$7,229 million of our investments (excluding mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities) were subject to certain call provisions.

As of March 31, 2015, securities issued by utilities and energy, finance and insurance, and consumer—non-cyclical industry groups represented approximately 25%, 19% and 12%, respectively, of our domestic and foreign corporate fixed maturity securities portfolio. No other industry group comprised more than 10% of our investment portfolio. This portfolio is widely diversified among various geographic regions in the United States and internationally, and is not dependent on the economic stability of one particular region.

As of March 31, 2015, we did not hold any fixed maturity securities in any single issuer, other than securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, which exceeded 10% of stockholders' equity.

(e) Commercial Mortgage Loans

Our mortgage loans are collateralized by commercial properties, including multi-family residential buildings. The carrying value of commercial mortgage loans is stated at original cost net of principal payments, amortization and allowance for loan losses.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We diversify our commercial mortgage loans by both property type and geographic region. The following tables set forth the distribution across property type and geographic region for commercial mortgage loans as of the dates indicated:

	March 31	, 2015	December 3	1, 2014
(Amounts in millions)	Carrying value	% of	Carrying value	% of total
Property type:	Value	<u>total</u>	value	total
Retail	\$ 2,193	36%	\$ 2,150	35%
Office	1,660	27	1,643	27
Industrial	1,553	25	1,597	26
Apartments	494	8	494	8
Mixed use/other	270	4	239	4
Subtotal	6,170	100%	6,123	100%
Unamortized balance of loan origination fees and costs	(1)		(1)	
Allowance for losses	(20)		(22)	
Total	\$ 6,149		\$ 6,100	

	March 31,	2015	December 3	, 2014
(Amounts in millions)	Carrying value	% of total	Carrying value	% of total
Geographic region:				
South Atlantic	\$ 1,677	27%	\$ 1,673	27%
Pacific	1,616	26	1,636	27
Middle Atlantic	837	14	826	14
Mountain	557	9	536	9
East North Central	390	6	397	7
West North Central	385	6	382	6
West South Central	275	5	268	4
New England	267	4	264	4
East South Central	166	3	141	2
Subtotal	6,170	100%	6,123	100%
Unamortized balance of loan origination fees and costs	(1)		(1)	
Allowance for losses	(20)		(22)	
Total	\$ 6,149		\$ 6,100	

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth the aging of past due commercial mortgage loans by property type as of the dates indicated:

			March 31, 201	5		
(Amounts in millions)	31 - 60 days past due	61 - 90 days past due	Greater than 90 days past due	Total past due	Current	Total
Property type:						
Retail	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 2,193	\$2,193
Office	—	_	3	3	1,657	1,660
Industrial		_	2	2	1,551	1,553
Apartments	_	_	_	_	494	494
Mixed use/other					270	270
Total recorded investment	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$5</u>	<u>\$5</u>	\$6,165	\$6,170
% of total commercial mortgage loans	%	%	%	%	100 %	100 %

			December 31, 20)14		
(Amounts in millions)	31 - 60 days past due	61 - 90 days past due	Greater than 90 days past due	Total past due	Current	Total
Property type:						
Retail	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 2,150	\$2,150
Office	_	_	6	6	1,637	1,643
Industrial	_	_	2	2	1,595	1,597
Apartments	_	_	_	_	494	494
Mixed use/other					239	239
Total recorded investment	\$	<u>\$ </u>	\$ 8	<u>\$8</u>	\$6,115	\$6,123
% of total commercial mortgage loans	%	%	%	%	100%	100 %

As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had no commercial mortgage loans that were past due for more than 90 days and still accruing interest. We also did not have any commercial mortgage loans that were past due for less than 90 days on non-accrual status as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

We evaluate the impairment of commercial mortgage loans on an individual loan basis. As of March 31, 2015, our commercial mortgage loans greater than 90 days past due included loans with appraised values in excess of the recorded investment and the current recorded investment of these loans was expected to be recoverable.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014, we modified or extended 3 and 28 commercial mortgage loans, respectively, with a total carrying value of \$48 million and \$254 million, respectively. All of these modifications or extensions were based on current market interest rates, did not result in any forgiveness in the outstanding principal amount owed by the borrower and were not considered troubled debt restructurings.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses and recorded investment in commercial mortgage loans as of or for the periods indicated:

		nths ended ch 31,
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Allowance for credit losses:		
Beginning balance	\$ 22	\$ 33
Charge-offs	(3)	(1)
Recoveries		_
Provision	1	(2)
Ending balance	\$ 20	\$ 30
Ending allowance for individually impaired loans	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$ </u>
Ending allowance for loans not individually impaired that were evaluated collectively for impairment	\$ 20	\$ 30
Recorded investment:		
Ending balance	\$ 6,170	\$ 5,924
Ending balance of individually impaired loans	<u>\$ 18</u>	<u>\$ 17</u>
Ending balance of loans not individually impaired that were evaluated collectively for impairment	\$ 6,152	\$ 5,907

As of March 31, 2015, we had an individually impaired commercial mortgage loan included within the office property type with a recorded investment of \$3 million, an unpaid principal balance of \$6 million and charge-offs of \$3 million. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had an individually impaired commercial mortgage loan included within the industrial property type with a recorded investment of \$15 million, an unpaid principal balance of \$16 million and charge-offs of \$1 million, which were recorded in the first quarter of 2014.

In evaluating the credit quality of commercial mortgage loans, we assess the performance of the underlying loans using both quantitative and qualitative criteria. Certain risks associated with commercial mortgage loans can be evaluated by reviewing both the loan-to-value and debt service coverage ratio to understand both the probability of the borrower not being able to make the necessary loan payments as well as the ability to sell the underlying property for an amount that would enable us to recover our unpaid principal balance in the event of default by the borrower. The average loan-to-value ratio is based on our most recent estimate of the fair value for the underlying property which is evaluated at least annually and updated more frequently if necessary to better indicate risk associated with the loan. A lower loan-to-value indicates that our loan value is more likely to be recovered in the event of default by the borrower if the property was sold. The debt service coverage ratio is based on "normalized" annual net operating income of the property compared to the payments required under the terms of the loan. Normalization allows for the removal of annual one-time events such as capital expenditures, prepaid or late real estate tax payments or non-recurring third-party fees (such as legal, consulting or contract fees). This ratio is evaluated at least annually and updated more frequently in ecessary to better indicate risk associated with the borrower is less likely to default on the loan. The debt service coverage ratio indicates the borrower is less likely to default on the loan. The debt service coverage ratio indicates the borrower is less likely to default on the loan. The debt service coverage ratio indicates the borrower is less likely to default on the loan. The debt service coverage ratio indicates the borrower's liquidity or access to other resources that may result in our expectation that the borrower will continue to make the future scheduled payments.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth the loan-to-value of commercial mortgage loans by property type as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015					
(Amounts in millions)	0% - 50%	<u>51% - 60%</u>	<u>61% - 75%</u>	<u>76% - 100%</u>	Greater than 100%	Total
Property type:						
Retail	\$ 715	\$ 428	\$ 958	\$ 74	\$ 18	\$2,193
Office	464	261	798	116	21	1,660
Industrial	426	282	766	56	23	1,553
Apartments	215	74	197	8	_	494
Mixed use/other	59	36	169	6		270
Total recorded investment	<u>\$ 1,879</u>	<u>\$ 1,081</u>	\$ 2,888	<u>\$ 260</u>	\$ 62	\$6,170
% of total	30 %	18 %	47 %	4%	1%	100 %
Weighted-average debt service coverage ratio	2.14	1.76	1.61	0.98	0.56	1.76

(1) Included \$15 million of impaired loans and \$47 million of loans in good standing, where borrowers continued to make timely payments, with a total weighted-average loan-to-value of 118%.

			December	31, 2014		
(Amounts in millions)	<u>0% - 50%</u>	<u>51% - 60%</u>	<u>61% - 75%</u>	<u>76% - 100%</u>	Greater than 100%	Total
Property type:						
Retail	\$ 671	\$ 419	\$ 967	\$ 75	\$ 18	\$2,150
Office	383	278	782	164	36	1,643
Industrial	451	285	778	60	23	1,597
Apartments	211	76	199	8	_	494
Mixed use/other	45	43	145	6		239
Total recorded investment	<u>\$ 1,761</u>	<u>\$ 1,101</u>	\$ 2,871	\$ 313	<u>\$ 77</u>	\$6,123
% of total	29 %	18 %	47 %	5 %	1%	100 %
Weighted-average debt service coverage ratio	2.27	1.75	1.61	1.02	0.72	1.78

(1) Included \$15 million of impaired loans, \$6 million of loans past due and not individually impaired and \$56 million of loans in good standing, where borrowers continued to make timely payments, with a total weighted-average loan-to-value of 120%.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth the debt service coverage ratio for fixed rate commercial mortgage loans by property type as of the dates indicated:

		March 31, 2015									
(Amounts in millions)	Less than	1.00	1.00	- 1.25	1.2	6 - 1.50	1.51	- 2.00		reater in 2.00	Total
Property type:											
Retail	\$	76	\$	248	\$	553	\$	901	\$	415	\$2,193
Office		115		94		298		768		378	1,653
Industrial		160		143		240		675		333	1,551
Apartments		1		48		91		185		169	494
Mixed use/other		6		1		86		137		40	270
Total recorded investment	\$	358	\$	534	\$	1,268	\$	2,666	\$	1,335	\$6,161
% of total		6%		9%		20%		43%		22%	100%
Weighted-average loan-to-value		75%		63%		60%		60%		44%	58%

	December 31, 2014						
(Amounts in millions)	Less than 1.00	1.00 - 1.25	1.26 - 1.50	1.51 - 2.00	Greater than 2.00	Total	
Property type:							
Retail	\$ 80	\$ 253	\$ 524	\$ 870	\$ 423	\$2,150	
Office	119	101	247	780	389	1,636	
Industrial	158	142	246	706	343	1,595	
Apartments	1	48	88	186	171	494	
Mixed use/other	6	1	61	135	36	239	
Total recorded investment	<u>\$ 364</u>	<u>\$ 545</u>	<u>\$ 1,166</u>	\$ 2,677	\$ 1,362	\$6,114	
% of total	<u> </u>	9%	19%	44%	22%	100%	
Weighted-average loan-to-value	77%	64%	64%	59%	45%	59%	

As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had floating rate commercial mortgage loans of \$9 million.

(f) Restricted Commercial Mortgage Loans Related To Securitization Entities

We have a consolidated securitization entity that holds commercial mortgage loans that are recorded as restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities.

(g) Restricted Other Invested Assets Related To Securitization Entities

We have consolidated securitization entities that hold certain investments that are recorded as restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities. The consolidated securitization entities hold certain investments as trading securities and whereby the changes in fair value are recorded in current period income (loss). The trading securities comprise asset-backed securities, including residual interest in certain policy loan securitization entities and highly rated bonds that are primarily backed by credit card receivables.

(5) Derivative Instruments

Our business activities routinely deal with fluctuations in interest rates, equity prices, currency exchange rates and other asset and liability prices. We use derivative instruments to mitigate or reduce certain of these risks. We have established policies for managing each of these risks, including prohibitions on derivatives market-making and



NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

other speculative derivatives activities. These policies require the use of derivative instruments in concert with other techniques to reduce or mitigate these risks. While we use derivatives to mitigate or reduce risks, certain derivatives do not meet the accounting requirements to be designated as hedging instruments and are denoted as "derivatives not designated as hedges" in the following disclosures. For derivatives that meet the accounting requirements to be designated as hedges, the following disclosures for these derivatives are denoted as "derivatives designated as hedges," which include both cash flow and fair value hedges.

The following table sets forth our positions in derivative instruments as of the dates indicated:

	Deri	vative assets		Deriv	ative liabilities		
		Fa	ir value		Fai	ir value	
(Amounts in millions)	Balance sheet classification			Balance sheet classification	March 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	
Derivatives designated as hedges							
Cash flow hedges:							
Interest rate swaps	Other invested assets	\$ 948	\$ 639	Other liabilities	\$ 45	\$ 27	
Inflation indexed swaps	Other invested assets	_		Other liabilities	31	42	
Foreign currency swaps	Other invested assets	9	6	Other liabilities			
Total cash flow hedges		957	645		76	69	
Total derivatives designated as hedges		957	645		76	69	
Derivatives not designated as hedges							
Interest rate swaps	Other invested assets	492	452	Other liabilities	224	177	
Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities	Restricted other						
	invested assets	—	_	Other liabilities	29	26	
Foreign currency swaps	Other invested assets	—	—	Other liabilities	15	7	
Credit default swaps	Other invested assets	3	4	Other liabilities	_	_	
Credit default swaps related to securitization entities	Restricted other						
	invested assets		—	Other liabilities	10	17	
Equity index options	Other invested assets	15	17	Other liabilities	_	_	
Financial futures	Other invested assets	—	—	Other liabilities	—	—	
Equity return swaps	Other invested assets	_	_	Other liabilities	6	1	
Other foreign currency contracts	Other invested assets	17	14	Other liabilities	24	13	
	Reinsurance			Policyholder			
GMWB embedded derivatives	recoverable (1)	14	13	account balances (2)	316	291	
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives				Policyholder			
	Other assets	—	—	account balances (3)	300	276	
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives	Reinsurance			Policyholder	-	_	
	recoverable			account balances (4)	7	7	
Total derivatives not designated as hedges		541	500		931	815	
Total derivatives		\$ 1,498	\$ 1,145		\$ 1,007	\$ 884	

(1) Represents embedded derivatives associated with the reinsured portion of our guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefits ("GMWB") liabilities.

(2) Represents the embedded derivatives associated with our GMWB liabilities, excluding the impact of reinsurance.

(3) Represents the embedded derivatives associated with our fixed index annuity liabilities.

(4) Represents the embedded derivatives associated with our indexed universal life liabilities.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The fair value of derivative positions presented above was not offset by the respective collateral amounts retained or provided under these agreements.

The activity associated with derivative instruments can generally be measured by the change in notional value over the periods presented. However, for GMWB, fixed index annuity embedded derivatives and indexed universal life embedded derivatives, the change between periods is best illustrated by the number of policies. The following tables represent activity associated with derivative instruments as of the dates indicated:

(Notional in millions)	Measurement	December 31, 2014	Additions	Maturities/ terminations	March 31, 2015
Derivatives designated as hedges					
Cash flow hedges:					
Interest rate swaps	Notional	\$ 11,961	\$ —	\$ (6)	\$ 11,955
Inflation indexed swaps	Notional	571	1	(10)	562
Foreign currency swaps	Notional	35			35
Total cash flow hedges		12,567	1	(16)	12,552
Total derivatives designated as hedges		12,567	1	(16)	12,552
Derivatives not designated as hedges					
Interest rate swaps	Notional	5,074	250	(392)	4,932
Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities	Notional	77	_	(4)	73
Credit default swaps	Notional	394	—	—	394
Credit default swaps related to securitization entities	Notional	312	—	—	312
Equity index options	Notional	994	212	(201)	1,005
Financial futures	Notional	1,331	1,465	(1,433)	1,363
Equity return swaps	Notional	108	127	(103)	132
Foreign currency swaps	Notional	104	4	—	108
Other foreign currency contracts	Notional	425	104	(129)	400
Total derivatives not designated as hedges		8,819	2,162	(2,262)	8,719
Total derivatives		\$ 21,386	\$ 2,163	<u>\$ (2,278)</u>	\$ 21,271

(Number of policies)	Measurement	December 31, 2014	Additions	Maturities/ terminations	March 31, 2015
Derivatives not designated as hedges					
GMWB embedded derivatives	Policies	39,015		(784)	38,231
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives	Policies	13,901	1,179	(82)	14,998
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives	Policies	421	127	(2)	546

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Cash Flow Hedges

Certain derivative instruments are designated as cash flow hedges. The changes in fair value of these instruments are recorded as a component of OCI. We designate and account for the following as cash flow hedges when they have met the effectiveness requirements: (i) various types of interest rate swaps to convert floating rate investments; (ii) various types of interest rate swaps to convert floating rate liabilities into fixed rate liabilities; (iii) receive U.S. dollar fixed on foreign currency swaps to hedge the foreign currency cash flow exposure of foreign currency denominated investments; (iv) forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in interest rates associated with future fixed rate bond purchases and/or interest income; (v) forward bond purchase commitments to hedge against the variability in the anticipated cash flows required to purchase future fixed rate bonds; and (vi) other instruments to hedge the cash flows of various forecasted transactions.

The following table provides information about the pre-tax income effects of cash flow hedges for the three months ended March 31, 2015:

(Amounts in millions)	Gain (loss) recognized in OCI	Gain (loss) reclassified into net income from OCI	Classification of gain (loss) reclassified into net income	Gain (loss) recognized in net income ⁽¹⁾	Classification of gain (loss) recognized in net income
			Net investment		Net investment
Interest rate swaps hedging assets	\$ 306	\$ 19	income	\$ 4	gains (losses)
					Net investment
Interest rate swaps hedging liabilities	(18)	_	Interest expense	_	gains (losses)
			Net investment		Net investment
Inflation indexed swaps	11	9	income	_	gains (losses)
			Net investment		Net investment
Foreign currency swaps	3		income		gains (losses)
Total	\$ 302	\$ 28		<u>\$ 4</u>	

(1) Represents ineffective portion of cash flow hedges as there were no amounts excluded from the measurement of effectiveness.

The following table provides information about the pre-tax income effects of cash flow hedges for the three months ended March 31, 2014:

Gain (loss) recognized in OCI	Gain (loss) reclassified into net income from OCI	Classification of gain (loss) reclassified into net income	Gain (loss) recognized in net income (1)	Classification of gain (loss) recognized in net income
		Net investment		Net investment
\$ 357	\$ 15	income	\$ 4	gains (losses)
				Net investment
(20)	—	Interest expense	—	gains (losses)
		Net investment		Net investment
(3)	(1)	income	—	gains (losses)
		Net investment		Net investment
18		income		gains (losses)
\$ 352	<u>\$ 14</u>		\$ 4	
	recognized in OCI \$ 357 (20) (3) <u>18</u>	reclassified Gain (loss) recognized in OCI \$ 357 (20) (3) (1) <u>18</u> <u></u>	reclassified into net income Classification of gain (loss) recognized in OCI from OCI Classification of gain (loss) reclassified into net income \$ 357 \$ 15 (20) — (20) — (3) (1) (1) income Net investment income 18 —	reclassified into in OCI reclassified into from OCI Classification of gain (loss) reclassified into net income Gain (loss) recognized in net income (1) \$ 357 \$ 15 Interest expense (20) Interest expense (3) (1) income 18 income

(1) Represents ineffective portion of cash flow hedges as there were no amounts excluded from the measurement of effectiveness.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table provides a reconciliation of current period changes, net of applicable income taxes, for these designated derivatives presented in the separate component of stockholders' equity labeled "derivatives qualifying as hedges," for the periods indicated:

	Three mon Marc	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Derivatives qualifying as effective accounting hedges as of January 1	\$ 2,070	\$ 1,319
Current period increases (decreases) in fair value, net of deferred taxes of \$(107) and \$(124)	195	228
Reclassification to net (income), net of deferred taxes of \$10 and \$5	(18)	(9)
Derivatives qualifying as effective accounting hedges as of March 31	\$ 2,247	\$ 1,538

The total of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges of \$2,247 million, net of taxes, recorded in stockholders' equity as of March 31, 2015 is expected to be reclassified to net income in the future, concurrently with and primarily offsetting changes in interest expense and interest income on floating rate instruments and interest income on fluture fixed rate bond purchases. Of this amount, \$59 million, net of taxes, is expected to be reclassified to net income in the next 12 months. Actual amounts may vary from this amount as a result of market conditions. All forecasted transactions associated with qualifying cash flow hedges are expected to occur by 2047. There were immaterial amounts reclassified to net income during the three months ended March 31, 2015 in connection with forecasted transactions that were no longer considered probable of occurring.

Fair Value Hedges

Certain derivative instruments are designated as fair value hedges. The changes in fair value of these instruments are recorded in net income. In addition, changes in the fair value attributable to the hedged portion of the underlying instrument are reported in net income. We designate and account for the following as fair value hedges when they have met the effectiveness requirements: (i) interest rate swaps to convert fixed rate liabilities into floating rate liabilities; (ii) cross currency swaps to convert non-U.S. dollar fixed rate liabilities to floating rate U.S. dollar liabilities; and (iii) other instruments to hedge various fair value exposures of investments.

There were no pre-tax income effects of fair value hedges and related hedged items for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014.

Derivatives Not Designated As Hedges

We also enter into certain non-qualifying derivative instruments such as: (i) interest rate swaps and financial futures to mitigate interest rate risk as part of managing regulatory capital positions; (ii) credit default swaps to enhance yield and reproduce characteristics of investments with similar terms and credit risk; (iii) equity index options, equity return swaps, interest rate swaps and financial futures to mitigate the risks associated with liabilities that have guaranteed minimum benefits, fixed index annuities and indexed universal life; (iv) interest rate swaps where the hedging relationship does not qualify for hedge accounting; (v) credit default swaps to mitigate loss exposure to certain credit risk; (vi) foreign currency swaps, options and forward contracts to mitigate currency risk associated with non-functional currency investments held by certain foreign subsidiaries to our holding company; and (vii) equity index options to mitigate certain macroeconomic risks associated with certain foreign subsidiaries.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Additionally, we provide GMWBs on certain variable annuities that are required to be bifurcated as embedded derivatives. We also offer fixed index annuity and indexed universal life products and have reinsurance agreements with certain features that are required to be bifurcated as embedded derivatives.

We also have derivatives related to securitization entities where we were required to consolidate the related securitization entity as a result of our involvement in the structure. The counterparties for these derivatives typically only have recourse to the securitization entity. The interest rate swaps used for these entities are typically used to effectively convert the interest payments on the assets of the securitization entity to the same basis as the interest rate on the borrowings issued by the securitization entity. Credit default swaps are utilized in certain securitization entities to enhance the yield payable on the borrowings issued by the securitization entity and also include a settlement feature that allows the securitization entity to provide the par value of assets in the securitization entity for the amount of any losses incurred under the credit default swap.

The following table provides the pre-tax gain (loss) recognized in net income for the effects of derivatives not designated as hedges for the periods indicated:

	Three months ended March 31,		h 31,	Classification of gain (loss) recognized	
(Amounts in millions)	201	5		2014	in net income
Interest rate swaps	\$	8	\$	(3)	Net investment gains (losses)
Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities		(3)		(3)	Net investment gains (losses)
Credit default swaps		1		_	Net investment gains (losses)
Credit default swaps related to securitization entities		8		7	Net investment gains (losses)
Equity index options		(10)		(7)	Net investment gains (losses)
Financial futures		7		27	Net investment gains (losses)
Equity return swaps		(9)		(1)	Net investment gains (losses)
Other foreign currency contracts		(1)		(9)	Net investment gains (losses)
Foreign currency swaps		(10)		_	Net investment gains (losses)
GMWB embedded derivatives		(16)		(31)	Net investment gains (losses)
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives		(7)		(1)	Net investment gains (losses)
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives		1			Net investment gains (losses)
Total derivatives not designated as hedges	\$	(31)	\$	(21)	

Derivative Counterparty Credit Risk

Most of our derivative arrangements with counterparties require the posting of collateral upon meeting certain net exposure thresholds. For derivatives related to securitization entities, there are no arrangements that require either party to provide collateral and the recourse of the derivative counterparty is typically limited to the assets held by the securitization entity and there is no recourse to any entity other than the securitization entity.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following tables present additional information about derivative assets and liabilities subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015			December 31, 2014				
(Amounts in millions)	Derivatives assets (1)	Derivatives liabilities (2)	Net derivatives	Derivatives assets (1)	Derivatives liabilities (2)	Net derivatives		
Amounts presented in the balance sheet:								
Gross amounts recognized	\$ 1,526	\$ 369	\$ 1,157	\$ 1,157	\$ 273	\$ 884		
Gross amounts offset in the balance sheet								
Net amounts presented in the balance sheet	1,526	369	1,157	1,157	273	884		
Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet:								
Financial instruments (3)	(289)	(289)	_	(227)	(227)	_		
Collateral received	(1,088)		(1,088)	(884)	_	(884)		
Collateral pledged	_	(205)	205	_	(49)	49		
Over collateralization	2	125	(123)	1	5	(4)		
Net amount	<u>\$ 151</u>	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$ 151</u>	<u>\$ 47</u>	<u>\$2</u>	<u>\$ 45</u>		

(1) Included \$42 million and \$25 million of accruals on derivatives classified as other assets and does not include amounts related to embedded derivatives as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

(2) Included \$24 million and \$6 million of accruals on derivatives classified as other liabilities and does not include amounts related to embedded derivatives and derivatives related to securitization entities as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

(3) Amounts represent derivative assets and/or liabilities that are presented gross within the balance sheet but are held with the same counterparty where we have a master netting arrangement. This adjustment results in presenting the net asset and net liability position for each counterparty.

Except for derivatives related to securitization entities, almost all of our master swap agreements contain credit downgrade provisions that allow either party to assign or terminate derivative transactions if the other party's long-term unsecured debt rating or financial strength rating is below the limit defined in the applicable agreement. If the downgrade provisions had been triggered as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we could have been allowed to claim \$151 million and \$47 million, respectively, or required to disburse up to \$2 million as of December 31, 2014. The chart above excludes embedded derivatives and derivatives related to securitization entities as those derivatives are not subject to master netting arrangements.

Credit Derivatives

We sell protection under single name credit default swaps and credit default swap index tranches in combination with purchasing securities to replicate characteristics of similar investments based on the credit quality and term of the credit default swap. Credit default triggers for both indexed reference entities and single name reference entities follow the Credit Derivatives Physical Settlement Matrix published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association. Under these terms, credit default triggers are defined as bankruptcy, failure to pay or restructuring, if applicable. Our maximum exposure to credit loss equals the notional value for credit default swaps. In the event of default swaps, we are typically required to pay the protection holder the full notional value less a recovery rate determined at auction.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

In addition to the credit derivatives discussed above, we also have credit derivative instruments related to securitization entities that we consolidate. These derivatives represent a customized index of reference entities with specified attachment points for certain derivatives. The credit default triggers are similar to those described above. In the event of default, the securitization entity will provide the counterparty with the par value of assets held in the securitization entity for the amount of incurred loss on the credit default swap. The maximum exposure to loss for the securitization entity is the notional value of the derivatives. Certain losses on these credit default swaps would be absorbed by the third-party noteholders of the securitization entity and the remaining losses on the credit default swaps would be absorbed by our portion of the notes issued by the securitization entity.

The following table sets forth our credit default swaps where we sell protection on single name reference entities and the fair values as of the dates indicated:

	Г	March 31, 2015			December 31, 2014		
	Notional			Notional			
(Amounts in millions)	value	Assets	Liabilities	value	Assets	Liabilities	
Investment grade							
Matures in less than one year	\$ —	\$—	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	
Matures after one year through five years	39	1	_	39	1	_	
Total credit default swaps on single name reference entities	\$ 39	\$ 1	\$	\$ 39	\$ 1	\$	

The following table sets forth our credit default swaps where we sell protection on credit default swap index tranches and the fair values as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015			December 31, 2014			
	Notional			Notional			
(Amounts in millions)	value	Assets	Liabilities	value	Assets	Liabilities	
Original index tranche attachment/detachment point and maturity:							
7% - 15% matures after one year through five years ⁽¹⁾	\$ 100	\$ 1	\$ —	\$ 100	\$ 1	\$ —	
9% - 12% matures in less than one year ⁽²⁾	250	1		250	2		
Total credit default swap index tranches	350	2		350	3		
Customized credit default swap index tranches related to securitization entities:							
Portion backing third-party borrowings maturing 2017(3)	12			12	_	_	
Portion backing our interest maturing 2017(4)	300		10	300		17	
Total customized credit default swap index tranches related to securitization entities	312		10	312		17	
Total credit default swaps on index tranches	<u>\$ 662</u>	<u>\$2</u>	<u>\$ 10</u>	<u>\$ 662</u>	<u>\$ 3</u>	<u>\$ 17</u>	

(1) The current attachment/detachment as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was 7% - 15%.

(2) The current attachment/detachment as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was 9% – 12%.

(3) Original notional value was \$39 million.

(4) Original notional value was \$300 million.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(6) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Assets and liabilities that are reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements at fair value are not included in the following disclosure of fair value. Such items include cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, separate accounts, securities held as collateral and derivative instruments. Other financial assets and liabilities—those not carried at fair value—are discussed below. Apart from certain of our borrowings and certain marketable securities, few of the instruments discussed below are actively traded and their fair values must often be determined using models. The fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based upon available market information and judgments about the financial instruments, including estimates of the timing and amount of expected future cash flows and the credit standing of counterparties. Such estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time our entire holdings of a particular financial instrument, nor do they consider the tax impact of the realization of unrealized gains or losses. In many cases, the fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets.

The basis on which we estimate fair value is as follows:

Commercial mortgage loans. Based on recent transactions and/or discounted future cash flows, using current market rates. Given the limited availability of data related to transactions for similar instruments, we typically classify these loans as Level 3.

Restricted commercial mortgage loans. Based on recent transactions and/or discounted future cash flows, using current market rates. Given the limited availability of data related to transactions for similar instruments, we typically classify these loans as Level 3.

Other invested assets. Primarily represents short-term investments and limited partnerships accounted for under the cost method. The fair value of short-term investments typically does not include significant unobservable inputs and approximate our amortized cost basis. As a result, short-term investments are classified as Level 2. Limited partnerships are valued based on comparable market transactions, discounted future cash flows, quoted market prices and/or estimates using the most recent data available for the underlying instrument. Cost method limited partnerships typically include significant unobservable inputs as a result of being relatively illiquid with limited market activity for similar instruments and are classified as Level 3.

Long-term borrowings. We utilize available market data when determining fair value of long-term borrowings issued in the United States and Canada, which includes data on recent trades for the same or similar financial instruments. Accordingly, these instruments are classified as Level 2 measurements. In cases where market data is not available such as our long-term borrowings in Australia, we use broker quotes for which we consider the valuation methodology utilized by the third party, but the valuation typically includes significant unobservable inputs. Accordingly, we classify these borrowings where fair value is based on our consideration of broker quotes as Level 3 measurements.

Non-recourse funding obligations. We use an internal model to determine fair value using the current floating rate coupon and expected life/final maturity of the instrument discounted using the floating rate index and current market spread assumption, which is estimated based on recent transactions for these instruments or similar instruments as well as other market information or broker provided data. Given these instruments are private and very little market activity exists, our current market spread assumption is considered to have significant unobservable inputs in calculating fair value and, therefore, results in the fair value of these instruments being classified as Level 3.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Borrowings related to securitization entities. Based on market quotes or comparable market transactions. Some of these borrowings are publicly traded debt securities and are classified as Level 2. Certain borrowings are not publicly traded and are classified as Level 3.

Investment contracts. Based on expected future cash flows, discounted at current market rates for annuity contracts or institutional products. Given the significant unobservable inputs associated with policyholder behavior and current market rate assumptions used to discount the expected future cash flows, we classify these instruments as Level 3 except for certain funding agreement-backed notes that are traded in the marketplace as a security and are classified as Level 2.

The following represents our estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not required to be carried at fair value as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015						
		Notional		Fair value			
(Amounts in millions)	amo	unt	amount	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Assets:							
Commercial mortgage loans	\$	(1)	\$ 6,149	\$ 6,588	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 6,588
Restricted commercial mortgage loans		(1)	188	213	—	—	213
Other invested assets		(1)	484	487		412	75
Liabilities:							
Long-term borrowings		(1)	4,601	4,422		4,312	110
Non-recourse funding obligations		(1)	1,983	1,435		_	1,435
Borrowings related to securitization entities		(1)	124	133		133	
Investment contracts		(1)	17,514	18,597		7	18,590
Other firm commitments:							
Commitments to fund limited partnerships		71	_			_	_
Ordinary course of business lending commitments		49		_			_

	December 31, 2014						
	Notional	Carrying	Fair value				
(Amounts in millions)	amount	amount	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
Assets:							
Commercial mortgage loans	\$ (1)	\$ 6,100	\$ 6,573	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 6,573	
Restricted commercial mortgage loans	(1)	201	228			228	
Other invested assets	(1)	374	385		300	85	
Liabilities:							
Long-term borrowings	(1)	4,639	4,300		4,181	119	
Non-recourse funding obligations	(1)	1,996	1,438	_	_	1,438	
Borrowings related to securitization entities	(1)	134	146		146	_	
Investment contracts	(1)	17,497	18,023	_	7	18,016	
Other firm commitments:							
Commitments to fund limited partnerships	53	_		_	_	_	
Ordinary course of business lending commitments	155	—	—	—	—	—	

(1) These financial instruments do not have notional amounts.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

We have fixed maturity, equity and trading securities, derivatives, embedded derivatives, securities held as collateral, separate account assets and certain other financial instruments, which are carried at fair value. Below is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used to determine fair value by class of instrument.

Fixed maturity, equity and trading securities

The valuations of fixed maturity, equity and trading securities are determined using a market approach, income approach or a combination of the market and income approach depending on the type of instrument and availability of information. For all exchange-traded equity securities, the valuations are classified as Level 1.

We utilize certain third-party data providers when determining fair value. We consider information obtained from third-party pricing services ("pricing services") as well as third-party broker provided prices, or broker quotes, in our determination of fair value. Additionally, we utilize internal models to determine the valuation of securities using an income approach where the inputs are based on third-party provided market inputs. While we consider the valuations provided by pricing services and broker quotes to be of high quality, management determines the fair value of our investment securities after considering all relevant and available information. We also use various methods to obtain an understanding of the valuation methodologies and procedures used by third-party data providers to ensure sufficient understanding to evaluate the valuation data received, including an understanding of the assumptions and inputs utilized to determine the appropriate fair value. For pricing services, we analyze the prices provided by our primary pricing services to other readily available pricing services and perform a detailed review of the assumptions and inputs from each pricing service to determine the appropriate fair value that are greater than 10% each month to further aid in our review of the accuracy of fair value measurements and our understanding of changes in fair value, with more detailed reviews performed by the asset managers responsible for the related asset class associated with the security being reviewed. A pricing committee provides additional oversight and guidance in the evaluation and review of the pricing methodologies used to value our investment portfolio.

In general, we first obtain valuations from pricing services. If a price is not supplied by a pricing service, we will typically seek a broker quote for public or private fixed maturity securities. In certain instances, we utilize price caps for broker quoted securities where the estimated market yield results in a valuation that may exceed the amount that we believe would be received in a market transaction. For certain private fixed maturity securities where we do not obtain valuations from pricing services, we utilize an internal model to determine fair value since transactions for identical securities are not readily observable and these securities are not typically valued by pricing services. For all securities, excluding certain private fixed maturity securities, if neither a pricing service nor broker quotes valuation is available, we determine fair value using internal models.

For pricing services, we obtain an understanding of the pricing methodologies and procedures for each type of instrument. Additionally, on a monthly basis we review a sample of securities, examining the pricing service's assumptions to determine if we agree with the service's derived price. In general, a pricing service does not provide a price for a security if sufficient information is not readily available to determine fair value or if such security is not in the specific sector or class covered by a particular pricing service. Given our understanding of the pricing methodologies and procedures of pricing services, the securities valued by pricing services are typically classified as Level 2 unless we determine the valuation process for a security or group of securities utilizes significant unobservable inputs, which would result in the valuation being classified as Level 3.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

For private fixed maturity securities, we obtain public bond spreads and utilize those in an internal model to determine fair value. Other inputs to the model include rating and weighted-average life, as well as sector which is used to assign the spread. We then add an additional premium, which represents an unobservable input, to the public bond spread to adjust for the liquidity and other features of our private placements. We utilize the estimated market yield to discount the expected cash flows of the security to determine fair value. We utilize price caps for securities where the estimated market yield results in a valuation that may exceed the amount that would be received in a market transaction and value all private fixed maturity securities at par that have less than 12 months to maturity. When a security does not have an external rating, we assign the security an internal rating to determine the appropriate public bond spread that should be utilized in the valuation. To evaluate the reasonableness of the internal model, we review a sample of private fixed maturity securities each month. In that review we compare the modeled prices to the prices of similar public securities in conjunction with analysis on current market indicators. While we generally consider the public bond spreads by sector and maturity to be observable inputs, we evaluate the similarities of our private placement with the public bonds, any price caps utilized, liquidity premiums applied, and whether external rating are available for our private placements to determine whether the spreads utilized would be considered observable inputs. We classify private securities without an external rating and public bond spread as Level 3. In general, increases (decreases) in credit spreads will decrease (increase) the fair value for our fixed maturity securities.

For broker quotes, we consider the valuation methodology utilized by the third party and analyze a sample each month to assess reasonableness given then current market conditions. Additionally, for broker quotes on certain structured securities, we validate prices received against other publicly available pricing sources. As the valuation typically includes significant unobservable inputs, we classify the securities where fair value is based on our consideration of broker quotes as Level 3 measurements.

For remaining securities priced using internal models, we maximize the use of observable inputs but typically utilize significant unobservable inputs to determine fair value. Accordingly, the valuations are typically classified as Level 3.

Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities

We have trading securities related to securitization entities that are classified as restricted other invested assets and are carried at fair value. The trading securities represent asset-backed securities. The valuation for trading securities is determined using a market approach and/or an income approach depending on the availability of information. For certain highly rated asset-backed securities, there is observable market information for transactions of the same or similar instruments, which is provided to us by a third-party pricing service and is classified as Level 2. For certain securities that are not actively traded, we determine fair value after considering third-party broker provided prices or discounted expected cash flows using current yields for similar securities and classify these valuations as Level 3.

Securities lending collateral

The fair value of securities held as collateral is primarily based on Level 2 inputs from market information for the collateral that is held on our behalf by the custodian. We determine fair value after considering prices obtained by third-party pricing services.

Separate account assets

The fair value of separate account assets is based on the quoted prices of the underlying fund investments and, therefore, represents Level 1 pricing.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Derivatives

We consider counterparty collateral arrangements and rights of set-off when evaluating our net credit risk exposure to our derivative counterparties. Accordingly, we are permitted to include consideration of these arrangements when determining whether any incremental adjustment should be made for both the counterparty's and our non-performance risk in measuring fair value for our derivative instruments. As a result of these counterparty arrangements, we determined that any adjustment for credit risk would not be material and we do not record any incremental adjustment for our non-performance risk or the non-performance risk of the derivative counterparty for our derivative assets or liabilities. We determine fair value for our derivatives using an income approach with internal models based on relevant market inputs for each derivative instrument. We also compare the fair value determined using our internal model to the valuations provided by our derivative counterparties with any significant differences or changes in valuation being evaluated further by our derivatives professionals that are familiar with the instrument and market inputs used in the valuation.

Interest rate swaps. The valuation of interest rate swaps is determined using an income approach. The primary input into the valuation represents the forward interest rate swap curve, which is generally considered an observable input, and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2. For certain interest rate swaps, the inputs into the valuation also include the total returns of certain bonds that would primarily be considered an observable input and result in the derivative being classified as Level 2. For certain other swaps, there are features that provide an option to the counterparty to terminate the swap at specified dates. The interest rate volatility input used to value these options would be considered a significant unobservable input and results in the fair value measurement of the derivative being classified as Level 3. These options to terminate the swap by the counterparty are based on forward interest rate swap curves and volatility. As interest rate volatility increases, our valuation of the derivative changes unfavorably.

Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities. The valuation of interest rate swaps related to securitization entities is determined using an income approach. The primary input into the valuation represents the forward interest rate swap curve, which is generally considered an observable input, and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2.

Inflation indexed swaps. The valuation of inflation indexed swaps is determined using an income approach. The primary inputs into the valuation represent the forward interest rate swap curve, the current consumer price index and the forward consumer price index curve, which are generally considered observable inputs, and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2.

Foreign currency swaps. The valuation of foreign currency swaps is determined using an income approach. The primary inputs into the valuation represent the forward interest rate swap curve and foreign currency exchange rates, both of which are considered an observable input, and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2.

Credit default swaps. We have both single name credit default swaps and index tranche credit default swaps. For single name credit default swaps, we utilize an income approach to determine fair value based on using current market information for the credit spreads of the reference entity, which is considered observable inputs based on the reference entities of our derivatives and results in these derivatives being classified as Level 2. For index tranche credit default swaps, we utilize an income approach that utilizes current market information related to credit spreads and expected defaults and losses associated with the reference entities that comprise the respective index associated with each derivative. There are significant unobservable inputs associated with the timing and amount of losses from the reference entities as well as the timing or amount of losses, if any, that will

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

be absorbed by our tranche. Accordingly, the index tranche credit default swaps are classified as Level 3. As credit spreads widen for the underlying issuers comprising the index, the change in our valuation of these credit default swaps will be unfavorable.

Credit default swaps related to securitization entities. Credit default swaps related to securitization entities represent customized index tranche credit default swaps and are valued using a similar methodology as described above for index tranche credit default swaps. We determine fair value of these credit default swaps after considering both the valuation methodology described above as well as the valuation provided by the derivative counterparty. In addition to the valuation methodology and inputs described for index tranche credit default swaps, these customized credit default swaps contain a feature that permits the securitization entity to provide the par value of underlying assets in the securitization entity to settle any losses under the credit default swap. The valuation of this settlement feature is dependent upon the valuation of the underlying assets and the timing and amount of any expected loss on the credit default swap, which is considered a significant unobservable input. Accordingly, these customized index tranche credit default swaps related to securitization entities are classified as Level 3. As credit spreads widen for the underlying issuers comprising the customized index, the change in our valuation of these credit default swaps will be unfavorable.

Equity index options. We have equity index options associated with various equity indices. The valuation of equity index options is determined using an income approach. The primary inputs into the valuation represent forward interest rate volatility and time value component associated with the optionality in the derivative, which are considered significant unobservable inputs in most instances. The equity index volatility surface is determined based on market information that is not readily observable and is developed based upon inputs received from several third-party sources. Accordingly, these options are classified as Level 3. As equity index volatility increases, our valuation of these options changes favorably.

Financial futures. The fair value of financial futures is based on the closing exchange prices. Accordingly, these financial futures are classified as Level 1. The period end valuation is zero as a result of settling the margins on these contracts on a daily basis.

Equity return swaps. The valuation of equity return swaps is determined using an income approach. The primary inputs into the valuation represent the forward interest rate swap curve and underlying equity index values, which are generally considered observable inputs, and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2.

Forward bond purchase commitments. The valuation of forward bond purchase commitments is determined using an income approach. The primary input into the valuation represents the current bond prices and interest rates, which are generally considered an observable input, and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2.

Other foreign currency contracts. We have certain foreign currency options classified as other foreign currency contracts. The valuation of foreign currency options is determined using an income approach. The primary inputs into the valuation represent the forward interest rate swap curve, foreign currency exchange rates, forward interest rate, foreign currency exchange rate volatility, foreign equity index volatility and time value component associated with the optionality in the derivative. As a result of the significant unobservable inputs associated with the forward interest rate, foreign currency exchange rate volatility and foreign equity index volatility increases, the change in our valuation of these options will be favorable for purchase options and unfavorable for options sold. We also have foreign currency forward contracts where the valuation is

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

determined using an income approach. The primary inputs into the valuation represent the forward foreign currency exchange rates, which are generally considered observable inputs and results in the derivative being classified as Level 2.

GMWB embedded derivatives

We are required to bifurcate an embedded derivative for certain features associated with annuity products and related reinsurance agreements where we provide a GMWB to the policyholder and are required to record the GMWB embedded derivative at fair value. The valuation of our GMWB embedded derivative is based on an income approach that incorporates inputs such as forward interest rates, equity index volatility, equity index and fund correlation, and policyholder assumptions such as utilization, lapse and mortality. In addition to these inputs, we also consider risk and expense margins when determining the projected cash flows that would be determined by another market participant. While the risk and expense margins are considered in determining fair value, these inputs do not have a significant impact on the valuation. We determine fair value using an internal model based on the various inputs noted above. The resulting fair value measurement from the model is reviewed by the product actuarial, risk and finance professionals each reporting period with changes in fair value also being compared to changes in derivatives and other instruments used to mitigate changes in fair value from certain market risks, such as equity index volatility and interest rates.

For GMWB liabilities, non-performance risk is integrated into the discount rate. Our discount rate used to determine fair value of our GMWB liabilities includes market credit spreads above U.S. Treasury rates to reflect an adjustment for the non-performance risk of the GMWB liabilities. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the impact of non-performance risk resulted in a lower fair value of our GMWB liabilities of \$81 million and \$74 million, respectively.

To determine the appropriate discount rate to reflect the non-performance risk of the GMWB liabilities, we evaluate the non-performance risk in our liabilities based on a hypothetical exit market transaction as there is no exit market for these types of liabilities. A hypothetical exit market can be viewed as a hypothetical transfer of the liability to another similarly rated insurance company which would closely resemble a reinsurance transaction. Another hypothetical exit market transaction can be viewed as a hypothetical transaction from the perspective of the GMWB policyholder. In determining the appropriate discount rate to incorporate non-performance risk of the GMWB liabilities, we also considered the impacts of state guarantees embedded in the related insurance product as a form of inseparable third-party guarantee. We believe that a hypothetical exit market participant would use a similar discount rate as described above to value the liabilities.

For equity index volatility, we determine the projected equity market volatility using both historical volatility and projected equity market volatility with more significance being placed on projected near-term volatility and recent historical data. Given the different attributes and market characteristics of GMWB liabilities compared to equity index options in the derivative market, the equity index volatility assumption for GMWB liabilities may be different from the volatility assumption for equity index options, especially for the longer dated points on the curve.

Equity index and fund correlations are determined based on historical price observations for the fund and equity index.

For policyholder assumptions, we use our expected lapse, mortality and utilization assumptions and update these assumptions for our actual experience, as necessary. For our lapse assumption, we adjust our base lapse assumption by policy based on a combination of the policyholder's current account value and GMWB benefit.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We classify the GMWB valuation as Level 3 based on having significant unobservable inputs, with equity index volatility and non-performance risk being considered the more significant unobservable inputs. As equity index volatility increases, the fair value of the GMWB liabilities will increase. Any increase in non-performance risk would increase the discount rate and would decrease the fair value of the GMWB liability. Additionally, we consider lapse and utilization assumptions to be significant unobservable inputs. An increase in our lapse assumption would decrease the fair value of the GMWB liability, whereas an increase in our utilization rate would increase the fair value.

Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives

We offer fixed indexed annuity products where interest is credited to the policyholder's account balance based on equity index changes. This feature is required to be bifurcated as an embedded derivative and recorded at fair value. Fair value is determined using an income approach where the present value of the excess cash flows above the guaranteed cash flows is used to determine the value attributed to the equity index feature. The inputs used in determining the fair value include policyholder behavior (lapses and withdrawals), near-term equity index volatility, expected future interest credited, forward interest rates and an adjustment to the discount rate to incorporate non-performance risk and risk margins. As a result of our assumptions for policyholder behavior and expected future interest credited being considered significant unobservable inputs, we classify these instruments as Level 3. As lapses and withdrawals increase, the value of our embedded derivative liability will decrease.

Indexed universal life embedded derivatives

We offer indexed universal life products where interest is credited to the policyholder's account balance based on equity index changes. This feature is required to be bifurcated as an embedded derivative and recorded at fair value. Fair value is determined using an income approach where the present value of the excess cash flows above the guaranteed cash flows is used to determine the value attributed to the equity index feature. The inputs used in determining the fair value include policyholder behavior (lapses and withdrawals), near-term equity index volatility, expected future interest credited, forward interest rates and an adjustment to the discount rate to incorporate non-performance risk and risk margins. As a result of our assumptions for policyholder behavior and expected future interest credited being considered significant unobservable inputs, we classify these instruments as Level 3. As lapses and withdrawals increase, the value of our embedded derivative liability will decrease.

Borrowings related to securitization entities

We record certain borrowings related to securitization entities at fair value. The fair value of these borrowings is determined using either a market approach or income approach, depending on the instrument and availability of market information. Given the unique characteristics of the securitization entities that issued these borrowings as well as the lack of comparable instruments, we determine fair value considering the valuation of the underlying assets held by the securitization entities and any derivatives, as well as any unique characteristics of the borrowings that may impact the valuation. After considering all relevant inputs, we determine fair value of the borrowings using the net valuation of the underlying assets and derivatives that are backing the borrowings. Accordingly, these instruments are classified as Level 3. Increases in the valuation of the underlying assets or decreases in the derivative liabilities will result in an increase in the fair value of these borrowings.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following tables set forth our assets and liabilities by class of instrument that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of the dates indicated:

		March 31		
Amounts in millions)	Total L	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Assets				
Investments:				
Fixed maturity securities:				
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored enterprises	\$ 6,132 \$	- \$	\$ 6,129	\$ 3
Tax-exempt	361	—	361	—
Government—non-U.S.	2,008	_	2,002	(
U.S. corporate	27,900	—	25,422	2,47
Corporate—non-U.S. Residential mortgage-backed	14,886	_	13,109	1,77
Commercial mortgage-backed	5,163 2,690	_	5,094 2,686	0
Other asset-backed	3,802	_	2,080	1,45
Total fixed maturity securities	62,942		57,149	5,793
Equity securities	306	269	3	34
Other invested assets:				
Trading securities	218	_	218	_
Derivative assets:				
Interest rate swaps	1,440	_	1,440	_
Foreign currency swaps	9	_	9	_
Credit default swaps	3	—	1	2
Equity index options	15	—	-	1:
Other foreign currency contracts	17		17	
Total derivative assets	1,484	_	1,467	1'
Securities lending collateral	323	_	323	
Total other invested assets	2,025		2,008	1
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	411	_	181	230
Reinsurance recoverable (1)	14	_	_	14
Separate account assets	9,064	9,064	_	_
Total assets	\$ 74,762 \$	9,333 \$	\$ 59,341	\$ 6,08
iabilities	·····			
Policyholder account balances:				
GMWB embedded derivatives (2)	\$ 316 \$	— \$	\$ —	\$ 31
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives	300	_		30
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives	7	—	_	
Total policyholder account balances	623			62
Derivative liabilities:				
Interest rate swaps	269	_	269	
Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities	29	—	29	—
Inflation indexed swaps	31	_	31	_
Foreign currency swaps	15	_	15	_
Credit default swaps related to securitization entities	10	_	_	1
Equity return swaps	6	_	6	_
Other foreign currency contracts	24	_	24	_
Total derivative liabilities	384	_	374	1
Borrowings related to securitization entities	81	_	_	8
Total liabilities	\$ 1,088 \$	9	\$ 374	\$ 714
	¢ 1,000 \$		- 571	<i>*</i> /1

(1)

Represents embedded derivatives associated with the reinsured portion of our GMWB liabilities. Represents embedded derivatives associated with our GMWB liabilities, excluding the impact of reinsurance. (2)

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

		December 31,	2014	
(Amounts in millions)	Total	Level 1 Le	evel 2 Lev	rel 3
Assets				
Investments:				
Fixed maturity securities:	.	^		
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored enterprises			5,996 \$	4
Tax-exempt	362	—	362	—
Government—non-U.S.	2,106		2,099	
U.S. corporate	27,200			,44
Corporate—non-U.S.	15,132			,80
Residential mortgage-backed	5,240		5,165	7
Commercial mortgage-backed	2,702		2,697	40
Other asset-backed	3,705			,42
Total fixed maturity securities	62,447		6,683 5,	,76
Equity securities	282	244	4	3
Other invested assets:				
Trading securities	241	—	241	_
Derivative assets:				
Interest rate swaps	1,091	_	1,091	_
Foreign currency swaps	6	_		_
Credit default swaps	4	—	1	
Equity index options	17	_	_	1
Other foreign currency contracts	14		14	
Total derivative assets	1,132		1,112	2
Securities lending collateral	289	_	289	
Total other invested assets	1,662		1,642	2
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	411	_	181	23
Reinsurance recoverable (1)	13	_	_	1
Separate account assets	9,208	9,208	_	_
Total assets			8,510 \$ 6,	,06
iabilities		<u>i — i — i — </u>	<u></u>	
Policyholder account balances:				
GMWB embedded derivatives ⁽²⁾	\$ 291	s — s	— \$	29
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives	276	φ ψ	+	27
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives	7	_	_	
Total policyholder account balances	574			57
Total policyholder account balances	574	_	_	57
Derivative liabilities:				
Interest rate swaps	204		204	_
Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities	26	_	26	_
Inflation indexed swaps	42		42	_
Foreign currency swaps	7	_	7	
Credit default swaps related to securitization entities	17	_	_	1
Equity return swaps	1		1	_
Other foreign currency contracts	13	_	13	_
Total derivative liabilities	310	_	293	1
Borrowings related to securitization entities	85			8
-		¢ ¢		
Total liabilities	<u>\$ 969</u>	<u>\$ </u>	293 \$	670

(1)

Represents embedded derivatives associated with the reinsured portion of our GMWB liabilities. Represents embedded derivatives associated with our GMWB liabilities, excluding the impact of reinsurance. (2)

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We review the fair value hierarchy classifications each reporting period. Changes in the observability of the valuation attributes may result in a reclassification of certain financial assets or liabilities. Such reclassifications are reported as transfers between levels at the beginning fair value for the reporting period in which the changes occur. Given the types of assets classified as Level 1, which primarily represents mutual fund investments, we typically do not have any transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurement categories and did not have any such transfers during any period presented.

Our assessment of whether or not there were significant unobservable inputs related to fixed maturity securities was based on our observations obtained through the course of managing our investment portfolio, including interaction with other market participants, observations related to the availability and consistency of pricing and/or rating, and understanding of general market activity such as new issuance and the level of secondary market trading for a class of securities. Additionally, we considered data obtained from third-party pricing sources to determine whether our estimated values incorporate significant unobservable inputs that would result in the valuation being classified as Level 3.

- 1	1
4	. 1

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following tables present additional information about assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to determine fair value as of or for the dates indicated:

	Beginning	Total real unrealize (loss	d gains							Ending	Total gains (losses) included in
	balance as of January 1,	Included in net	Included					Transfer into	Transfer out of	balance as of March 31.	net income attributable to assets
(Amounts in millions)	2015	income	in OCI	Purchases	Sales	Issuances	Settlements	Level 3	Level 3	2015	still held
Fixed maturity securities:											
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored											
enterprises	\$ 4	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$—	\$ —	\$ (1)	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 3	\$ —
Government—non-U.S.	7	—	—	—	—	—	(1)	—	—	6	—
U.S. corporate	2,448	8	41	47	—	—	(52)	—	(14)	2,478	_
Corporate—non-U.S.	1,805	—	21	7	(9)	—	(46)	—	(1)	1,777	—
Residential mortgage-backed	75	_	(2)		—	—	(3)	—	(1)	69	_
Commercial mortgage- backed	5		—	—	—	—		—	(1)	4	—
Other asset-backed (1)	1,420	1	13	38			(11)	33	(38)	1,456	(1)
Total fixed maturity securities	5,764	9	73	92	(9)	—	(114)	33	(55)	5,793	(1)
Equity securities	34			1	(1)					34	
Other invested assets:											
Derivative assets:											
Credit default swaps	3	—		—	—		(1)		—	2	—
Equity index options	17	(10)		8						15	(8)
Total derivative assets	20	(10)		8			(1)			17	(8)
Total other invested assets	20	(10)		8			(1)			17	(8)
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	230	_	_	_	_	_	—	—	_	230	_
Reinsurance recoverable ⁽²⁾	13	1								14	1
Total Level 3 assets	\$ 6,061	<u>\$ </u>	\$ 73	<u>\$ 101</u>	<u>\$(10)</u>	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$ (115)</u>	\$ 33	<u>\$ (55</u>)	\$ 6,088	<u>\$ (8)</u>

(1) The transfers into and out of Level 3 for fixed maturity securities were related to changes in the primary pricing source and changes in the observability of external information used in determining the fair value, such as external ratings or credit spreads.

(2) Represents embedded derivatives associated with the reinsured portion of our GMWB liabilities.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(Amounts in millions) Fixed maturity securities:	Beginning balance as of January 1, 2014	Total rea unrealiz (los Included in net income	ed gains	Purchases	Sales	Issuances	Settlements	Transfer into Level 3	Transfer out of Level 3	Ending balance as of March 31, 2014	Total gains (losses) included in net income attributable to assets still held
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored											
enterprises	\$5	\$	\$ —	\$ —	\$—	\$ —	\$ (1)	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 4	\$ —
Government—non-U.S.	23		_	2			(1)			24	
U.S. corporate (1)	2,400	5	29	90	_	_	(42)	14	(128)	2,368	5
Corporate—non-U.S. (1)	1,819	1	9	36			(35)		(32)	1,798	1
Residential mortgage-backed	105	—	1	—	(23)	—	(3)	13	—	93	_
Commercial mortgage-backed	6		2	_	—	—	(1)	6	—	13	—
Other asset-backed (1)	1,166	1	(4)	16	(5)		(37)	36	(20)	1,153	1
Total fixed maturity securities	5,524	7	37	144	(28)		(120)	69	(180)	5,453	7
Equity securities	78									78	
Other invested assets:											
Trading securities	34		_	_	_	_	(3)	_	_	31	_
Derivative assets:											
Credit default swaps	10		—	—	—	—	(2)	—	—	8	—
Equity index options	12	(7)	—	6	—	—	—	—	—	11	(7)
Other foreign currency contracts	3	(2)								1	(2)
Total derivative assets	25	(9)		6			(2)			20	(9)
Total other invested assets	59	(9)		6			(5)			51	(9)
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	211	7	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	218	7
Reinsurance recoverable (2)	(1)	2	_	_	_	1	_	—	_	2	2
Total Level 3 assets	\$ 5,871	\$ 7	\$ 37	\$ 150	\$(28)	\$ 1	\$ (125)	\$ 69	\$ (180)	\$ 5,802	\$ 7

The transfers into and out of Level 3 for fixed maturity securities were related to changes in the primary pricing source and changes in the observability of external information used in determining the fair value, such as external ratings or credit spreads. Represents embedded derivatives associated with the reinsured portion of our GMWB liabilities. (1)

(2)

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the gains and losses included in net income from assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to determine fair value and the related income statement line item in which these gains and losses were presented for the three months ended March 31:

(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Total realized and unrealized gains (losses) included in net income:		
Net investment income	\$ 11	\$ 8
Net investment gains (losses)	(11)	(1)
Total	<u>\$</u>	\$ 7
Net gains (losses) included in net income attributable to assets still held:		
Net investment income	\$—	\$ 8
Net investment gains (losses)	(8)	(1)
Total	<u>\$ (8</u>)	\$ 7

The amount presented for unrealized gains (losses) included in net income for available-for-sale securities represents impairments and accretion on certain fixed maturity securities.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following tables present additional information about liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to determine fair value as of or for the dates indicated:

(Amounts in millions) Policyholder account balances:	ba a Jan	cinning lance is of uary 1, 2015	u Inci in	Fotal rea inrealize los luded net come)	ed (gain sses Incl		Pur	chases	Sales	Issu	ances	Settle	ements	Transi into Level		Transf out o Level	f	bal as Mar	ding ance s of ch 31, 015	(ga los inclue net (ir attrib to lial	otal iins) sses ded in ncome) outable bilities held
GMWB embedded derivatives (1)	\$	291	\$	17	\$	_	\$	_	\$—	\$	8	\$	_	\$ -	_	\$ -	_	\$	316	\$	20
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives		276		7		—		—	—		19		(2)	_	_	_	_		300		7
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives		7		(1)		_		_			1		—		_				7		
Total policyholder account balances		574		23		—		—			28		(2)	_	_		_		623		27
Derivative liabilities:																					
Credit default swaps related to securitization																					
entities		17		(8)		—		1			—		—	_	_		_		10		(8)
Total derivative liabilities		17		(8)		_		1	_		_		_		_		_		10		(8)
Borrowings related to securitization entities		85		(4)		_					_		_		_		_		81		(4)
Total Level 3 liabilities	\$	676	\$	11	\$	_	\$	1	\$—	\$	28	\$	(2)	\$ -	_	\$	_	\$	714	\$	15

(1) Represents embedded derivatives associated with our GMWB liabilities, excluding the impact of reinsurance.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(Amounts in millions)	ba a Jan	ginning Ilance is of uary 1, 2014	Inc	unrealiz	ilized and ed (gains) sses Include in OCI		Purchases	Sales	Issua	ances	Settl	ements	Transfer into Level 3	Transfer out of Level 3	ba : Ma	nding alance as of urch 31, 2014	(§ li incl net (attri to li	Fotal gains) osses uded in income) ibutable abilities II held
Policyholder account balances:																		
GMWB embedded derivatives (1)	\$	96	\$	33	\$ —		\$ —	\$—	\$	9	\$	—	\$ —	\$ —	\$	138	\$	34
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives		143		2						36		(1)				180		2
Total policyholder account balances		239	_	35						45		(1)				318		36
Derivative liabilities:																		
Credit default swaps related to securitization																		
entities		32		(7)	_		_	—				—	_	_		25		(7)
Other foreign currency contracts		1		1						_		_				2		1
Total derivative liabilities		33		(6)		_				_						27		(6)
Borrowings related to securitization entities		75		4						—		_				79		4
Total Level 3 liabilities	\$	347	\$	33	\$		<u>\$ </u>	\$—	\$	45	\$	(1)	<u>\$ </u>	\$ _	\$	424	\$	34

(1) Represents embedded derivatives associated with our GMWB liabilities, excluding the impact of reinsurance.

The following table presents the gains and losses included in net (income) from liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to determine fair value and the related income statement line item in which these gains and losses were presented for the three months ended March 31:

(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Total realized and unrealized (gains) losses included in net (income):		
Net investment income	\$—	\$—
Net investment (gains) losses	11	33
Total	\$ 11	\$ 33
Total (gains) losses included in net (income) attributable to liabilities still held:		
Net investment income	\$—	\$—
Net investment (gains) losses	15	34
Total	\$ 15	\$ 34

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements represent the activity that occurred during the period that results in a change of the asset or liability but does not represent changes in fair value for the instruments held at the beginning of the period. Such activity primarily consists of purchases, sales and settlements of fixed maturity, equity and trading securities and purchases, issuances and settlements of derivative instruments.

Issuances presented for GMWB embedded derivative liabilities are characterized as the change in fair value associated with the product fees recognized that are attributed to the embedded derivative to equal the expected future benefit costs upon issuance. Issuances for fixed index annuity and indexed universal life embedded derivative liabilities represent the amount of the premium received that is attributed to the value of the embedded derivative. Settlements of embedded derivatives are characterized as the change in fair value upon exercising the embedded derivative instrument, effectively representing a settlement of the embedded derivative instrument. We have shown these changes in fair value separately based on the classification of this activity as effectively issuing and settling the embedded derivative instrument with all remaining changes in the fair value of these embedded derivative instruments being shown separately in the category labeled "included in net (income)" in the tables presented above.

Certain classes of instruments classified as Level 3 are excluded below as a result of not being material or due to limitations in being able to obtain the underlying inputs used by certain third-party sources, such as broker quotes, used as an input in determining fair value. The following table presents a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used for certain fair value measurements that are based on internal models and classified as Level 3 as of March 31, 2015:

				Range
(Amounts in millions)	Valuation technique	Fair value	Unobservable input	(weighted-average)
Assets				
Fixed maturity securities:				
U.S. corporate	Internal models	\$ 2,264	Credit spreads	60bps - 368bps (155bps)
Corporate-non-U.S.	Internal models	1,589	Credit spreads	67bps - 808bps (170bps)
Derivative assets:				
Credit default swaps	Discounted cash flows	2	Credit spreads	8bps - 10bps (9bps)
Equity index options	Discounted cash flows	15	Equity index volatility	13% - 24% (21%)
Liabilities				
Policyholder account balances:				
			Withdrawal utilization rate	% - 98%
			Lapse rate	— % - 15%
			Non-performance risk	
			(credit spreads)	50bps - 85bps (79bps)
GMWB embedded derivatives (1)	Stochastic cash flow model	316	Equity index volatility	15% - 24% (21%)
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives	Option budget method	300	Expected future interest credited	— % - 2% (2%)
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives	Option budget method	7	Expected future interest credited	3% - 8% (5%)

(1) Represents embedded derivatives associated with our GMWB liabilities, excluding the impact of reinsurance.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(7) Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Litigation and Regulatory Matters

We face the risk of litigation and regulatory investigations and actions in the ordinary course of operating our businesses, including the risk of class action lawsuits. Our pending legal and regulatory actions include proceedings specific to us and others generally applicable to business practices in the industries in which we operate. In our insurance operations, we are, have been, or may become subject to class actions and individual suits alleging, among other things, issues relating to sales or underwriting practices, increases to in-force long-term care insurance premiums, payment of contingent or other sales commissions, claims payments and procedures, product disclosure, administration, additional premium charges for premiums paid on a periodic basis, denial or delay of benefits, charging excessive or impermissible fees on products, we contract underwriting services, violations of the Real Estate Settlement and Procedures Act of 1974 ("RESPA") or related state anti-inducement laws, and mortgage insurance policy rescissions and curtailments, and breaching fiduciary or other duties to customers, including but not limited to breach of customer information. Plaintiffs in class action and other lawsuits against us may seek very large or indeterminate amounts which may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. In our investment-related operations, we are subject to litigation involving commercial disputes with counterparties. We are also subject to litigation arising out of our general business activities such as our contractual and employment relationships. In addition, we are also subject to various regulatory inquiries, such as information requests, subpoenas, books and record examinations and market conduct and financial examinations from state, federal and international regulators. Moreover, even if we ultimately prevail in the litigation, regulatory action or investigation, we could suffer significant reputational harm, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and re

In August 2014, Genworth Financial, Inc., its current chief executive officer and its current chief financial officer were named in a putative class action lawsuit captioned *Manuel Esguerra v. Genworth Financial, Inc., et al,* in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. Plaintiff alleged securities law violations involving certain disclosures in 2013 and 2014 concerning Genworth's long-term care insurance reserves. The lawsuit sought unspecified compensatory damages, costs and expenses, including counsel fees and expert fees. In October 2014, a putative class action lawsuit captioned *City of Pontiac General Employees' Retirement System v. Genworth Financial, Inc., et al,* was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia. This lawsuit names the same defendants, alleges the same securities law violations, seeks the same damages and covers the same class as the *Esguerra* lawsuit. Following the filing of the *City of Pontiac* lawsuit, the *Esguerra* lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed without prejudice allowing the *City of Pontiac* lawsuit to proceed. In the *City of Pontiac* lawsuit, the United States District of Virginia appointed Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Alberta and Fresno County Employees' Retirement Association as lead plaintiffs and designated the caption of the action as *In re Genworth Financial, Inc. Securities Litigation.* On December 22, 2014, the lead plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. On February 5, 2015, we filed a motion to dismiss plaintiffs' amended complaint. On March 9, 2015, plaintiffs filed a memorandum of law in opposition to our motion to dismiss. On March 24, 2015, we intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit.

In April 2014, Genworth Financial, Inc., its former chief executive officer and its current chief financial officer were named in a putative class action lawsuit captioned *City of Hialeah Employees' Retirement System v.*



NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Genworth Financial, Inc., et al, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. Plaintiff alleges securities law violations involving certain disclosures in 2012 concerning Genworth's Australian mortgage insurance business, including our plans for an initial public offering of the business. The lawsuit seeks unspecified damages, costs and attorneys' fees and such equitable/injunctive relief as the court may deem proper. The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York appointed City of Hialeah Employees' Retirement System and New Bedford Contributory Retirement System as lead plaintiffs and designated the caption of the action as *In re Genworth Financial, Inc. Securities Litigation.* On October 3, 2014, the lead plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. On December 2, 2014, we filed a motion to dismiss plaintiffs' amended complaint, which motion was fully briefed as of March 4, 2015. On March 25, 2015, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York denied the motion but entered an order dismissing the amended complaint with leave to replead. On April 17, 2015, plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint. We intend to vigorously defend this action.

Beginning in December 2011 and continuing through January 2013, one of our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries was named along with several other mortgage insurance participants and mortgage lenders as a defendant in twelve putative class action lawsuits alleging that certain "captive reinsurance arrangements" were in violation of RESPA. Those cases are captioned as follows: Samp, et al. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., et al., United States District Court for the Central District of California; White, et al., v. The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc., et al., United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania; Menichino, et al. v. Citibank NA, et al., United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania; McCarn, et al. v. HSBC USA, Inc., et al, United States District Court for the Eastern District of California; Manners, et al., v. Fifth Third Bank, et al., United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania; Riddle, et al. v. Bank of America Corporation, et al, United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania; Rulison et al. v. ABN AMRO Mortgage Group, Inc. et al, United States District Court for the Southern District of New York; Barlee, et al. v. First Horizon National Corporation, et al, United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania; Cunningham, et al. v. M&T Bank Corp., et al, United States District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania; Orange, et al. v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., et al, United States District Court for the Central District of California; Hill et al. v. Flagstar Bank, FSB, et al., United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania; and Moriba Ba, et al. v. HSBC USA, Inc., et al., United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. Plaintiffs allege that "captive reinsurance arrangements" with providers of private mortgage insurance whereby a mortgage lender through captive reinsurance arrangements received a portion of the borrowers' private mortgage insurance premiums were in violation of RESPA and unjustly enriched the defendants for which plaintiffs seek declaratory relief and unspecified monetary damages, including restitution. The McCarn case was dismissed by the court with prejudice as to our subsidiary and certain other defendants on November 9, 2012. On July 3, 2012, the Rulison case was voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiffs. The Barlee case was dismissed by the court with prejudice as to our subsidiary and certain other defendants on February 27, 2013. The Manners case was dismissed by voluntary stipulation in March 2013. In early May 2013, the Samp and Orange cases were dismissed with prejudice as to our subsidiary. Plaintiffs appealed both of those dismissals, but have since withdrawn those appeals. The White case was dismissed by the court without prejudice on June 20, 2013, and on July 5, 2013 plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint again naming our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiary as a defendant. The Menichino case was dismissed by the court without prejudice as to our subsidiary and certain other defendants on July 19, 2013. Plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint again naming our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiary as a defendant and we moved to dismiss the second amended complaint. In the Riddle, Hill, Ba and Cunningham cases, the defendants' motions to dismiss were denied, but the court in the Riddle, Hill and Cunningham cases limited discovery to issues surrounding whether the case should be dismissed on statute of limitations grounds. In the Hill case, on December 17, 2013, we moved for summary judgment dismissing the complaint. The court granted our motion, and in July 2014, the Hill plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal with the Third Circuit Court of Appeals. In the Riddle case, in late November 2013, the United States

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania granted our motion for summary judgment dismissing the case. Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal. In October 2014, the Third Circuit Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal of the *Riddle* action. On January 30, 2015, our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiary and all named plantiffs in the cases still pending as of such date entered into a settlement agreement that has resulted in the dismissal of all actions as to our subsidiary. This settlement had no impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 2009, one of our former non-insurance subsidiaries, one of the former subsidiary's officers and Genworth Financial, Inc. (now known as Genworth Holdings, Inc.) were named in a putative class action lawsuit captioned *Michael J. Goodman and Linda Brown v. Genworth Financial Wealth Management, Inc. et al.*, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. Plaintiffs allege securities law and other violations involving the selection of mutual funds by our former subsidiary on behalf of certain of its Private Client Group clients. The lawsuit seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief. In response to our motion to dismiss the complaint in its entirety, the court granted the motion to dismiss the state law fiduciary duty claim and denied the motion to dismiss the remaining federal claims. The District Court denied plaintiffs' motion to certify a class on April 15, 2014. On April 29, 2014, plaintiffs filed a motion with the Second Circuit Court of Appeals for permission to a pipeal the District Court of the parties, on March 20, 2015, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York entered a final order dismissing with prejudice all claims against the defendants.

In April 2012, two of our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries were named as respondents in two arbitrations, one brought by Bank of America, N.A. and one brought by Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. as claimants. Claimants alleged breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and sought a declaratory judgment relating to our denial, curtailment and rescission of mortgage insurance coverage. In June 2012, our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries responded to the arbitration demands and asserted numerous counterclaims against the claimants. On December 31, 2013, the parties reached an agreement to resolve that portion of both arbitrations involving rescission practices, which settlement took effect in the second quarter of 2014. As a result, the arbitration demands and counterclaims related to that portion of both arbitrations involving rescission practices were dismissed in the third quarter of 2014. In October 2014, the parties executed a definitive settlement agreement to resolve the remaining claims was subject to the consent of the government-sponsored enterprises (the "GSEs"). The settlement provides that our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries will remit a portion of the previously curtailed claim amounts to Bank of America, N.A. and will agree to certain limits on future curtailment activity for loans that are part of the settlement. The consents of the GSEs were obtained in January 2015, and therefore, the parties have moved to dismiss all remaining matters in the arbitration. We expect such dismissal actions to occur in the second half of 2015.

In addition to the negotiated settlement with Bank of America, N.A. discussed above, we have resolved a matter involving a second servicer's dispute with us on loss mitigation. This second dispute did not involve any formal legal proceeding, as is the case with other discussions we have had from time to time with other lenders and servicers over disputed loss mitigation activities. During the third quarter of 2014, we recorded an aggregate increase in our claim reserves for our U.S. mortgage insurance business of \$53 million principally to provide for the anticipated financial impact in connection with the settlement of the Bank of America, N.A. arbitration, as well as the second dispute, both of which were settled for amounts which in the aggregate were included within the claim reserve increase mentioned above.

At this time, we cannot determine or predict the ultimate outcome of any of the pending legal and regulatory matters specifically identified above or the likelihood of potential future legal and regulatory matters against

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

us. Except as disclosed above, we also are not able to provide an estimate or range of reasonably possible losses related to these matters. Therefore, we cannot ensure that the current investigations and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, it is possible that related investigations and proceedings may be commenced in the future, and we could become subject to additional unrelated investigations and lawsuits. Increased regulatory scrutiny and any resulting investigations or proceedings could result in new legal precedents and industry-wide regulations or practices that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

(b) Commitments

As of March 31, 2015, we were committed to fund \$71 million in limited partnership investments and \$49 million in U.S. commercial mortgage loan investments.

(8) Segment Information

We operate through three divisions: Global Mortgage Insurance, U.S. Life Insurance and Corporate and Other. Under these divisions, there are five operating business segments. The Global Mortgage Insurance Division includes the International Mortgage Insurance and U.S. Mortgage Insurance segments. The U.S. Life Insurance Division includes the International Protection and Runoff segments and Corporate and Other activities. Our operating business segments are as follows: (1) International Mortgage Insurance, which includes mortgage insurance-related products and services; (2) U.S. Mortgage Insurance, which includes mortgage insurance, life insurance and fixed annuities businesses; (4) International Protection, which includes our lifestyle protection insurance business; and (5) Runoff, which includes the results of non-strategic products primarily include our variable annuity, variable life insurance, institutional, corporate-owned life insurance and other accident and health insurance products. Institutional products consist of: funding agreements, FABNs and GICs.

We also have Corporate and Other activities which include debt financing expenses that are incurred at the Genworth Holdings level, unallocated corporate income and expenses, eliminations of inter-segment transactions and the results of other businesses that are managed outside of our operating segments, including discontinued operations.

In the first quarter of 2015, we revised how we allocate our consolidated provision for income taxes to our operating segments to simplify our process and reflect how our chief operating decision maker is evaluating segment performance. Our revised methodology applies a specific tax rate to the pre-tax income (loss) of each segment, which is then adjusted in each segment to reflect the tax attributes of items unique to that segment such as foreign income. The difference between the consolidated provision for income taxes and the sum of the provision for income taxes in each segment is reflected in Corporate and Other activities. Previously, we calculated a unique income tax provision for each segment based on quarterly changes to tax attributes and implications of transactions specific to each product within the segment.

The annually-determined tax rates and adjustments to each segment's provision for income taxes are estimates which are subject to review and could change from year to year. Prior year amounts have not been re-presented to reflect this revised presentation and are, therefore, not comparable to the current year provision for income taxes by segment. However, we do not believe that the previous methodology would have resulted in a materially different segment-level provision for income taxes.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

We use the same accounting policies and procedures to measure segment income (loss) and assets as our consolidated net income and assets. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates segment performance and allocates resources on the basis of "net operating income (loss)." We define net operating income (loss) as income (loss) from continuing operations excluding the after-tax effects of income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net investment gains (losses), goodwill impairments, gains (losses) on the sale of businesses, gains (losses) on the early extinguishment of debt, gains (losses) on insurance block transactions, restructuring costs and infrequent or unusual non-operating items. Gains (losses) on insurance block transactions are defined as gains (losses) on the early extinguishment of non-recourse funding obligations, early termination fees for other financing restructuring and/or resulting gains (losses) on reinsurance restructuring for certain blocks of business. We exclude net investment gains (losses) and infrequent or unusual non-operating items because we do not consider them to be related to the operating performance of our segments and Corporate and Other activities. A component of our net investment gains (losses) is the result of impairments, the size and timing of which can vary significantly depending on market credit cycles. In addition, the size and timing of other investment gains (losses) on the sale of businesses, gains (losses) on the early extinguishment of debt, gains (losses) on insurance block transactions are effected by market opportunities, as well as asset-liability matching and set excluded from net operating income (loss) because, in our opinion, they are not indicative of overall operating trends. Infrequent or unusual non-operating items are also excluded from net operating income (loss) because, in our opinion, they are not indicative of overall operating trends.

In the first quarter of 2015, we modified our definition to explicitly state that restructuring costs, which were previously included in the infrequent and unusual category, are excluded from net operating income (loss). There were no restructuring costs in the periods presented.

While some of these items may be significant components of net income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we believe that net operating income (loss), and measures that are derived from or incorporate net operating income (loss), are appropriate measures that are useful to investors because they identify the income (loss) attributable to the ongoing operations of the business. Management also uses net operating income (loss) as a basis for determining awards and compensation for senior management and to evaluate performance on a basis comparable to that used by analysts. However, the items excluded from net operating income (loss) have occurred in the past and could, and in some cases will, recur in the future. Net operating income (loss) is not a substitute for net income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In addition, our definition of net operating income (loss) may differ from the definitions used by other companies.

Adjustments to reconcile net income attributable to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders and net operating income assume a 35% tax rate and are net of the portion attributable to noncontrolling interests. Net investment gains (losses) are also adjusted for deferred acquisition costs and other intangible amortization and certain benefit reserves.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of revenues for our segments and Corporate and Other activities for the periods indicated:

		nths ended ch 31,
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Revenues:		
International Mortgage Insurance segment:		
Canada	\$ 136	\$ 168
Australia	118	131
Other Countries	7	9
International Mortgage Insurance segment's revenues	261	308
U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment's revenues	170	155
U.S. Life Insurance segment:		
Long-term care insurance	905	856
Life insurance	487	480
Fixed annuities	233	257
U.S. Life Insurance segment's revenues	1,625	1,593
International Protection segment's revenues	202	207
Runoff segment's revenues	74	73
Corporate and Other's revenues	3	(14)
Total revenues	\$ 2,335	\$ 2,322

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following is a summary of net operating income for our segments and Corporate and Other activities and a reconciliation of net operating income for our segments and Corporate and Other activities to net income for the periods indicated:

	Three mon Marc	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
International Mortgage Insurance segment:		
Canada	\$ 40	\$ 41
Australia	30	62
Other Countries	(6)	(4)
International Mortgage Insurance segment's net operating income	64	99
U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment's net operating income	52	33
U.S. Life Insurance segment:		
Long-term care insurance	10	46
Life insurance	40	21
Fixed annuities	31	27
U.S. Life Insurance segment's net operating income	81	94
International Protection segment's net operating income		7
Runoff segment's net operating income	11	12
Corporate and Other's net operating loss	(52)	(51)
Net operating income	156	194
Net investment gains (losses), net	(2)	(10)
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	154	184
Add: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35
Net income	\$ 204	\$ 219

The following is a summary of total assets for our segments and Corporate and Other activities as of the dates indicated:

(Amounts in millions)	March 31, 2015	ember 31, 2014
Assets:		
International Mortgage Insurance	\$ 8,198	\$ 8,815
U.S. Mortgage Insurance	2,367	2,324
U.S. Life Insurance	84,209	82,906
International Protection	1,657	1,833
Runoff	12,884	12,971
Corporate and Other	3,016	2,509
Total assets	\$ 112,331	\$ 111,358

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(9) Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following tables show the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, by component as of and for the periods indicated:

	Net unrealized investment gains	Derivatives qualifying as	Foreign currency translation and other	
(Amounts in millions)	(losses) (1)	hedges (2)	adjustments	Total
Balances as of January 1, 2015	\$ 2,453	\$ 2,070	\$ (77)	\$4,446
OCI before reclassifications	325	195	(370)	150
Amounts reclassified from (to) OCI		(18)		(18)
Current period OCI	325	177	(370)	132
Balances as of March 31, 2015 before noncontrolling interests	2,778	2,247	(447)	4,578
Less: change in OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests	30		(144)	(114)
Balances as of March 31, 2015	\$ 2,748	\$ 2,247	<u>\$ (303)</u>	\$4,692

(1) Net of adjustments to deferred acquisition costs, present value of future profits, sales inducements and benefit reserves. See note 4 for additional information.

(2) See note 5 for additional information.

(Amounts in millions)	Net unrealized investment gains (losses) ⁽¹⁾	Derivatives qualifying as hedges ⁽²⁾	Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	Total
Balances as of January 1, 2014	\$ 926	\$ 1,319	\$ 297	\$2,542
OCI before reclassifications	701	228	(21)	908
Amounts reclassified from (to) OCI	11	(9)		2
Current period OCI	712	219	(21)	910
Balances as of March 31, 2014 before noncontrolling interests	1,638	1,538	276	3,452
Less: change in OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests	14		(45)	(31)
Balances as of March 31, 2014	<u>\$ 1,624</u>	\$ 1,538	\$ 321	\$3,483

(1) Net of adjustments to deferred acquisition costs, present value of future profits, sales inducements and benefit reserves. See note 4 for additional information.

(2) See note 5 for additional information.

The foreign currency translation and other adjustments balance included \$32 million and \$6 million, respectively, net of taxes of \$14 million and \$1 million, respectively, related to a net unrecognized postretirement benefit obligation as of March 31, 2015 and 2014. Amount also included taxes of \$(91) million and \$33 million, respectively, related to foreign currency translation adjustments as of March 31, 2015 and 2014.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table shows reclassifications in (out) of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, for the periods presented:

		other comprehen	ed from accumulate nsive income (loss) ended March 31,	Affected line item in the consolidated statements	
(Amounts in millions)	20)15	20	14	of income
Net unrealized investment (gains) losses:					
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments ⁽¹⁾	\$		\$	17	Net investment (gains) losses
Provision for income taxes				(6)	Provision for income taxes
Total	\$		\$	11	
Derivatives qualifying as hedges:					
Interest rate swaps hedging assets	\$	(19)	\$	(15)	Net investment income
Inflation indexed swaps		(9)		1	Net investment income
Provision for income taxes		10		5	Provision for income taxes
Total	\$	(18)	\$	(9)	

(1) Amounts exclude adjustments to deferred acquisition costs, present value of future profits, sales inducements and benefit reserves.

(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Genworth Financial provides a full and unconditional guarantee to the trustee of Genworth Holdings' outstanding senior notes and the holders of the senior notes, on an unsecured unsubordinated basis, of the full and punctual payment of the principal of, premium, if any and interest on, and all other amounts payable under, each outstanding series of senior notes, and the full and punctual payment of all other amounts payable by Genworth Holdings' outstanding subordinated notes and the holders of the senior notes. Genworth Financial also provides a full and unconditional guarantee to the trustee of Genworth Holdings' outstanding subordinated notes and the holders of the subordinated notes, on an unsecured subordinated basis, of the full and punctual payment of the principal of, premium, if any and interest on, and all other amounts payable under, the outstanding subordinated notes, and the full and punctual payment of all other amounts payable by Genworth Holdings under the subordinated notes indenture in respect of the subordinated notes. Genworth Holdings is a direct, 100% owned subsidiary of Genworth Financial.

The following condensed consolidating financial information of Genworth Financial and its direct and indirect subsidiaries have been prepared pursuant to rules regarding the preparation of consolidating financial information of Regulation S-X. The condensed consolidating financial information has been prepared as if the guarantee had been in place during the periods presented herein.

The condensed consolidating financial information presents the condensed consolidating balance sheet information as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the condensed consolidating income statement



NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

information and the condensed consolidating comprehensive income statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 and the condensed consolidating cash flow statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014.

The condensed consolidating financial information reflects Genworth Financial ("Parent Guarantor"), Genworth Holdings ("Issuer") and each of Genworth Financial's other direct and indirect subsidiaries (the "All Other Subsidiaries") on a combined basis, none of which guarantee the senior notes or subordinated notes, as well as the eliminations necessary to present Genworth Financial's financial information on a consolidated basis and total consolidated amounts.

The accompanying condensed consolidating financial information is presented based on the equity method of accounting for all periods presented. Under this method, investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for the subsidiaries' cumulative results of operations, capital contributions, and other changes in equity. Elimination entries include consolidating and eliminating entries for investments in subsidiaries and intercompany activity.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating balance sheet information as of March 31, 2015:

nounts in millions)	Parent Guarantor	Issuer	All Other Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidate
ets					
Investments:					
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value	\$ —	\$ 151	\$ 62,991	\$ (200)	\$ 62,94
Equity securities available-for-sale, at fair value		_	306	_	30
Commercial mortgage loans	—	—	6,149	—	6,14
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	—	_	188	—	18
Policy loans	—	—	1,506	—	1,50
Other invested assets	_	118	2,620	(15)	2,72
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities, at fair value	—	—	411	—	4
Investments in subsidiaries	15,291	15,334		(30,625)	
Total investments	15,291	15,603	74,171	(30,840)	74,22
Cash and cash equivalents		820	4,338		5,15
Accrued investment income	_	_	742	(7)	73
Deferred acquisition costs	_		4,918		4,9
Intangible assets	_		227	_	22
Goodwill	_		15		
Reinsurance recoverable	_	_	17,339	_	17,33
Other assets	_	281	370	(1)	6
Intercompany notes receivable	7	277	357	(641)	_
Separate account assets	_	_	9,064	_	9,0
Total assets	\$ 15,298	\$16,981	\$ 111,541	\$ (31,489)	\$ 112,3
ilities and stockholders' equity					
Liabilities:					
Future policy benefits	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 36,488	\$ —	\$ 36,4
Policyholder account balances	_	_	26,146	_	26,1
Liability for policy and contract claims		_	8,030	_	8,0
Unearned premiums	—	—	3,731	—	3,7
Other liabilities	(2)	352	3,573	(24)	3,8
Intercompany notes payable	—	564	277	(841)	-
Borrowings related to securitization entities	—	_	205	_	2
Non-recourse funding obligations	_	—	1,983	—	1,9
Long-term borrowings	—	4,151	450	_	4,6
Deferred tax liability	(24)	(1,016)	2,143	—	1,1
Separate account liabilities			9,064		9,0
Total liabilities	(26)	4,051	92,090	(865)	95,2
Stockholders' equity:					
Common stock	1	_	_	—	
Additional paid-in capital	11,998	9,162	17,104	(26,266)	11,9
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	4,692	4,733	4,717	(9,450)	4,6
Retained earnings	1,333	(965)	(4,132)	5,097	1,3
Treasury stock, at cost	(2,700)				(2,7
Total Genworth Financial, Inc.'s stockholders' equity	15,324	12,930	17,689	(30,619)	15,3
Noncontrolling interests			1,762	(5)	1,7
Noncontrolling interests					
Total stockholders' equity	15,324	12,930	19,451	(30,624)	17,0

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating balance sheet information as of December 31, 2014:

(Amounts in millions)	Parent Guarantor	Issuer	All Other Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Assets					
Investments:					
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value	\$ —	\$ 150	\$ 62,497	\$ (200)	\$ 62,447
Equity securities available-for-sale, at fair value	—	_	282	—	282
Commercial mortgage loans	—	—	6,100	—	6,100
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	_	_	201	_	201
Policy loans	—	—	1,501	—	1,501
Other invested assets	—	14	2,287	(5)	2,296
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities, at fair value	—	—	411	—	411
Investments in subsidiaries	14,895	15,003		(29,898)	
Total investments	14,895	15,167	73,279	(30,103)	73,238
Cash and cash equivalents		953	3,965		4,918
Accrued investment income		_	689	(4)	685
Deferred acquisition costs	_	_	5,042	_	5,042
Intangible assets		_	272	_	272
Goodwill	_	_	16	_	16
Reinsurance recoverable		_	17,346	_	17,346
Other assets	2	207	425	(1)	633
Intercompany notes receivable	9	267	395	(671)	_
Separate account assets	_	_	9,208		9,208
Total assets	\$ 14,906	\$16,594	\$ 110,637	\$ (30,779)	\$ 111,358
Liabilities and stockholders' equity		<u></u>			_
Liabilities:					
Future policy benefits	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 35,915	\$ —	\$ 35,915
Policyholder account balances	—	—	26,043	—	26,043
Liability for policy and contract claims	—	_	8,043	_	8,043
Unearned premiums	—	—	3,986	—	3,986
Other liabilities	3	251	3,361	(11)	3,604
Intercompany notes payable	—	604	267	(871)	—
Borrowings related to securitization entities	_	_	219	_	219
Non-recourse funding obligations	—	—	1,996	—	1,996
Long-term borrowings	_	4,151	488	_	4,639
Deferred tax liability	(20)	(970)	1,898	—	908
Separate account liabilities			9,208		9,208
Total liabilities	(17)	4,036	91,424	(882)	94,561
Stockholders' equity:					
Common stock	1	_	_	_	1
Additional paid-in capital	11,997	9,162	17,080	(26,242)	11,997
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	4,446	4,449	4,459	(8,908)	4,446
Retained earnings	1,179	(1,053)	(4,205)	5,258	1,179
Treasury stock, at cost	(2,700)	_	—	_	(2,700)
Total Genworth Financial, Inc.'s stockholders' equity	14,923	12,558	17,334	(29,892)	14,923
Noncontrolling interests			1,879	(2),0)2)	1,874
Total stockholders' equity	14,923	12,558	19,213	(29,897)	16,797
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 14,906	\$16,594	\$ 110,637	\$ (30,779)	\$ 111,358
Total natifices and stockholders equity	\$ 14,700	\$10,574	\$ 110,057	(JU, 179)	\$ 111,338

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating income statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2015:

	Parent	Ŧ	All Other		
(Amounts in millions)	Guarantor	Issuer	Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues:					
Premiums	\$ —	\$—	\$ 1,323	\$ —	\$ 1,323
Net investment income	—	—	807	(4)	803
Net investment gains (losses)		3	(19)		(16)
Insurance and investment product fees and other		(9)	234		225
Total revenues		(6)	2,345	(4)	2,335
Benefits and expenses:					
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves			1,243		1,243
Interest credited			180		180
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	5	1	374		380
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles			121		121
Interest expense		77	43	(4)	116
Total benefits and expenses	5	78	1,961	(4)	2,040
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in income of subsidiaries	(5)	(84)	384	_	295
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(9)	(29)	129		91
Equity in income of subsidiaries	150	143		(293)	
Net income	154	88	255	(293)	204
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests			50		50
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ 154</u>	<u>\$88</u>	\$ 205	<u>\$ (293</u>)	<u>\$ 154</u>

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating income statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2014:

(Amounts in millions)	Parent Guarantor	Issuer	All Other Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated	
Revenues:						
Premiums	\$	\$—	\$ 1,307	\$	\$ 1,307	
Net investment income	—		809	(4)	805	
Net investment gains (losses)	—	(4)	(13)	_	(17)	
Insurance and investment product fees and other			227		227	
Total revenues		(4)	2,330	(4)	2,322	
Benefits and expenses:						
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	_		1,194	_	1,194	
Interest credited	—		183		183	
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	7		371	_	378	
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	—		134		134	
Interest expense		84	47	(4)	127	
Total benefits and expenses	7	84	1,929	(4)	2,016	
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity in income of subsidiaries	(7)	(88)	401	_	306	
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	10	(46)	123		87	
Equity in income of subsidiaries	201	202		(403)		
Net income	184	160	278	(403)	219	
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests			35		35	
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	\$ 184	\$ 160	\$ 243	<u>\$ (403</u>)	\$ 184	

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating comprehensive income statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2015:

(Amounts in millions)	Parent Guarantor	Issuer	All Other Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Net income	\$ 154	\$ 88	\$ 255	\$ (293)	\$ 204
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:					
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other-than-temporarily					
impaired	293	275	323	(568)	323
Net unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired					
securities	2	2	2	(4)	2
Derivatives qualifying as hedges	177	177	189	(366)	177
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	(226)	<u>(170</u>)	(370)	396	(370)
Total other comprehensive income (loss)	246	284	144	(542)	132
Total comprehensive income (loss)	400	372	399	(835)	336
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests			(64)		(64)
Total comprehensive income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ 400</u>	<u>\$ 372</u>	<u>\$ 463</u>	<u>\$ (835</u>)	<u>\$ 400</u>

The following table presents the condensed consolidating comprehensive income statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2014:

(Amounts in millions)	Parent	-	All Other		
	Guarantor	Issuer	Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Net income	\$ 184	\$ 160	\$ 278	\$ (403)	\$ 219
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:					
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other-than-temporarily					
impaired	692	675	707	(1,368)	706
Net unrealized gains (losses) on other-than-temporarily impaired securities	6	6	6	(12)	6
Derivatives qualifying as hedges	219	219	232	(451)	219
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments	24	40	(21)	(64)	(21)
Total other comprehensive income (loss)	941	940	924	(1,895)	910
Total comprehensive income (loss)	1,125	1,100	1,202	(2,298)	1,129
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests			4		4
Total comprehensive income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	\$ 1,125	<u>\$1,100</u>	\$ 1,198	<u>\$ (2,298)</u>	\$ 1,125

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating cash flow statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2015:

(Amounts in millions)	Parent Guarantor	Issuer	All Other Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net income	\$ 154	\$ 88	\$ 255	\$ (293)	\$ 204
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:					
Equity in income from subsidiaries	(150)	(143)	_	293	_
Dividends from subsidiaries	—	132	(132)	—	—
Amortization of fixed maturity securities discounts and premiums and limited					
partnerships	—	—	(17)	—	(17)
Net investment losses (gains)	—	(3)	19	—	16
Charges assessed to policyholders	_	_	(196)	—	(196)
Acquisition costs deferred	—	—	(110)	—	(110)
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	_		121		121
Deferred income taxes	(5)	(40)	84	—	39
Net increase (decrease) in trading securities, held-for-sale investments and		_			
derivative instruments		9	9	_	18
Stock-based compensation expense	2	—	(4)	—	(2)
Change in certain assets and liabilities:		(7)	(=0)		(
Accrued investment income and other assets	2	(7)	(73)	3	(75)
Insurance reserves		_	614	-	614
Current tax liabilities	(4)	66	(65)		(3)
Other liabilities, policy and contract claims and other policy-related balances		(60)	88	(13)	15
Net cash from operating activities	(1)	42	593	(10)	624
Cash flows from investing activities:					
Proceeds from maturities and repayments of investments:					
Fixed maturity securities		_	1,153		1,153
Commercial mortgage loans	_	_	198	_	198
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities		_	13		13
Proceeds from sales of investments:					
Fixed maturity and equity securities	_	_	420		420
Purchases and originations of investments:					
Fixed maturity and equity securities		_	(1,839)		(1,839)
Commercial mortgage loans			(247)	_	(247)
Other invested assets, net		(100)	26	10	(64)
Intercompany notes receivable	2	(10)	38	(30)	
Capital contributions to subsidiaries	_	(25)	25		_
Net cash from investing activities	2	(135)	(213)	(20)	(366)
		(155)	(215)	(20)	(500)
Cash flows from financing activities: Deposits to universal life and investment contracts			630		630
Withdrawals from universal life and investment contracts	_	—	(527)	—	
		_			(527)
Redemption of non-recourse funding obligations	_	_	(13)	—	(13)
Repayment of borrowings related to securitization entities	_	_	(11)	_	(11)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests	_	(40)	(54) 10	30	(54)
Proceeds from intercompany notes payable	(1)	(40)	10	50	10
Other, net	(1)				
Net cash from financing activities	(1)	(40)	46	30	35
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents			(53)		(53)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents		(133)	373		240
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		953	3,965	_	4,918
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	<u> </u>	\$ 820	\$ 4,338	<u>s </u>	\$ 5,158
cash and cash equivalents at the of period	φ	\$ 620	ф т,550	φ	φ 5,138

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The following table presents the condensed consolidating cash flow statement information for the three months ended March 31, 2014:

(Amounts in millions)		Parent Guarantor Issuer		All Other Subsidiaries		Eliminations		Consolidated	
Cash flows from operating activities:									
Net income	\$	184	\$ 160	\$	278	\$	(403)	\$	219
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:									
Equity in income from subsidiaries		(201)	(202)		_		403		—
Dividends from subsidiaries		—	31		(31)				—
Amortization of fixed maturity securities discounts and premiums and limited									
partnerships			—		(28)		_		(28)
Net investment losses (gains)		—	4		13				17
Charges assessed to policyholders		_	—		(187)		_		(187)
Acquisition costs deferred		—	—		(119)		—		(119)
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles		_	—		134		_		134
Deferred income taxes		11	(84)		90				17
Net increase (decrease) in trading securities, held-for-sale investments and									
derivative instruments			1		25				26
Stock-based compensation expense		5	—		3		—		8
Change in certain assets and liabilities:									
Accrued investment income and other assets		3	50		(158)		(4)		(109)
Insurance reserves		_	_		550		_		550
Current tax liabilities		4	16		(202)				(182)
Other liabilities, policy and contract claims and other policy-related balances		(10)	—		(279)		4		(285)
Net cash from operating activities		(4)	(24)		89				61
Cash flows from investing activities:			/						
Proceeds from maturities and repayments of investments:									
Fixed maturity securities			_		1.135		_		1,135
Commercial mortgage loans			_		139		_		139
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities					7				7
Proceeds from sales of investments:					/				/
Fixed maturity and equity securities			_		708		_		708
Purchases and originations of investments:					700				/00
Fixed maturity and equity securities			_		(2,172)		_		(2,172)
Commercial mortgage loans		_			(132)		_		(132)
Other invested assets, net					111				111
Intercompany notes receivable		6	(11)		61		(56)		
							<u> </u>		
Net cash from investing activities		6	(11)		(143)		(56)		(204)
Cash flows from financing activities:									
Deposits to universal life and investment contracts		_	_		814		_		814
Withdrawals from universal life and investment contracts		—	—		(505)				(505)
Redemption of non-recourse funding obligations		_	—		(8)		_		(8)
Repayment of borrowings related to securitization entities			—		(7)		—		(7)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests		_	—		(13)		_		(13)
Proceeds from intercompany notes payable		—	(66)		10		56		—
Other, net		(2)			(10)				(12)
Net cash from financing activities		(2)	(66)		281		56		269
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents					20		_		20
Net change in cash and cash equivalents			(101)		247				146
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		_	1,219		2,995		_		4,214
	<u></u>			<u></u>		<u></u>		<u></u>	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$		\$1,118	\$	3,242	\$		\$	4,360

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Our insurance company subsidiaries are restricted by state and foreign laws and regulations as to the amount of dividends they may pay to their parent without regulatory approval in any year, the purpose of which is to protect affected insurance policyholders and contractholders, not stockholders. Any dividends in excess of limits are deemed "extraordinary" and require approval. Based on estimated statutory results as of December 31, 2014, in accordance with applicable dividend restrictions, our subsidiaries could pay dividends of approximately \$0.5 billion to us in 2015 without obtaining regulatory approval, and the remaining net assets are considered restricted. While the \$0.5 billion is unrestricted, we do not expect our insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends to us in 2015 at this level as they retain capital for growth and to meet capital requirements and desired thresholds. As of March 31, 2015, Genworth Financial's and Genworth Holdings' subsidiaries had restricted net assets of \$14.8 billion and \$14.9 billion, respectively.

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included herein and with our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

This report contains certain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements may be identified by words such as "expects," "intends," "anticipates," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," "will" or words of similar meaning and include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the outlook for our future business and financial performance. Forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and assumptions, which are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially due to global political, economic, business, competitive, market, regulatory and other factors and risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

Risks relating to all of our businesses, including:

(i) inability to successfully develop and execute strategic plans to effectively address our current business challenges (including with respect to our long-term care insurance business, ratings and capital), including as a result of failure to attract buyers for our lifestyle protection insurance business and any other businesses or other assets we may seek to sell, or securities we may seek to issue, in each case, in a timely manner on anticipated terms; inability to generate required capital; failure to obtain any required regulatory, stockholder and/or noteholder approvals or consents, or our challenges changing or being more costly or difficult to successfully address than currently anticipated or the benefits achieved being less than anticipated; inability to achieve anticipated cost-savings in a timely manner; adverse tax or accounting charges; (ii) inability to increase the capital needed in our businesses in a timely manner and on anticipated terms, including through improved business performance, reinsurance or similar transactions, asset sales, securities offerings or otherwise, in each case as and when required; (iii) inadequate reserves and the need to increase reserves, including as a result of any changes we may make to our assumptions, methodologies or otherwise in connection with periodic or other reviews (including as a result of our actual experience differing significantly from our assumptions); (iv) ineffective or inadequate risk management in identifying, controlling or mitigating risks; weaknesses in, or ineffective, internal controls; (v) recent or future adverse rating agency actions, including with respect to rating downgrades or potential downgrades, being placed on negative outlook or being put on review for potential downgrade, all of which could have adverse implications for us, including with respect to key business relationships, product offerings, business results of operations, financial condition and capital needs, strategic plans, collateral obligations and availability and terms of hedging, reinsurance and borrowings; (vi) inability to retain, attract and motivate qualified employees and independent sales representatives, particularly in the light of our recent business challenges; (vii) adverse change in regulatory requirements, including risk-based capital; (viii) dependence on dividends and other distributions from our subsidiaries (particularly our international subsidiaries) and the inability of any subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions to us, including as a result of the performance of our subsidiaries and insurance, regulatory or corporate law restrictions (including the unwillingness or inability of the subsidiary that indirectly owns most of the interests in our Australian and Canadian mortgage insurance businesses to pay the dividends that it receives from those businesses as a result of the impact on its financial condition of its guarantee of certain long-term care insurance related reinsurance arrangements); (ix) inability to borrow under our credit facility; (x) downturns and volatility in global economies and equity and credit markets; (xi) interest rates and changes in rates; (xii) availability, affordability and adequacy of reinsurance to protect us against losses; (xiii) defaults by counterparties to reinsurance arrangements or derivative instruments; (xiv) changes in valuation of fixed maturity, equity and trading securities; (xv) defaults or other events impacting the value of our fixed maturity securities

portfolio; (xvi) defaults on our commercial mortgage loans or the mortgage loans underlying our investments in commercial mortgage-backed securities and volatility in performance; (xvii) competition; (xviii) reliance on, and loss of, key distribution relationships; (xix) extensive regulation of our businesses and changes in applicable laws and regulations; (xx) litigation and regulatory investigations or other actions (including the two shareholder putative class action lawsuits alleging securities law violations filed against us in 2014); (xxi) the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting; (xxii) failure or any compromise of the security of our computer systems, disaster recovery systems and business continuity plans and failures to safeguard, or breaches of, our confidential information; (xxiii) occurrence of natural or man-made disasters or a pandemic; (xxiv) impact of additional regulations pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"); (xxv) changes in accounting and reporting standards; (xxvi) impairments of or valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets; (xxvii) accelerated amortization of deferred acquisition costs and present value of future profits (including as a result of any changes we may make to our assumptions, methodologies or otherwise in connection with periodic or other reviews); (xxviii) political and economic instability or changes in government policies; and (xxix) fluctuations in foreign currence exchange rates and international securities markets;

Risks relating primarily to our mortgage insurance businesses, including:

(i) deterioration in economic conditions or a decline in home prices that adversely affect our loss experience in mortgage insurance; (ii) premiums for the significant portion of our international mortgage insurance risk in-force with high loan-to-value ratios may not be sufficient to compensate us for the greater risks associated with those policies; (iii) competition in our international and U.S. mortgage insurance businesses, including from government and government-owned and government-sponsored enterprises ("GSEs") offering mortgage insurance; (iv) changes in regulations adversely affecting our international operations; (v) inability to meet the private mortgage insurance eligibility requirements ("PMIERs") on the contemplated timetable with the contemplated funding; (vi) inability of our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries to meet minimum statutory capital requirements and hazardous financial condition standards; (vii) the influence of Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") and a small number of large mortgage insurance default rates; (ix) inability to realize anticipated benefits of our rescissions, curtailments, loan modifications or other similar programs in our U.S. mortgage insurance default rates; (ix) problems associated with foreclosure process defects in the United States that may defer claim payments; (xi) competition with GSEs may put us at a disadvantage on pricing and other terms and conditions; (xii) adverse changes in regulations in the United States; (xiv) increases in the use of alternatives to private mortgage originations or increases in mortgage insurance cancellations in the United States; (xiv) increases in the use of alternatives to private mortgage insurance in the United States and reductions in the level of coverage selected; and (xv) potential liabilities in connection with our U.S. contract underwriting services;

Risks relating primarily to our long-term care insurance, life insurance and annuities businesses, including:

(i) our inability to increase sufficiently, and in a timely manner, premiums on in-force long-term care insurance policies and/or reduce in-force benefits, and charge higher premiums on new policies, in each case, as currently anticipated (including the future increases assumed in connection with the completion of our margin reviews in the fourth quarter of 2014) and as may be required from time to time in the future (including as a result of our failure to obtain any necessary regulatory approvals or unwillingness or inability of policyholders to pay increased premiums); our inability to reflect future premium increases and other management actions in our margin calculation as anticipated; (ii) failure to sufficiently increase demand for our long-term care insurance, life insurance and fixed annuity

products; (iii) adverse impact on our financial results as a result of projected profits followed by projected losses (as is currently the case with our long-term care insurance business); (iv) deviations from our persistency assumptions used to price and establish reserves for our insurance policies and annuity contracts; (v) medical advances, such as genetic research and diagnostic imaging, and related legislation that impact policyholder behavior in ways adverse to us; and (vi) inability to continue to implement actions to mitigate the impact of statutory reserve requirements;

Other risks, including:

(i) the possibility that in certain circumstances we will be obligated to make payments to General Electric Company ("GE") under the tax matters agreement with GE even if our corresponding tax savings are never realized and payments could be accelerated in the event of certain changes in control; and (ii) provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and the tax matters agreement with GE may discourage takeover attempts and business combinations that stockholders might consider in their best interests; and

Risks relating to our common stock, including:

(i) the continued suspension of payment of dividends; and (ii) stock price fluctuations.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

Overview

Our business

We are dedicated to helping meet the homeownership, insurance and retirement needs of our customers, with a presence in more than 25 countries. We operate through three divisions: Global Mortgage Insurance, U.S. Life Insurance and Corporate and Other. Under these divisions, there are five operating business segments. The Global Mortgage Insurance Division includes the International Mortgage Insurance and U.S. Mortgage Insurance segments. The U.S. Life Insurance Division includes the U.S. Life Insurance and Other Division and Runoff segments and Corporate and Other activities. We have the following operating segments:

- International Mortgage Insurance. We are a leading provider of mortgage insurance products and related services in Canada and Australia and also participate in
 select European and other countries. Our products predominantly insure prime-based, individually underwritten residential mortgage loans, also known as flow
 mortgage insurance. We also selectively provide mortgage insurance on a structured, or bulk, basis that aids in the sale of mortgages to the capital markets and helps
 lenders manage capital and risk. Additionally, we offer services, analytical tools and technology that enable lenders to operate efficiently and manage risk.
- U.S. Mortgage Insurance. In the United States, we offer mortgage insurance products predominantly insuring prime-based, individually underwritten residential
 mortgage loans, also known as flow mortgage insurance. We selectively provide mortgage insurance on a bulk basis with essentially all of our bulk writings being
 prime-based. Additionally, we offer services, analytical tools and technology that enable lenders to operate efficiently and manage risk.
- U.S. Life Insurance. We offer and manage a variety of insurance and fixed annuity products in the United States. Our primary products include long-term care
 insurance, life insurance and fixed annuities.
- International Protection. We provide payment protection coverages (referred to as lifestyle protection) in multiple European countries and have operations in select
 other countries. Our lifestyle protection insurance products primarily help consumers meet specified payment obligations should they become unable to pay due to
 accident, illness, involuntary unemployment, disability or death.

Runoff. The Runoff segment includes the results of non-strategic products which are no longer actively sold. Our non-strategic products primarily include our variable annuity, variable life insurance, institutional, corporate-owned life insurance and other accident and health insurance products. Institutional products consist of funding agreements, funding agreements backing notes ("FABNs") and guaranteed investment contracts ("GICs"). We no longer offer retail and group variable annuities but continue to service our existing blocks of business.

We also have Corporate and Other activities which include debt financing expenses that are incurred at Genworth Holdings, Inc. ("Genworth Holdings") level, unallocated corporate income and expenses, eliminations of inter-segment transactions and the results of other non-core businesses that are managed outside of our operating segments, including discontinued operations.

Strategic Update

As previously disclosed, in the fourth quarter of 2014, we commenced a review of a broad range of strategic options to maximize long-term stockholder value. In assessing our options, we are considering, among other factors, the level of, and restrictions contained in, our existing indebtedness, tax considerations, the views of regulators and rating agencies, and the performance and prospects of our businesses.

We continue to make progress on our review of strategic options in order to position us for the future and are actively engaged in three areas: (1) strengthening our mortgage insurance businesses and the capital, earnings and sales of our long-term care insurance business; (2) simplifying our business portfolio with a focus on our life insurance and annuity businesses and our Australian mortgage insurance business; and (3) increasing our financial strength and flexibility through initiatives such as a multi-step restructuring plan targeting cash savings in excess of \$100 million over the next two years as well as reducing holding company debt levels. In addition, we continue to pursue the planned sale of our lifestyle protection insurance business, which had previously been designated as a non-core business for us. We are reviewing a broad range of strategic options that we believe will, if completed, improve our ability to reduce holding company debt levels, increase capital buffers in our long-term care insurance business, support capital needs of our U.S. mortgage insurance business, improve operating returns and maintain targeted levels of holding company cash.

In addition, as disclosed on April 17, 2015, we estimate our U.S. mortgage insurance business will require additional capital of \$500 million to \$700 million to be fully compliant with the final PMIERs by the effective date of December 31, 2015. We intend to take the necessary steps so that our U.S. mortgage insurance business will comply with the final PMIERs by the effective date. The outcome of the review of our strategic options and the implementation of any decisions based on the review, in combination with our assessment of reinsurance cost and capacity, among other factors, will determine the mix of reinsurance and holding company cash we will use to meet the capital requirements of the final PMIERs.

Business trends and conditions

Our business is, and we expect will continue to be, influenced by a number of industry-wide and product-specific trends and conditions.

General conditions and trends affecting our businesses

Financial and economic environment. The stability of both the financial markets and global economies in which we operate impacts the sales, revenue growth and profitability trends of our businesses. During 2014 and into the first quarter of 2015, the U.S. and several international financial markets have been impacted by concerns regarding global economies and the rate and strength of recovery, particularly given recent political and geographical events in Eastern Europe and the Middle East and slow growth in China, as well as continued decreases in oil prices.

Table of Contents

While the U.S. housing market continues to recover with home affordability above historical levels in certain regions, an increase in mortgage interest rates more broadly in the future may slow the overall housing recovery. Unemployment and underemployment levels in the United States decreased in 2014 and through the first quarter of 2015 and we expect unemployment and underemployment levels in the United States to gradually continue to decrease over time. In Canada, the housing market improved in 2014 and during the first quarter of 2015 driven by continued low interest rates that have maintained affordability as home prices increased. The Canadian unemployment rate increased slightly in the first quarter of 2015 and we expect job creation to remain steady but modest with unemployment expected to marginally increase in 2015 over 2014 levels. In Australia, the overall housing market generally improved as modest economic growth and low interest rates persisted. The unemployment rate in Australia at the end of the first quarter of 2015 remained consistent with the end of 2014 and we expect the unemployment rate to be relatively stable through 2015 as the economy continues to transition away from being commodity focused, impacting investment levels and mix in the economy. The Chinese economy had experienced significant growth over the past decade. This growth slowed during 2013 and into 2014 and the new Chinese administration began to implement economic and credit market reforms. Gross domestic product growth in China in 2014 and the first quarter of 2015 was significantly lower than growth over the last decade with the slowest growth in the past five years being in the first guarter of 2015. Given the relative size of the Chinese economy, the impact of a significant change in the pace of economic expansion in China could impact global economies. partly as a result of lower commodity imports, particularly those from the Asia Pacific region, including Australia. Europe remained a challenging region with slow growth or a declining economic environment with lower lending activity and reduced consumer spending, particularly in Greece, Spain, Portugal, Ireland and Italy. While certain areas within Europe showed a modest level of improvement during 2014 and into 2015 with consumer lending levels stabilizing, we expect future economic growth in Europe to be modest. Additionally, Germany's economy could be impacted by the ongoing conflict in the Ukraine and sanctions imposed on Russia, which could negatively impact other European markets. See "-Trends and conditions affecting our segments" below for a discussion regarding the impacts the financial markets and global economies have on our businesses.

Slow or varied levels of economic growth, coupled with uncertain financial markets and economic outlooks, changes in government policy, regulatory reforms and other changes in market conditions, influenced, and we believe will continue to influence, investment and spending decisions by consumers and businesses as they adjust their consumption, debt, capital and risk profiles in response to these conditions. These trends change as investor confidence in the markets and the outlook for some consumers and businesses shift. As a result, our sales, revenues and profitability trends of certain insurance and investment products have been and could be further impacted negatively or positively going forward. In particular, factors such as government spending, monetary policies, the volatility and strength of the capital markets, anticipated tax policy changes and the impact of global financial regulation reform will continue to affect economic and business outlooks and consumer behaviors moving forward.

The U.S. and international governments, the Federal Reserve, other central banks and other legislative and regulatory bodies have taken certain actions to support the economy and capital markets, influence interest rates, influence housing markets and mortgage servicing and provide liquidity to promote economic growth. These include various mortgage restructuring programs implemented or under consideration by the GSEs, lenders, servicers and the U.S. government. Outside of the United States, various governments and central banks have taken and continue to take actions to stimulate economies, stabilize financial systems and improve market liquidity. In aggregate, these actions had a positive effect in the short term on these countries and their markets; however, there can be no assurance as to the future impact these types of actions may have on the economic and financial markets, including levels of volatility. A delayed economic recovery period, a U.S. or global recession or regional or global financial crisis could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Investments and derivatives

Investments-credit and investment markets

Global yields declined in the first quarter of 2015 following official rate cuts by several foreign central banks coupled with the launch of quantitative easing by the European Central Bank. Mixed economic data in the United States led the bond market to price in a Federal Funds target rate rise later in 2015. Moreover, the Federal Reserve Open Market Committee lowered its median forward fund rate projections. The U.S. dollar continued to strengthen against most major foreign currencies, a trend which began in mid-2014. Oil and metal prices were volatile, but began to stabilize by the end of the first quarter of 2015.

There was little change in the credit spreads for most fixed-income asset classes during the first quarter of 2015, although the high yield and emerging markets sectors displayed heightened volatility caused by oil price fluctuations. Energy sector spreads tightened later in the first quarter of 2015 as oil prices stabilized.

Declines in interest rates and credit spreads have increased the value of our investments and derivatives, resulting in increases in net unrealized investment gains on securities of \$325 million and derivatives qualifying as hedges of \$177 million in other comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2015. Economic conditions will continue to impact the valuation of our investment portfolios and the amount of other-than-temporary impairments.

Looking ahead, we view the current credit environment as generally stable and expect corporate defaults to remain relatively low. Prolonged weakness in oil prices could continue to pressure smaller or highly leveraged energy companies, such as those in Russia, and some emerging market companies. We have an energy portfolio of \$4.7 billion, or 5.8% of invested assets, with 92% of these securities rated investment grade and 8% rated in the "BB" rating category. Our energy portfolio consists of securities in gas pipelines, integrated energy, independent energy, oil field services and refining companies. While we will likely see downgrades in this sector, we currently believe our energy portfolio is well-positioned and we would expect a minimal capital impact on our U.S. life insurance subsidiaries.

We believe the current credit environment provides us with opportunities to invest across a variety of asset classes including expanding into a small allocation of alternative assets, but we anticipate our returns will continue to be pressured primarily because of low interest rates. See "—Investments and Derivative Instruments" for additional information on our investment portfolio.

Derivatives

We have taken several actions to mitigate the risk to our derivatives portfolio arising from our counterparties right to terminate their derivatives transactions with us following ratings downgrades. As of March 31, 2015, we have negotiated amendments to master swap agreements governing \$6.2 billion notional of our derivatives portfolio, as a result of which the current ratings of Genworth Holdings and our life insurance subsidiaries are at least one-notch above the level at which counterparties could terminate the transactions under those agreements. As of March 31, 2015, we have moved \$8.4 billion notional of our derivatives portfolio from bilateral over-the-counter agreements to clearing through the Chicago Mercantile Exchange ("CME"), which has required us to post initial margin of \$105 million to CME through our clearing agents. The customer agreements that govern our cleared derivatives contain provisions that enable our clearing agents to request initial margin in excess of CME requirements. So far, they have not done so, but may do so in the future. Because our clearing agent serves as a guarantor of our obligations to the CME, the termination provisions in customer agreements are not dependent on ratings. As of March 31, 2015, we continue to have \$4.8 billion notional of bilateral over-the-counter derivatives under master swap agreements where the counterparty has the right to terminate all of its transactions with us based on our current ratings but has not done so. With respect to those agreements, we are continuing to evaluate if additional actions to modify our master swap agreements or to replace current positions with new transactions are beneficial and possible at this time.

Trends and conditions affecting our segments

International Mortgage Insurance

Results of our international mortgage insurance business are affected by changes in regulatory environments, employment levels, consumer borrowing behavior, lender mortgage-related strategies, including lender servicing practices, and other economic and housing market influences, including interest rate trends, home price appreciation or depreciation, mortgage origination volume, levels and aging of mortgage delinquencies and movements in foreign currency exchange rates.

Canada and Australia comprise approximately 99% of our international mortgage insurance primary risk in-force. These established markets will continue to be key drivers of revenues and earnings in our international mortgage insurance business. During 2014 and continuing into the first quarter of 2015, the U.S. dollar strengthened against many foreign currencies, in particular the Canadian dollar and Australian dollar, which negatively impacted the underlying reported results of our international mortgage insurance business. Any future movement in foreign exchange rates could impact future results.

Canada. In Canada, the housing market improved in 2014 and into the first quarter of 2015 driven by continued low interest rates that maintained affordability as home prices increased. The unemployment rate increased slightly in the first quarter of 2015 closing at 6.8% after ending at 6.6% in 2014. We expect job creation to remain steady but modest with unemployment expected to marginally increase as we progress through 2015 primarily driven by concerns of decreasing oil prices and its impact to the oil producing provinces of Canada. In response to the recent sharp drop in oil prices, the Bank of Canada decreased the overnight interest rate to 0.75% in January 2015, with the expectation that the low interest rate environment will continue through 2015.

Home sales in Canada increased 5% in 2014, with tight supply continuing to pressure prices in select urban markets with the resale market remaining at or near balanced market conditions. We expect a slight increase in resale activity as the housing market moderates in 2015 and we expect national home prices to increase slightly as we progress through 2015. Going forward, we expect the growth rate of the high loan-to-value market to keep pace with the change in housing resale activity and home price appreciation.

According to the Bank of Canada, economic growth as measured by the Canadian gross domestic product stalled in the first quarter of 2015, but the Bank of Canada still expects growth of 1.9% for 2015. We expect the Canadian gross domestic product growth in 2015 to be fueled by a stronger U.S. economy and a weaker Canadian dollar that benefits exports in Central Canada and British Columbia, offset by the negative impact of lower oil prices. The recent decline in oil prices is an emerging risk due to its potential impact on employment and housing, especially in the provinces of Alberta, Newfoundland and Saskatchewan. We will continue to monitor the impact of oil prices as part of our proactive portfolio risk management strategy.

In the 2013 federal budget, the Canadian government proposed to gradually limit the insurance of low loan-to-value mortgages to only those mortgages that will be used in the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation ("CMHC") securitization programs. In addition, the Canadian government has indicated an intention to prohibit the use of any taxpayer-backed insured mortgage, both high and low loan-to-value, as collateral in securitization vehicles that are not sponsored by CMHC. We anticipate the related legislation will be introduced in 2015. On December 1, 2014, CMHC announced a price increase to its National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities ("NHA MBS") guarantee fees effective April 1, 2015. Under the NHA MBS Program, CMHC guarantees timely payment of principal and interest to purchasers of the mortgage-backed securities backed by pools of eligible insured mortgages. The NHA MBS fees are paid by lenders in addition to the mortgage insurance premium. Although it is difficult to determine the full impact of these changes at this time, we believe the changes will decrease demand for low loan-to-value mortgage insurance.

On April 2, 2015, CMHC announced that as a result of its annual review of its insurance products and capital requirements it is increasing mortgage insurance premiums by 15% for homebuyers with less than a 10%

down payment effective June 1, 2015. Genworth MI Canada Inc. ("Genworth Canada") announced subsequently that it will also increase price by 15% for homebuyers with less than a 10% down payment effective June 1, 2015, which currently represents about 65% of its new insurance written.

On November 6, 2014, the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions ("OSFI") published the final B-21 Residential Mortgage Insurance Underwriting Practices and Procedures Guideline (the "B-21 Guideline"). In the B-21 Guideline, OSFI sets out principles that promote and support sound residential mortgage insurance underwriting. These six principles focus on three main themes: i) governance, development of business objectives and strategy, and oversight; ii) interaction with lenders as part of the underwriting process; and iii) internal underwriting operations and risk management. The B-21 Guideline also enhances disclosure requirements, which will support greater transparency, clarity and public confidence in mortgage insurers' residential mortgage insurance underwriting practices. Genworth Canada is positioned to comply with the B-21 Guideline by the implementation deadline of June 30, 2015.

Australia. In Australia, the overall economy continued to expand during 2014 and into the first quarter of 2015, though at a more modest pace than in prior years, with ongoing evidence of variation in economic activity across sectors and regions. At the same time, housing activity improved primarily from sustained low interest rates. We experienced higher new delinquencies and lower cures in Australia, which was consistent with normal seasonal variation we would expect in the first quarter. The unemployment rate was 6.1% at the end of the first quarter 2015 after reaching a 12 year high of 6.3% in 2014. We expect unemployment to be relatively stable or to move modestly upward as we progress through 2015 as the economy continues to transition away from being commodity focused, impacting investment levels and mix in the economy.

The Australian housing market continued to improve into the first quarter of 2015, with home values 7.4% higher than a year ago. The Sydney housing market continues to be the major driver with an annual growth rate of 13.9%. We expect home prices in 2015 will continue to rise, albeit at subdued levels, due to strong immigration, limited housing supply and the record low interest rates supporting improved affordability.

The Reserve Bank of Australia reduced the official cash rate from 2.50% to 2.25% in February 2015 as Australian economic conditions are somewhat weaker than expected. The Reserve Bank of Australia expect the current reduction to add further support to demand, to foster sustainable growth and inflation outcomes consistent with their targets.

In December 2013, the Australian government announced that there would be an inquiry into Australia's financial system. The Financial System Inquiry ("FSI") made a number of recommendations, which were released by the Australian government in December 2014. The FSI has recommended, among other things, that capital levels for internal ratings-based authorized deposit-taking institutions ("ADIs") be raised against residential real estate risks. The FSI has also recommended narrowing the average risk-weight gap between average risk-weights for the internal ratings-based ADIs and other ADIs to help competition. In releasing the FSI's recommendations, the Australian Treasurer commented that the FSI's recommendations on bank capital are for the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority and the Reserve Bank of Australia to consider as independent regulators. At this time, it is difficult to determine the impact of these recommendations.

In February 2015, one of our three largest customers in Australia notified us that it was terminating its relationship with respect to new business effective May 2015. For the year ended December 31, 2014, this customer represented 10% and 14% of new insurance written and gross written premiums, respectively. The term of the current supply and service contract with our largest customer expires on December 31, 2016, unless it is terminated earlier in certain circumstances, including, among other things, a downgrade of the financial strength rating of our principal mortgage insurance subsidiary in Australia by Standard & Poor's Financial Services, LLC ("S&P") to below "A-" (subject to certain exceptions). The term of the current supply and service contract with our next remaining largest customer in Australia expires on September 30, 2015. This contract may be terminated by either party by giving 90 days' written notice. We are responding to the customer's "request for proposal" to bid on the contract renewal.

Other Countries. The overall economic environment in Europe remains fragile as unemployment is just below record highs and we expect future economic growth to be modest. We are seeing a slow resurgence in high loan-to-value lending in our target countries in Europe as lenders begin to slowly reenter these markets for the first time since the global financial crisis. As a result of the lingering economic recession, we have seen an elevated number of delinquencies and lower cures in our older books of business, most notably in Ireland, contributing to higher losses over the last few years. However, these books are well seasoned now and as a result we saw a reduction in net new delinquencies on these books during 2014 and into the first quarter of 2015. Even though our newer books of business are less seasoned, they are performing well in comparison to pricing expectations. In the fourth quarter of 2014, lender settlements reduced active delinquencies by approximately 40% and capped our exposure in Ireland to approximately \$60 million or about 3% of our total outstanding risk in-force in Europe. As we progress through 2015, we expect to continue our strategy of writing new business in Italy, Finland, Germany and the United Kingdom.

U.S. Mortgage Insurance

Results of our U.S. mortgage insurance business are affected by the following factors: competitor actions; unemployment or underemployment levels; other economic and housing market trends, including interest rates, home prices, mortgage origination volume mix and practices; the levels and aging of mortgage delinquencies, which may be affected by seasonal variations; the inventory of unsold homes; lender modification and other servicing efforts; and resolution of pending or any future litigation, among other items. The impact of prior years' weakness and uncertainty in the domestic economy, related levels of unemployment and underemployment and resulting increase in foreclosures, the number of borrowers seeking loan modifications and the level of housing inventories with the related impact on home values, all combined to contribute adversely to the performance of our insured portfolio relating to our 2005 through 2008 book years. Going forward, we expect moderate economic growth characterized by ongoing modest improvement in home values along with a gradual decrease over time in unemployment and underemployment levels. Our results are subject to the continued recovery of the U.S. housing market and the extent of the adverse impact of seasonality that we experience historically in the second half of the year.

We believe that the level of private mortgage insurance industry market penetration and eventual market size will continue to be affected by any actions taken by the GSEs, the Federal Housing Administration (the "FHA"), the Federal Housing Finance Agency (the "FHFA"), U.S. Congress or the U.S. government impacting housing or housing finance policy. Over time, these actions have included announced changes, or potential changes to, underwriting standards, FHA pricing, GSE guaranty fees and loan limits and low-down-payment programs available through the FHA or GSEs. In this regard, several actions have taken place recently. As previously disclosed, in October 2014, U.S. federal regulators published a final rule regarding the credit risk retention provision under the Dodd-Frank Act. The revised rules propose to define "qualified residential mortgages" to include low-down-payment mortgage loans, which is consistent with the definition of "qualified mortgages" that is already adopted by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB"). These rules have had a limited impact on our business. In December 2014, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac announced that they would resume purchases of certain loans with down payments as low as 3%. This change in policy could result in the GSEs purchasing more loans with private mortgage insurance premiums charged to borrowers. This premium cut makes the FHA more competitive relative to private mortgage insurance and may have a material adverse effect on private mortgage insurers' ability to sustain market share. Lastly, on April 17, 2015, the FHFA issued a final decision regarding changes to existing GSE fees. These changes have not increased the base GSE guaranty fees at this time and instead change loan-level price adjustments on loans by eliminating existing adverse market charges. At the same time, the GSEs are applying targeted and small fee adjustments to a subset of GSE loans. These adjustments include small fee increases for certain loans in the GSE upfront loan-to-value ratio and

to GSE fees and loan-level price adjustments will not have a material impact on mortgage originations or the competitiveness of private mortgage insurance versus that of FHA insurance.

In addition to the actions described above, in December 2013, the FHFA issued for comment a proposal to reduce GSE loan limits. We filed a comment letter in March 2014 in response to that proposal and to date the FHFA has not yet issued a final determination. If implemented, lower loan limits could also limit demand for mortgage loans with private mortgage insurance coverage.

Mortgage originations were down in the first quarter of 2015 as a result of expected seasonal trends, purchase origination levels were higher in the quarter year over year. In addition, mortgage originations from refinancing activities were higher in the first quarter of 2015 as a result of a decrease in mortgage interest rates during the period. These lower mortgage interest rates are expected to increase gradually throughout 2015, and as a result, we would expect refinancing activities to return to levels below those we experienced in the first quarter of 2015. Accordingly, we continue to believe that, as the mortgage originations market moves from the higher level of refinancing activities to that of a larger purchase originations market, the private mortgage insurance industry market share will continue to strengthen over time. As of the end of the first quarter of 2015, our U.S. mortgage insurance market share has grown more than two percentage points since the fourth quarter of 2013 driven in part by the impact of more competitive pricing changes that went into effect over these periods. We continue to manage the quality of new business through our underwriting guidelines, which we modify from time to time when circumstances warrant. Since the fourth quarter of 2014 and through the first quarter of 2015, we have increased our single premium lender paid new insurance written reflecting our selective participation in this market. Future volumes of this product will vary depending on the evaluation of the risk return profile of these transactions.

On April 17, 2015, the final PMIERs were publicly released by the GSEs in conjunction with the FHFA. PMIERs will be used by the GSEs to approve private mortgage insurance on loans acquired by them.

The final PMIERs lowered the level of required capital from that contained in the draft requirements, particularly on books of business written prior to the second half of 2012. The final requirements also altered the calculation of the expected benefit available under captive reinsurance treaties thereby reducing the amount of available assets eligible to meet the capital levels under PMIERs. Based on our interpretation of the final PMIERs, we estimate our U.S mortgage insurance business will require \$500 million to \$700 million of additional capital as calculated under the PMIERs to be fully compliant by the effective date of December 31, 2015. This estimate is based on a number of factors including our view of the ongoing performance of our U.S. mortgage insurance business reflecting assumed market size and other dynamics, the results of planned internal restructuring within our U.S. mortgage insurance business and current affiliate asset valuations under the PMIERs. Additionally, our current estimate reflects reductions in affiliate asset valuation due to changes since our prior estimate in market value, currency fluctuations and the final form of the PMIERs compared to the draft. We intend to take necessary steps so that our U.S. mortgage insurance business will comply with the final PMIERs by the effective date of December 31, 2015. For a discussion of factors affecting our estimate of the amount of additional capital that will be required to meet the final PMIERs and operate our business and our ability to utilize reinsurance or similar transactions to satisfy these capital requirements, see "Part II—Item 1A—Risk Factors—If we are unable to meet the capital requirements mandated by the GSEs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition."

As of March 31, 2015, Genworth Mortgage Insurance Corporation's ("GMICO") risk-to-capital ratio under the current regulatory framework as established under North Carolina law and enforced by the North Carolina Department of Insurance ("NCDOI"), GMICO's domestic insurance regulator, was approximately 13.8:1, compared with a risk-to-capital ratio of approximately 14.3:1 as of December 31, 2014. This risk-to-capital ratio remains

below the NCDOI's maximum risk-to-capital ratio of 25:1. The NCDOI's current regulatory framework by which GMICO's risk-to-capital ratio is calculated differs from the capital requirement methodology in the final PMIERs. GMICO's ongoing risk-to-capital ratio will depend principally on the magnitude of future losses incurred by GMICO, the effectiveness of ongoing loss mitigation activities, new business volume and profitability, as well as the amount of policy lapses and the amount of additional capital that is generated within the business or capital support (if any) that we provide. Our estimate of the amount and timing of future losses and these foregoing factors are inherently uncertain, require significant judgment and may change significantly over time.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (the "NAIC") is reviewing the current Mortgage Guaranty Model Act, including minimum capital and surplus requirements for mortgage insurers through the Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Working Group (the "MGIWG"). The MGIWG has not established a date by which it must make proposals to change such requirements. However, as we learn more specific information about these NAIC activities, we continue to assess the potential impact, if any, that these new requirements may have on our U.S. mortgage insurance business and evaluate the options potentially available to meet any legislative or regulatory measures adopted as a result of the NAIC recommendations.

While we continue to experience an ongoing decrease in the level of new delinquencies, the performance of our portfolio in recent periods continues to be adversely affected by our 2005 through 2008 book years. This amount has declined from prior years, but delinquencies for these book years continue as the principal source of new delinquencies reported to us. Beginning in mid-2010, we saw an increase in foreclosure starts as well as an increase in our paid claims as late stage delinquency loans go through foreclosure. Foreclosure starts continue at a pace higher than foreclosure start levels in periods before mid-2010, and we continue seeing a decline in the number of foreclosure starts currently. We believe this decline is in part a result of the implementation of a CFPB mortgage servicing rule (the "CFPB Rule") that requires lenders and servicers to defer foreclosure starts until a borrower is at least 120-days delinquent to permit possible loan modification or workout solutions, but we also expect the foreclosure timeline to lengthen as a result of recent actions by the GSEs that have extended the allowable period over which certain foreclosure actions by lenders and servicers may occur. We believe the deferral of the foreclosure start date, coupled with GSE foreclosure timeline extension guidelines and the CFPB Rule's early intervention provisions that require a lender or servicer to utilize good faith efforts to establish live contact with delinquent borrowers and provide written notice of available loss mitigation options, may result in additional loan workout or modification solutions that would ultimately reduce the number of foreclosure. Moreover, a lengthening of the foreclosure process itself from the GSE foreclosure timeline extensions and avoid foreclosure. Moreover, a lengthening of the foreclosure process itself from the GSE foreclosure timeline extension and avoid foreclosure. Moreover, a lengthening of the foreclosure process itself from the GSE foreclosure timeline extension and particularly t

Improved underwriting guidelines and mortgage servicing practices as well as expanded efforts in the mortgage servicing market to modify loans have combined to improve performance of our 2009 through 2014 book years, including our 2015 insured book thus far in the current year, compared with the performance of insured loans from prior older book years that remain within our insured loan portfolio. This improved performance level, coupled with the diminished impact of our 2005 through 2008 book years as new delinquencies related to those insured loans continue to moderate, has resulted in ongoing reductions in overall delinquency levels through 2014 and the first quarter of 2015. While we continue to see benefits from loan modification actions on newer delinquencies within our portfolio, loan modification efforts have continued to remain more difficult to complete on the older delinquencies within our delinquent loan population. We have seen the older delinquencies that remain unresolved within our portfolio, particularly those from the 2005 through 2008 book years, continue to age through the first quarter of 2015. While both foreclosure and liquidation activity levels remained elevated through this same period, the ongoing lengthening of the foreclosure process as discussed above continues to result in ongoing elevated levels of loss reserves and claims, as well as higher levels of expenses associated with those claims. We believe that the ability to cure delinquent loans is dependent upon such things as employment levels, home values

and mortgage interest rates. In addition, while we continue to execute on our loan modification strategy, which cures the underlying delinquencies and improves the ability of borrowers to meet the debt service on the mortgage loans going forward, we have seen the level of ongoing loan modification actions decline moderately during the period from 2011 through the first quarter of 2015 compared with the levels we experienced during preceding periods. We expect our level of loan modifications to continue to decline going forward in line with the expected reduction in delinquent loans and because of the continuing aging of delinquencies. However, we further expect the rate at which we modify newly delinquent loans to remain steady as new programs take effect and the overall economy and housing market continues improving over time.

As of March 31, 2015, loans modified through the Home Affordable Refinance Program ("HARP"), accounted for approximately \$0.3 billion of insurance in the first quarter of 2015, and approximately \$18.7 billion of insurance from inception (March 2009) through March 31, 2015. For financial reporting purposes, we report HARP modified loans as a modification of the coverage on existing insurance in-force rather than new insurance written. Loans modified through HARP have extended amortization periods and reduced interest rates, which reduce borrower's monthly payments. Over time, we expect these modified loans to result in extended premium streams and a lower incidence of default. The government has recently extended HARP through the year ending December 31, 2016.

In 2014, the Obama Administration announced that it would extend the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HAMP") through December 31, 2015, and expand borrower eligibility by adjusting certain underwriting requirements. Also in 2014, incentives paid to the owner of a loan that qualifies for principal reduction under HAMP were increased and, for the first time, offered to the GSEs. However, to date, the GSEs are not participating in this program. While the impact of the these program extensions to date has remained positive, there can be no assurance that the number of loans that are modified under HAMP, including mortgage loans we insure currently, is sustainable over time or that any such modifications will succeed in ultimately avoiding foreclosure. While the government and the mortgage services industry remain committed to working with borrowers under this program, we cannot predict how successes achieved under this program or if the resulting effect of avoiding foreclosure is sustainable over time.

We have lender captive reinsurance programs in place in which we share portions of our premiums associated with flow insurance written on loans originated or purchased by lenders with captive insurance entities of these lenders in exchange for an agreed upon level of loss coverage above a specified attachment point. We have exhausted certain captive reinsurance tiers for our 2004 through 2008 book years based on loss development trends. While we continue to receive cash benefits from these captive arrangements at the time of claim payment, the level of benefit is expected to continue to decline going forward due to exhaustion of reinsurance as more reinsurers satisfy their contractual obligations such that remaining risk is borne by our U.S. mortgage insurance business. All of our captive reinsurance program, we continue to consider appropriate new third-party reinsurance arrangements as potential available sources of capital for our U.S. mortgage insurance business.

U.S. Life Insurance

Long-term care insurance. Results of our long-term care insurance business are influenced by sales, competitor actions, morbidity, mortality, persistency, investment yields, expenses, ability to achieve rate actions, changes in regulations and reinsurance. Additionally, sales of our products are impacted by the relative competitiveness of our offerings based on product features, pricing and commission levels, actions by rating agencies and the impact of in-force rate actions on distribution and consumer demand. Changes in regulations or government programs, including long-term care insurance rate action legislation, could impact our long-term care insurance business positively or negatively.

During the third quarter of 2014, we completed a comprehensive review of our long-term care insurance claim reserves. As a result of this review, we made changes to our assumptions and methodologies relating to our

long-term care insurance claim reserves primarily impacting claim termination rates, most significantly in later-duration claims, and benefit utilization rates, reflecting that claims are not terminating as quickly and claimants are utilizing more of their available benefits in aggregate than had previously been assumed in our reserve calculations. The changes made to our claim reserve assumptions and methodologies in the third quarter of 2014 also informed the review of and changes to assumptions and methodologies used in our fourth quarter of 2014 loss recognition testing, which indicated that a premium deficiency existed for our acquired block of long-term care insurance. As a result, we have updated our future policy benefit reserve assumptions on our acquired block of long-term care insurance as of December 31, 2014. These updated assumptions will be locked-in until such time as another premium deficiency exists. While our loss recognition testing in the fourth quarter of 2014 for our long-term care insurance block, excluding the acquired block, indicated that block had positive margin, it also indicated we had projected profits in earlier years followed by projected losses, we are required to accrue additional future policy benefit reserves on new claims, which decrease earnings in the period in which the higher reserves are recorded. As a result, we expect earnings of our long-term care insurance business to be modest in 2015 with some variability period to period. We will continue to regularly review our methodologies and assumptions in light of emerging experience and may be required to make further adjustments to our long-term care insurance claim reserves in the future, which could also impact our loss recognition testing results. Any further materially adverse changes to our claim reserves or changes as a result of loss recognition testing may have a materially negative impact on our results of operations, financial condition and business.

We experience volatility in our loss ratios caused by variances in claim terminations, claim severity and claim counts. Our rate actions may also cause fluctuations in our loss ratios during the period when reserves are adjusted to reflect policyholders taking reduced benefits or non-forfeiture options within their policy coverage. In addition, we periodically review our claim reserve assumptions and methodologies based upon developing experience, which may result in changes to claim reserves and loss recognition testing results, causing volatility in our operating results and loss ratios. Our loss ratio was 173% in the third quarter of 2014 reflecting changes to our assumptions and methodologies relating to our claim reserves as part of the comprehensive review of our long-term care insurance reserves. Our loss ratio was 200% in the fourth quarter of 2014 reflecting the results of our annual loss recognition testing, which impacted our acquired block. As a result, our loss ratio for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 129% and the increase in reserves as a result of the reviews increased the loss ratio for our long-term care insurance business by 57 percentages points in 2014. Our loss ratio was 72% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 reflecting our updated claims assumptions emerging from our review of claim reserves as well as our updated assumptions on our acquired block in 2014 as compared to 63% for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

Our long-term care insurance sales decreased 50% during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014 and decreased 52% in the first quarter of 2015 from the fourth quarter of 2014. Our lower sales year over year in part reflected the impact of the overall long-term care insurance industry sales trends which were down approximately 22% in 2014 as compared to 2013 as companies have left the market over time and have introduced price increases, product changes, as well as from consumer concern tied to industry rate actions. In 2013, we took steps to improve our profit and risk profile with the introduction of a product that included gender distinct pricing for single applicants and blood and lab underwriting requirements for all applicants. In 2013, we launched a product which increased premium rates but gave consumers the flexibility to choose the right fit for their long-term care needs, combined with the simplicity of prepackaged benefits. In the fourth quarter of 2014, we began filing for regulatory approval of an amended product to improve competitiveness, while meeting our targeted returns, by, among other things, reducing premium rates and adjusting coverage options. As of March 31, 2015, this amended product was filed in 37 states. The decreased sales quarter over quarter and year over year were related to the higher pricing on the new product and certain distributors suspending sales of our products as a result of recent rating agency actions. In support of this product, we are investing in key distribution and marketing initiatives to increase long-term care insurance sales.

In addition, we are evaluating market trends and sales and investing in the development of products that we believe will help expand the long-term care insurance market over time and meet broader consumer needs.

We also manage risk and capital allocated to our long-term care insurance business through utilization of external reinsurance in the form of coinsurance. In the first quarter of 2014, we executed an external reinsurance agreement reinsuring 20% of all sales of the long-term care insurance product introduced in early 2013. In July 2014, we executed an external reinsurance agreement reinsuring 20% of all sales of the long-term care insurance product launched in July 2014. External new business reinsurance levels vary and are dependent on a number of factors, including price, availability, risk tolerance and capital levels. Over time, there can be no assurance that affordable, or any, reinsurance will continue to be available. In addition, we have a portion of our long-term care insurance business reinsured internally by Brookfield Life and Annuity Insurance Company Limited ("BLAIC"), one of our Bermuda-domiciled capiter einsurance subsidiaries. One of our strategic priorities is to repatriate our long-term care insurance company and our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, which would unwind the reinsurance agreement between BLAIC and GLIC and release the related Brookfield Life Assurance Company Limited guarantee thereof, in 2015. When we implement this (following receipt of required regulatory approvals), there will be no impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") as the financial impact of this reinsurance eliminates in consolidation, although we would anticipate an adverse impact on GLIC's risk-based capital ratio, which would depend on the levels of capital in that company and that would transfer from BLAIC at the time.

As a result of ongoing challenges in our long-term care insurance business, we continue pursuing initiatives to improve the risk and profitability profile of our business including: premium rate increases and benefit reductions on our in-force policies; product refinements; changes to our current product offerings in certain states; investing in care coordination capabilities and service offerings; refining underwriting requirements; managing expense levels; actively exploring additional reinsurance strategies; executing investment strategies targeting higher returns; enhancing our financial and actuarial analytical capabilities; and considering other actions to improve the performance of the overall business. These efforts have included evaluating the need for significant future in-force premium rate increases on issued policies. In the third quarter of 2012, we initiated a round of long-term care insurance in-force premium rate increases with an expectation of achieving an average premium increase in excess of 50% on three policy series of older generation policies and an average premium increase in excess of 25% on one early series of new generation policies. Subject to regulatory approval, this premium rate increase is expected to generate approximately \$250 million to \$300 million of additional annual premiums when fully implemented over the next several years. Reserve levels, and thus our expected profitability, have been impacted, and we expect they will continue to be impacted, by policyholder behavior in response to premium rate increases which could include taking reduced benefits or non-forfeiture options. The goal of our rate actions already implemented, as well as future rate actions, is to mitigate losses on the three older generation policy series and help offset higher than priced for loss ratios due to unfavorable performance and lower lapse rates than expected on newer generation products, with returns lower than original expectations. As of April 28, 2015, the initial round of rate actions had been approved in whole or in part in 47 states and 18 of those states that had not approved the request in whole have approved incremental rate increases in a subsequent round of rate action filings. As of April 28, 2015, our estimate of the net premium increase from these 47 initial state approvals and 18 subsequent approvals was approximately \$255 million to \$270 million, which achieves our goal of \$250 million to \$300 million of annual premiums when fully implemented by 2017. In the third quarter of 2013, we began filing for regulatory approval for premium rate increases ranging between 6% and 13% on more than \$800 million in annualized in-force premiums on one of our new generation products. As of March 31, 2015, we have been notified by 31 states of their initial decision, of which 24 states approved all or part of the requested increase. We continue to pursue these rate increases in the states that have either not responded or initially denied our rate increase request. We have in the past, and will continue to consider in the future, suspending sales in states where we are unable to obtain satisfactory rates and rate increases on in-force policies as we did in Massachusetts, New Hampshire and Vermont in prior years. The approval process for in-force rate increases and the amount and timing of the rate increases approved varies by state. In certain states, the decision to approve or disapprove a rate increase can take several

years. Upon approval, insureds are provided with written notice of the increase and increases are generally applied on the insured's policy anniversary date. Therefore, the benefits of any rate increase are not fully realized until the implementation cycle is complete.

Continued low interest rates have also put pressure on the profitability and returns of our long-term care insurance business as higher yielding investments have matured and been replaced with lower-yielding investments. We seek to manage the impact of low interest rates through asset-liability management and hedging strategies for a portion of our long-term care insurance product cash flows.

Life insurance. Results of our life insurance business are impacted by sales, competitor actions, mortality, persistency, investment yields, expenses, reinsurance and statutory reserve requirements, among other factors. Additionally, sales of our products and persistency of our insurance in-force are dependent on competitive product features and pricing, underwriting, actions by rating agencies, distribution and customer service. Shifts in consumer demand, competitors' actions, relative pricing, return on capital or reinsurance decisions and other factors, such as regulatory matters affecting life insurance policy reserve levels, can also affect our sales levels.

In 2014, mortality experience was favorable to pricing expectations for term life insurance and unfavorable for universal life and term universal life insurance, but experience fluctuated from quarter to quarter. In the first quarter of 2015, mortality experience was favorable for our term life and term universal life insurance products but unfavorable for our universal life insurance products. Mortality levels may deviate each period from historical trends. Between 1999 and 2009, we had a significant increase in term life insurance sales, as compared to 1998 and prior years. As our 15-year term life insurance policies written in 1999 have entered their post-level guaranteed premium rate period in 2014, we have experienced lower persistency compared to pricing. Due to the relatively small number of policies that have recently entered their post-level guaranteed premium rate period, the impact on our financial statements has not been material. As additional policies enter their post-level guarantee premium rate period, we would expect amortization of deferred acquisition costs to accelerate and premiums to decline and reduce profitability in our term life insurance products, in amounts that could be material, if persistency is lower than our original assumptions.

Life insurance sales decreased 19% during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014 largely attributable to the moderation of sales of the reintroduced term life insurance products, which we began offering in the fourth quarter of 2012. The business is transitioning to competitive indexed universal life insurance and linked-benefits products, and growth in sales on these products is expected to continue. However, the increase in permanent life product sales is not expected to exceed the moderation of sales in our term life insurance products in the near term.

During 2014, the NAIC adopted a new regulatory framework for the insurance industry's use of captive life reinsurance subsidiaries, specifically those used to finance Regulations XXX and Actuarial Guideline 38 reserves. The framework adopted by the NAIC does not apply to captive life reinsurance subsidiaries effective on or before December 31, 2014 and allows for their continued use prospectively. The framework assumes that Principles Based Reserving ("PBR") will be adopted and requires captives to hold collateral at a level that approximates PBR. Accordingly, it is unclear if the NAIC will continue to allow the use of captives if PBR is not eventually adopted. If we were to discontinue our use of captive life reinsurance subsidiaries to finance statutory reserves in response to regulatory changes on a prospective basis, the reasonably likely impact would be increased costs related to alternative financing, such as third-party reinsurance, and potential reductions in or discontinuance of new term life or universal life with secondary guarantees insurance sales, all of which would adversely impact our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we cannot be certain that affordable alternative financing would be available.

Fixed annuities. Results of our fixed annuities business are affected by investment performance, interest rate levels, slope of the interest rate yield curve, net interest spreads, equity market conditions, mortality, persistency, expense and commission levels, new product sales, competitor actions and competitiveness of our offerings. Our competitive position within many of our distribution channels and our ability to grow this business depends on many factors, including product offerings, relative pricing and our overall ratings.



In fixed annuities, sales may fluctuate as a result of consumer demand, actions by rating agencies, competitor actions, changes in interest rates, credit spreads, relative pricing, return on capital decisions and our approach to managing risk. We monitor and change prices and crediting rates on fixed annuities on a regular basis to maintain spreads and targeted returns. We have targeted distributors and producers and maintained sales capabilities that align with our strategy. We expect to continue to manage these distribution relationships while selectively adding or shifting towards other product offerings, including fixed indexed annuities. Equity market performance and volatility could result in additional gains or losses, although associated hedging activities are expected to mitigate these impacts. Refinements of product offerings and related pricing, including ongoing evaluation of commission structures and changes in investment strategies, support our objective of achieving appropriate risk-adjusted returns.

Sales of fixed annuities decreased 34% during the first quarter of 2015 compared to the fourth quarter of 2014 as a result of lower interest rates and distributor actions. Following adverse rating actions after the announcement of our results for the third and fourth quarters of 2014, several of our distributors suspended distribution of our products. Those distributors made up approximately 30% of sales of our fixed annuity products for the year ended December 31, 2014. We expect that we will continue to be adversely impacted by these recent rating actions. In addition, we cannot predict the outcome of pending rating agency reviews and their potential impacts on our fixed annuity sales. To date, we have not observed any significant change in consumer behavior on our in-force contracts as a result of our rating downgrades.

International Protection

Growth and performance of our lifestyle protection insurance business is dependent on economic conditions and other factors, including competitor actions, consumer lending and spending levels, unemployment trends, client account penetration and mortality and morbidity trends. Additionally, the types and mix of our products will vary based on regulatory and consumer acceptance of our products.

Although consumer lending levels in Europe have stabilized, the region remains challenged particularly given concerns regarding various European economies and the lingering effect of the European debt crisis. Unemployment rates in the first quarter of 2015 remained at levels experienced since the second quarter of 2014 with regional variation. In aggregate, European gross domestic product continued to grow modestly in 2014 and into 2015, building on the growth in the second half of 2013.

Net operating income of our lifestyle protection insurance business for the three months ended March 31, 2015 decreased from the three months ended March 31, 2014 as higher commissions and claim reserves were partially offset by higher premiums in the current year. New claim registrations decreased 10% during the three months ended March 31, 2015 from 2014 levels. We could experience higher losses if claim registrations increase, particularly with continued high unemployment in Europe. Our loss ratio for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was 28% compared to 26% for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as losses increased, partially offset by higher premiums in the current year.

We have strengthened our focus in Europe on key strategic client relationships and are de-emphasizing our distribution with some other distributors, which had failed to achieve desired sales and profitability levels. This focus has enabled us to better serve our strategic clients and promote improved profitability and a lower cost structure. Additionally, we continue to pursue expanding our geographical distribution into Latin America and China and have secured agreements with a large insurance partner and a finance company. We are currently working with this partner to establish product, distribution and servicing capabilities and are now actively selling products in Peru, Colombia and Mexico.

Assuming the economies and lending environment in Europe are stable and do not improve in the near term, we expect our lifestyle protection insurance business to produce only slightly positive earnings in 2015. With our focus on enhanced distribution capabilities in Europe and growth in select new markets, we anticipate these efforts, coupled with sound risk and cost management disciplines, should, over time, improve profitability and

help offset the impact of economic or employment pressures as well as lower levels of consumer lending in Europe. However, depending on the economic situation in Europe, we could experience declines in sales and operating results.

Distributor conduct associated with the sale of payment protection insurance products is currently under regulatory scrutiny in Italy. While the results of these reviews are unknown at this time and our distributors are not Genworth employees, the outcome could impact how our product is distributed and could have a negative impact on our sales.

Runoff

Results of our Runoff segment are affected by investment performance, interest rate levels, net interest spreads, equity market conditions, mortality, policyholder loan activity, policyholder surrenders and scheduled maturities. In addition, the results of our Runoff segment can significantly impact our operating performance, regulatory capital requirements, distributable earnings and liquidity.

We discontinued sales of our individual and group variable annuities; however, we continue to service our existing block of business and accept additional deposits on existing contracts. Since then, equity market volatility has caused fluctuations in the results of our variable annuity products and regulatory capital requirements. In the future, equity and interest rate market performance and volatility could result in additional gains or losses in our variable annuity products although associated hedging activities are expected to partially mitigate these impacts. Volatility in the results of our variable annuity products can result in favorable or unfavorable impacts on earnings and statutory capital. In addition to the use of hedging activities to help mitigate impacts related to equity market volatility and interest rate risks, in the future, we may pursue reinsurance opportunities to further mitigate volatility in results and manage capital.

The results of our institutional products are impacted by scheduled maturities, as well as liquidity levels. However, we believe our liquidity planning and our assetliability management will mitigate this risk. While we do not actively sell institutional products, we may periodically issue funding agreements for asset-liability matching purposes.

Several factors may impact the time period for these products to runoff including the specific policy types, economic conditions and management strategies.

Financial Strength Ratings

There were no downgrades of the financial strength ratings of our insurance subsidiaries during the first quarter of 2015 other than the downgrades previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2015.

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations and should be read in conjunction with "-Business trends and conditions." For a discussion of our segment results, see "-Results of Operations and Selected Financial and Operating Performance Measures by Segment."

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated:

			Increa (decrea and		
		Three months ended March 31,		percentage change	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs. 2	2014	
Revenues:					
Premiums	\$ 1,323	\$ 1,307	\$ 16	1%	
Net investment income	803	805	(2)	— %	
Net investment gains (losses)	(16)	(17)	1	6%	
Insurance and investment product fees and other	225	227	(2)	(1)%	
Total revenues	2,335	2,322	13	1%	
Benefits and expenses:					
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	1,243	1,194	49	4%	
Interest credited	180	183	(3)	(2)%	
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	380	378	2	1%	
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	121	134	(13)	(10)%	
Interest expense	116	127	(11)	(9)%	
Total benefits and expenses	2,040	2,016	24	1%	
Income before income taxes	295	306	(11)	(4)%	
Provision for income taxes	91	87	4	5%	
Net income	204	219	(15)	(7)%	
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35	15	43%	
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ 154</u>	<u>\$ 184</u>	<u>\$ (30</u>)	(16)%	

Premiums. Premiums consist primarily of premiums earned on insurance products for mortgage, long-term care, life and accident and health insurance, single premium immediate annuities and structured settlements with life contingencies and lifestyle protection insurance.

- Our U.S. Life Insurance segment increased \$19 million. Our long-term care insurance business increased \$24 million largely from \$22 million of higher premiums
 from in-force rate actions in the current year. Our life insurance business decreased \$4 million primarily related to our term life insurance products driven largely by
 higher ceded reinsurance in the current year.
- Our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment increased \$13 million mainly attributable to higher average flow insurance in-force in the current year.
- Our International Protection segment increased \$5 million driven by an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in the second quarter of 2014 that was previously
 accounted for under the deposit method of accounting which increased premiums by \$32 million and higher volume driven by growth. These increases were
 partially offset by lower premiums from our runoff clients and a favorable adjustment of \$4 million in the prior year related to German premium taxes that did not
 recur. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included a decrease of \$32 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.
- Our International Mortgage Insurance segment decreased \$20 million primarily from a decrease of \$24 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. In Canada, premiums decreased \$11 million driven by a decrease of \$13 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, premiums in Canada increased primarily from the seasoning of our in-force blocks of business. In Australia, premiums decreased \$8 million primarily from a decrease of \$10 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange, premiums in Australia increased as a result of the seasoning of our in-force block of business, partially offset by lower flow volume in the current year.

Net investment income. Net investment income represents the income earned on our investments. Annualized weighted-average investment yields were 4.5% and 4.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Annualized weighted-average investment yields decreased primarily attributable to lower reinvestment yields on higher average invested assets in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$10 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net investment gains (losses). Net investment gains (losses) consist primarily of realized gains and losses from the sale or impairment of our investments and unrealized and realized gains and losses from our trading securities and derivative instruments. For further discussion of the change in net investment gains (losses), see the comparison for this line item under "—Investments and Derivative Instruments."

- We recorded net other-than-temporary impairments of \$3 million and \$1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to
 commercial mortgage loans.
- Net investment losses related to derivatives of \$32 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 were primarily associated with losses related to
 derivatives used to hedge foreign currency risk associated with assets held. In addition, there were guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefit ("GMWB") losses,
 including decreases in the values of instruments used to protect statutory surplus from equity market fluctuation. These losses were partially offset by gains related
 to derivatives to hedge foreign currency risk associated with expected dividend payments from certain foreign subsidiaries.

Net investment losses related to derivatives of \$21 million during the three months ended March 31, 2014 were primarily associated with GMWB losses, including decreases in the values of instruments used to protect statutory surplus from equity market fluctuation, which were partially offset by non-derivative investment gains on trading securities. In addition, there were losses related to derivatives used to hedge foreign currency risk associated with assets held and expected dividend payments from certain foreign subsidiaries, as well as losses related to a non-qualified derivative strategy to mitigate interest rate risk with our statutory capital positions. These losses were partially offset by gains related to hedge ineffectiveness from our cash flow hedge programs for our long-term care insurance business due to a decrease in long-term interest rates.

We recorded net gains of \$3 million related to the sale of available-for-sale securities during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to net losses of \$16 million during the three months ended March 31, 2014. We also recorded \$6 million of lower net gains related to trading securities during the three months ended March 31, 2014.

Insurance and investment product fees and other. Insurance and investment product fees and other consist primarily of fees assessed against policyholder and contractholder account values, surrender charges, cost of insurance assessed on universal and term universal life insurance policies, advisory and administration service fees assessed on investment contractholder account values, broker/dealer commission revenues and other fees.

- Our International Mortgage Insurance segment decreased \$5 million primarily due to non-functional currency transactions attributable to remeasurement and repayment of intercompany loans related to our Australian mortgage insurance business in the current year.
- Our Runoff segment decreased \$4 million mainly attributable to lower account values in our variable annuity products in the current year.
- Corporate and Other activities decreased \$2 million attributable to losses in the current year from non-functional currency transactions attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates related to intercompany transactions.
- Our U.S. Life Insurance segment increased \$9 million predominantly from our life insurance business largely related to our universal life insurance products driven by less unfavorable mortality experience and a decrease in our in-force block in the current year.

Benefits and other changes in policy reserves. Benefits and other changes in policy reserves consist primarily of claim costs incurred related to mortgage insurance products and benefits paid and reserve activity related to current claims and future policy benefits on insurance and investment products for long-term care, life and accident and health insurance, structured settlements and single premium immediate annuities with life contingencies and lifestyle protection insurance.

- Our U.S. Life Insurance segment increased \$61 million. Our long-term care insurance business increased \$102 million principally attributable to aging and growth of the in-force block, higher severity and frequency on new claims and higher benefits paid on existing claims. The increase in our long-term care insurance business was also attributable to a less favorable impact from reduced benefits related to in-force rate actions of \$20 million in the current year. The current year also included net unfavorable adjustments of \$11 million reflecting a refinement to a reserve calculation on our acquired block of business, partially offset primarily by a favorable correction related to or einsurance primarily offset by favorable mortality on existing claims. Our life insurance business decreased \$31 million primarily related to our term life insurance products from favorable mortality, higher ceded reinsurance and lower reserves on older in-force blocks in the current year. Our fixed annuities business decreased \$10 million largely attributable to favorable mortality in the current year.
- Our International Protection segment increased \$5 million primarily attributable to an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in the second quarter of 2014 that was
 previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting which increased benefits and other changes in policy reserves by \$10 million. This increase was
 partially offset by a decline in new claim registrations in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included a decrease of \$9 million attributable
 to changes in foreign exchange rates.
- Our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment decreased \$13 million primarily from lower reserves on new delinquencies and a continued decline in delinquencies from fewer new delinquencies from factors such as lower foreclosure starts and ongoing loss mitigation efforts. The prior year also included a net reserve strengthening of \$17 million that did not recur. These decreases were partially offset by a lower number of cures on existing delinquencies in the current year.
- Our International Mortgage Insurance segment decreased \$3 million primarily from a decrease of \$5 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. In Australia, losses decreased \$3 million, including a decrease of \$1 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates, primarily driven by a favorable adjustment in the current year of \$7 million related to the expected recovery of claims paid in prior periods and lower paid claims as a result of a decrease in both the number of claims paid and the average claim payment. These decreases were partially offset by an increase from aging of existing delinquencies and a lower cure rate from decreased borrower sales in the current year. In Canada, losses decreased \$1 million due to a decrease of \$3 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in the current year. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, our Canadian mortgage insurance business increased primarily from a higher average reserve per delinquency related to certain regions, partially offset by lower new delinquencies, net of current year.

Interest credited. Interest credited represents interest credited on behalf of policyholder and contractholder general account balances. Our U.S. Life Insurance segment decreased \$4 million related to our fixed annuities business driven by lower crediting rates in the current year.

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals. Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, represent costs and expenses related to the acquisition and ongoing maintenance of insurance and investment contracts, including commissions, policy issuance expenses and other underwriting and general operating costs. These costs and expenses are net of amounts that are capitalized and deferred, which are costs and expenses that are related directly to the successful acquisition of new or renewal insurance policies and investment contracts, such as first-year commissions in excess of ultimate renewal commissions and other policy issuance expenses.

- Our International Protection segment increased \$8 million due to higher commissions of \$22 million related to an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in the second quarter of 2014 that was previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting. This increase was partially offset by lower profit commissions and operating expenses in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included a decrease of \$20 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.
- Our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment increased \$4 million primarily from a write-off of software and higher premium taxes mainly attributable to higher production in the current year.
- Our International Mortgage Insurance segment decreased \$7 million, including a decrease of \$4 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. Our Canadian mortgage insurance business decreased \$9 million mainly driven by lower stock-based compensation expense in the current year. Our Australian mortgage insurance business increased \$3 million primarily from higher operating expenses related to contract fees and higher employee compensation and benefit expenses in the current year.
- · Corporate and Other activities decreased \$4 million largely driven by lower net expenses after allocations to our operating segments in the current year.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles. Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles consists primarily of the amortization of acquisition costs that are capitalized, present value of future profits and capitalized software.

- Our Runoff segment decreased \$6 million principally from favorable equity market performance in the current year.
- Our International Protection segment decreased \$4 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.
- Our U.S. Life Insurance segment decreased \$2 million. Our fixed annuities business decreased \$6 million largely attributable to higher net investment losses in the
 current year. Our life insurance business increased \$4 million largely from higher lapses in our term life insurance products in the current year.

Interest expense. Interest expense represents interest related to our borrowings that are incurred at Genworth Holdings or subsidiaries and our non-recourse funding obligations and interest expense related to the Tax Matters Agreement and certain reinsurance arrangements being accounted for as deposits.

- Corporate and Other activities decreased \$8 million largely driven by the repayment of \$485 million of senior notes in June 2014.
- Our International Protection segment decreased \$6 million mainly due to reinsurance arrangements accounted for under the deposit method of accounting as certain
 of these arrangements were in a lower loss position and a decrease of \$2 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in the current year.
- Our U.S. Life Insurance segment increased \$4 million driven by our life insurance business principally from the impact of credit rating downgrades of our life
 insurance subsidiaries which increased the cost of financing term life insurance reserves in the current year.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate increased to 30.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from 28.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to a release of the valuation allowance and more favorable true up adjustments in the prior year, both of which decreased the effective tax rate in that period. These increases were partially offset by lower taxed foreign income and stock-based compensation, as well as higher benefits from tax favored investments in the current year. The prior year included a change in uncertain tax positions which increased the effective tax rate in that period. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$5 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests represents the portion of income in a subsidiary attributable to third parties. The increase primarily related to the initial public offering ("IPO") of our Australian mortgage insurance business in May 2014, which reduced our ownership percentage to 66.2%, resulting in lower net income of \$21 million in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$6 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders. We had lower net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders in the current year primarily driven by a decrease of \$21 million attributable to the IPO of 33.8% of our Australian mortgage insurance business in May 2014. The decrease was also attributable to higher benefits and other changes in policy reserves in our long-term care insurance business and higher taxes in the current year. These decreases were partially offset higher premiums and lower interest expense in the current year. For a discussion of each of our segments and Corporate and Other activities, see the "—Results of Operations and Selected Financial and Operating Performance Measures by Segment." Included in net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was a decrease of \$8 million, net of taxes, attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Reconciliation of net income to net operating income

Net operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$156 million and \$194 million, respectively. We define net operating income (loss) as income (loss) from continuing operations excluding the after-tax effects of income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net investment gains (losses), goodwill impairments, gains (losses) on the sale of businesses, gains (losses) on the early extinguishment of debt, gains (losses) on insurance block transactions and infrequent or unusual non-operating items. Gains (losses) on insurance block transactions are defined as gains (losses) on the early extinguishment of non-recourse funding obligations, early termination fees for other financing restructuring and/or resulting gains (losses) on reinsurance restructuring for certain blocks of business. We exclude net investment gains (losses) and infrequent or unusual non-operating items because we do not consider them to be related to the operating performance of our segments and Corporate and Other activities. A component of our net investment gains (losses) is the result of impairments, the size and timing of which can vary significantly depending on market credit cycles. In addition, the size and timing of other investment gains (losses) on the sale of businesses, and timing costs are also excluded from net operating income (loss) because, in our opinion, they are not indicative of overall operating trends.

In the first quarter of 2015, we modified our definition to explicitly state that restructuring costs, which were previously included in the infrequent and unusual category, are excluded from net operating income (loss). There were no restructuring costs in the periods presented.

While some of these items may be significant components of net income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we believe that net operating income (loss), and measures that are derived from or incorporate net operating income (loss), are appropriate measures that are useful to investors because they identify the income (loss) attributable to the ongoing operations of the business. Management also uses net operating income (loss) as a basis for determining awards and compensation for senior management and to evaluate performance on a basis comparable to that used by analysts. However, the items excluded from net operating income (loss) have occurred in the past and could, and in some cases will, recur in the future. Net operating income (loss) is not a substitute for net income (loss) available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In addition, our definition of net operating income (loss) may differ from the definitions used by other companies.

The following table includes a reconciliation of net income to net operating income for the periods indicated:

	Three m	onths ended March 31,
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Net income	\$ 204	219
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	154	184
Adjustment to net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders:		
Net investment (gains) losses, net	2	10
Net operating income	\$ 156	\$ 194

Earnings per share

The following table provides basic and diluted net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders and net operating income per common share for the periods indicated:

	Three months ended March 31,	
(Amounts in millions, except per share amounts)	2015	2014
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders per common share:		
Basic	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.37
Diluted	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.37
Net operating income per common share:		
Basic	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.39
Diluted	\$ 0.31	\$ 0.39
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:		
Basic	497.0	495.8
Diluted	498.9	502.7

Results of Operations and Selected Financial and Operating Performance Measures by Segment

Our chief operating decision maker evaluates segment performance and allocates resources on the basis of net operating income. See note 8 in our consolidated financial statements under "Item 1—Financial Statements" for a reconciliation of net operating income of our segments and Corporate and Other activities to net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders.

In the first quarter of 2015, we revised how we allocate our consolidated provision for income taxes to our operating segments to simplify our process and reflect how our chief operating decision maker is evaluating segment performance. Our revised methodology applies a specific tax rate to the pre-tax income (loss) of each segment, which is then adjusted in each segment to reflect the tax attributes of items unique to that segment such as foreign income. The difference between the consolidated provision for income taxes and the sum of the provision for income taxes in each segment is reflected in Corporate and Other activities. Previously, we calculated a unique income tax provision for each segment based on quarterly changes to tax attributes and implications of transactions specific to each product within the segment.

The annually-determined tax rates and adjustments to each segment's provision for income taxes are estimates which are subject to review and could change from year to year. Prior year amounts have not been re-presented to reflect this revised presentation and are, therefore, not comparable to the current year provision for income taxes by segment. However, we do not believe that the previous methodology would have resulted in a materially different segment-level provision for income taxes.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2015, the effective tax rates disclosed herein are calculated using whole dollars. As a result, the percentages shown may differ from an effective tax rate calculated using rounded numbers.

Management's discussion and analysis by segment contains selected operating performance measures including "sales" and "insurance in-force" or "risk in-force" which are commonly used in the insurance industry as measures of operating performance.

Management regularly monitors and reports sales metrics as a measure of volume of new and renewal business generated in a period. Sales refer to: (1) new insurance written for mortgage insurance; (2) annualized first-year premiums for long-term care and term life insurance products; (3) annualized first-year deposits plus 5% of excess deposits for universal and term universal life insurance products; (4) 10% of premium deposits for linked-benefits products; (5) new and additional premiums/deposits for fixed annuities; and (6) net premiums written for our lifestyle protection insurance business. Sales do not include renewal premiums on policies or contracts written during prior periods. We consider new insurance written, annualized first-year premiums/deposits, premium equivalents, new premiums/deposits and net premiums written to be a measure of our operating performance because they represent a measure of new sales of insurance policies or contracts during a specified period, rather than a measure of our revenues or profitability during that period.

Management regularly monitors and reports insurance in-force and risk in-force. Insurance in-force for our international mortgage, U.S. mortgage and life insurance businesses is a measure of the aggregate face value of outstanding insurance policies as of the respective reporting date. For risk in-force in our international mortgage insurance business, we have computed an "effective" risk in-force amount, which recognizes that the loss on any particular loan will be reduced by the net proceeds received upon sale of the property. Effective risk in-force has been calculated by applying to insurance in-force a factor of 35% that represents our highest expected average per-claim payment for any one underwriting year over the life of our businesses in Canada and Australia. Risk in-force for our U.S. mortgage insurance business is our obligation that is limited under contractual terms to the amounts less than 100% of the mortgage loan value. We consider insurance in-force and risk in-force to be measures of our operating performance because they represent measures of the size of our business at a specific date which will generate revenues and profits in a future period, rather than measures of our revenues or profitability during that period.

Management also regularly monitors and reports a loss ratio for our businesses. For our mortgage and lifestyle protection insurance businesses, the loss ratio is the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses to net earned premiums. For our long-term care insurance business, the loss ratio is the ratio of benefits and other changes in reserves less tabular interest on reserves less adjustment expenses to net earned premiums. We consider the loss ratio to be a measure of underwriting performance in these businesses and helps to enhance the understanding of the operating performance of our businesses.

An assumed tax rate of 35% is utilized in certain adjustments to net operating income (loss) and in the explanation of specific variances of operating performance.

These operating performance measures enable us to compare our operating performance across periods without regard to revenues or profitability related to policies or contracts sold in prior periods or from investments or other sources.

The following discussions of our segment results of operations should be read in conjunction with the "-Business trends and conditions"

Global Mortgage Insurance Division

Division results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our Global Mortgage Insurance Division. See below for a discussion by segment.

		onths ended rch 31,	Incre (decre an percer chan	ease) d ntage
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs	. 2014
Net operating income (loss):				
International Mortgage Insurance segment:				
Canada	\$ 40	\$ 41	\$ (1)	(2)%
Australia	30	62	(32)	(52)%
Other Countries	<u>(6</u>)	(4)	(2)	(50)%
International Mortgage Insurance segment	64	99	(35)	(35)%
U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment	52	33	19	58%
Total net operating income	116	132	(16)	(12)%
Adjustment to net operating income:				
Net investment gains (losses), net	(6)	(1)	(5)	NM(1)
Net income available to Genworth's common				
stockholders	110	131	(21)	(16)%
Add: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35	15	43%
Net income	<u>\$ 160</u>	<u>\$ 166</u>	<u>\$ (6</u>)	(4)%

(1) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

International Mortgage Insurance segment

Segment results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our International Mortgage Insurance segment for the periods indicated:

(Amounts in millions)	Three moi Marc 2015	nths ended ch 31, 2014	(dec 2 perc ch	rease rease) nd entage ange vs. 2014
Revenues:				
Premiums	\$ 215	\$ 235	\$(20)	(9)%
Net investment income	66	74	(8)	(11)%
Net investment gains (losses)	(17)	(3)	(14)	NM(1)
Insurance and investment product fees and other	(3)	2	(5)	NM(1)
Total revenues	261	308	(47)	(15)%
Benefits and expenses:				
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	44	47	(3)	(6)%
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	42	49	(7)	(14)%
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	14	15	(1)	(7)%
Interest expense	7	8	(1)	(13)%
Total benefits and expenses	107	119	(12)	(10)%
Income before income taxes	154	189	(35)	(19)%
Provision for income taxes	46	56	(10)	(18)%
Net income	108	133	(25)	(19)%
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	50	35	15	43%
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	58	98	(40)	(41)%
Adjustment to net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders:				
Net investment (gains) losses, net	6	1	5	NM(1)
Net operating income	<u>\$ 64</u>	<u>\$ 99</u>	<u>\$(35</u>)	(35)%

(1) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

The following table sets forth net operating income (loss) for the businesses included in our International Mortgage Insurance segment for the periods indicated:

	Three mon Marc		Incre (decreas percen chan	e) and itage
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs.	. 2014
Net operating income (loss):				
Canada	\$ 40	\$ 41	\$ (1)	(2)%
Australia	30	62	(32)	(52)%
Other Countries	(6)	(4)	(2)	(50)%
Total net operating income	<u>\$ 64</u>	<u>\$ 99</u>	<u>\$(35</u>)	(35)%

Net operating income

- Our Canadian mortgage insurance business decreased \$1 million from a decrease of \$4 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates during the three
 months ended March 31, 2015. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, our Canadian mortgage insurance business increased primarily from lower operating
 expenses and taxes in the current year.
- Our Australian mortgage insurance business decreased \$32 million primarily from the IPO of the business in May 2014 which reduced our ownership percentage to 66.2%, resulting in lower net operating income of \$21 million and higher operating expenses in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included a decrease of \$4 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.
- Other Countries' net operating loss increased \$2 million primarily from higher losses in the current year.

Revenues

Premiums

- Our Canadian mortgage insurance business decreased \$11 million driven by a decrease of \$13 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. Excluding
 the effects of foreign exchange, our Canadian mortgage insurance business increased primarily from the seasoning of our in-force blocks of business.
- Our Australian mortgage insurance business decreased \$8 million primarily from a decrease of \$10 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in the
 current year. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, our Australian mortgage insurance business increased as a result of the seasoning of our in-force block of
 business, partially offset by a decrease in premiums from new business from lower flow volume in the current year.

Net investment income. Net investment income decreased \$8 million primarily from a decrease of \$7 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net investment gains (losses). For further discussion of the change in net investment gains (losses), see the comparison for this line item under "—Investments and Derivative Instruments." Net investment gains (losses) decreased \$14 million primarily related to our Canadian mortgage insurance business driven by derivative losses largely from hedging non-functional currency transactions, partially offset by higher net investment gains related to sales of securities in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included an increase of \$1 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Insurance and investment product fees and other. Insurance and investment product fees and other decreased \$5 million primarily due to non-functional currency transactions attributable to remeasurement and repayment of intercompany loans related to our Australian mortgage insurance business in the current year.

Benefits and expenses

Benefits and other changes in policy reserves

- Our Canadian mortgage insurance business decreased \$1 million due to a decrease of \$3 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in the current year.
 Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, our Canadian mortgage insurance business increased primarily from a higher average reserve per delinquency related to certain regions, partially offset by lower new delinquencies, net of cures, in the current year.
- Our Australian mortgage insurance business decreased \$3 million primarily driven by a favorable adjustment in the current year of \$7 million related to the expected recovery of claims paid in prior periods and lower paid claims as a result of a decrease in both the number of claims paid and the

average claim payment. These decreases were partially offset by an increase from aging of existing delinquencies and a lower cure rate from decreased borrower sales in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included a decrease of \$1 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals

- Our Canadian mortgage insurance business decreased \$9 million mainly driven by lower stock-based compensation expense in the current year. The three months
 ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$1 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.
- Our Australian mortgage insurance business increased \$3 million primarily from higher operating expenses related to contract fees and higher employee compensation and benefit expenses in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 also included a decrease of \$3 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate decreased to 28.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from 29.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to prior year true ups. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$5 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests. The increase primarily related to the IPO of our Australian mortgage insurance business in May 2014, which reduced our ownership percentage to 66.2%, resulting in lower net income of \$21 million in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$6 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

International Mortgage Insurance selected operating performance measures

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our International Mortgage Insurance segment as of or for the dates indicated:

	months er	for the three nded March 31,	Increas (decrease) percenta chang	and age e
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs. 2	014
Primary insurance in-force:				
Canada	\$ 288,800	\$ 291,900	\$ (3,100)	(1)%
Australia	240,900	281,000	(40,100)	(14)%
Other Countries	19,800	26,200	(6,400)	(24)%
Total	<u>\$ 549,500</u>	\$ 599,100	<u>\$(49,600)</u>	(8)%
Risk in-force:				
Canada	\$ 101,100	\$ 102,200	\$ (1,100)	(1)%
Australia	84,300	98,300	(14,000)	(14)%
Other Countries (1)	2,300	3,700	(1,400)	(38)%
Total	\$ 187,700	\$ 204,200	\$(16,500)	(8)%
New insurance written:				
Canada	\$ 8,300	\$ 5,800	\$ 2,500	43%
Australia	5,800	7,800	(2,000)	(26)%
Other Countries	600	400	200	50%
Total	<u>\$ 14,700</u>	\$ 14,000	\$ 700	5%
Net premiums written:				
Canada	\$ 109	\$ 77	\$ 32	42%
Australia	87	126	(39)	(31)%
Other Countries	6	6		— %
Total	<u>\$ 202</u>	\$ 209	\$ (7)	(3)%

(1) Risk in-force as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 excluded \$271 million and \$282 million, respectively, of risk in-force in Europe ceded under quota share reinsurance agreements.

Primary insurance in-force and risk in-force

Our businesses in Australia and Canada currently provide 100% coverage on the majority of the loans we insure in those markets. For the purpose of representing our risk in-force, we have computed an "effective" risk in-force amount, which recognizes that the loss on any particular loan will be reduced by the net proceeds received upon sale of the property. Effective risk in-force has been calculated by applying to insurance in-force a factor that represents our highest expected average per-claim payment for any one underwriting year over the life of our businesses in Australia and Canada. For the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, this factor was 35%.

In Canada, primary insurance in-force and risk in-force decreased \$42.2 billion and \$14.8 billion, respectively, attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, primary insurance in-force and risk in-force increased primarily as a result of flow new insurance written and bulk activity.

In Australia, primary insurance in-force and risk in-force decreased \$52.1 billion and \$18.2 billion, respectively, attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, primary insurance in-force and risk in-force increased primarily from flow new insurance written.

In Other Countries, primary insurance in-force and risk in-force decreased mainly attributable to a lender settlement in Ireland in the fourth quarter of 2014, which reduced risk in-force by \$600 million and decreases of \$5.2 billion and \$0.6 billion, respectively, attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

New insurance written

New insurance written in Canada increased primarily as a result of bulk activity and higher flow new insurance written. The increase in flow new insurance written was primarily driven by higher market penetration and a larger mortgage originations market. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$800 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

New insurance written in Australia decreased mainly attributable to a smaller mortgage insurance originations market in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$700 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

New insurance written in Other Countries increased primary as a result of a bulk transaction in Mexico in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$100 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net premiums written

Most of our international mortgage insurance policies provide for single premiums at the time that loan proceeds are advanced. We initially record the single premiums to unearned premium reserves and recognize the premiums earned over time in accordance with the expected pattern of risk emergence. As of March 31, 2015, our unearned premium reserves were \$2,502 million, including a decrease of \$400 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates, compared to \$2,772 million as of March 31, 2014. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, unearned premium reserves were slightly higher as a result of premiums from new business volume.

In Canada, net premiums written increased primarily from higher flow volume attributable to higher market penetration and a larger mortgage originations market and from bulk activity in the current year. In addition, the price increase on high loan-to-value premiums effective May 1, 2014 resulted in higher net premiums written. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$11 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in Canada.

In Australia, net premiums written decreased primarily from lower flow volume in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$10 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in Australia.

Loss and expense ratios

The following table sets forth the loss and expense ratios for our International Mortgage Insurance segment for the dates indicated:

	Three months end	Three months ended March 31,	
	2015	2014	2015 vs. 2014
Loss ratio:			
Canada	22%	20%	2 %
Australia	15%	17%	(2)%
Other Countries	81%	55%	26 %
Total	21%	20%	1 %
Expense ratio:			
Canada	20%	39%	(19)%
Australia	31%	20%	11 %
Other Countries	132%	142%	(10)%
Total	28%	30%	(2)%

The loss ratio is the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses to net earned premiums. The expense ratio is the ratio of general expenses to net premiums written. In our business, general expenses consist of acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, and amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles.

Loss ratio

The loss ratio in Canada increased primarily from a higher average reserve per delinquency related to certain regions, partially offset by lower new delinquencies, net of cures, in the current year.

The loss ratio in Australia decreased primarily driven by a favorable adjustment in the current year of \$7 million related to the expected recovery of claims paid in prior periods, which decreased the loss ratio by nine points, and lower paid claims as a result of a decrease in both the number of claims paid and the average claim payment. These decreases were partially offset by an increase from aging of existing delinquencies and a lower cure rate from decreased borrower sales in the current year.

In Other Countries, the loss ratio increased primarily from an increase in loss reserves for prior year delinquencies in the current year.

Expense ratio

In Canada, the expense ratio decreased from a lower stock-based compensation expense and higher net premiums written in the current year.

The expense ratio in Australia increased primarily from higher operating expenses related to contract fees, higher employee compensation and benefit expenses and lower net premiums written in the current year.

In Other Countries, the expense ratio decreased slightly primarily from lower operating expenses in the current year.

Delinquent loans

The following table sets forth the number of loans insured, the number of delinquent loans and the delinquency rate for our international mortgage insurance portfolio as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	March 31, 2014
Canada:		·	
Primary insured loans in-force	1,704,483	1,673,505	1,549,650
Delinquent loans	1,792	1,756	1,860
Percentage of delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.11%	0.10%	0.12%
Flow loan in-force	1,266,626	1,255,050	1,197,083
Flow delinquent loans	1,532	1,493	1,634
Percentage of flow delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.12%	0.12%	0.14%
Bulk loans in-force	437,857	418,455	352,567
Bulk delinquent loans	260	263	226
Percentage of bulk delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.06%	0.06%	0.06%
Australia:			
Primary insured loans in-force	1,498,197	1,496,616	1,477,063
Delinquent loans	5,378	4,953	5,070
Percentage of delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.36%	0.33%	0.34%
Flow loan in-force	1,382,156	1,378,584	1,355,635
Flow delinquent loans	5,112	4,714	4,813
Percentage of flow delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.37%	0.34%	0.36%
Bulk loans in-force	116,041	118,032	121,428
Bulk delinquent loans	266	239	257
Percentage of bulk delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.23%	0.20%	0.21%
Other Countries:			
Primary insured loans in-force	194,434	180,781	190,955
Delinquent loans	7,978	7,806	9,988
Percentage of delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	4.10%	4.32%	5.23%
Flow loan in-force	109,970	109,910	113,483
Flow delinquent loans	4,652	4,591	6,599
Percentage of flow delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	4.23%	4.18%	5.82%
Bulk loans in-force	84,464	70,871	77,472
Bulk delinquent loans	3,326	3,215	3,389
Percentage of bulk delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	3.94%	4.54%	4.37%
Total:			
Primary insured loans in-force	3,397,114	3,350,902	3,217,668
Delinquent loans	15,148	14,515	16,918
Percentage of delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.45%	0.43%	0.53%
Flow loan in-force	2,758,752	2,743,544	2,666,201
Flow delinquent loans	11,296	10,798	13,046
Percentage of flow delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.41%	0.39%	0.49%
Bulk loans in-force	638,362	607,358	551,467
Bulk delinquent loans (1)	3,852	3,717	3,872
Percentage of bulk delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	0.60%	0.61%	0.70%

(1) Included loans where we were in a secondary loss position for which no reserve was established due to an existing deductible. Excluding these loans, bulk delinquent loans were 3,821 as of March 31, 2015, 3,690 as of December 31, 2014 and 3,842 as of March 31, 2014.

In Canada, flow loans in-force increased from new policies written and bulk loans in-force increased from bulk activity.

In Australia, flow loans in-force increased as a result of new policies written and flow delinquent loans increased as new delinquencies more than offset cures and paid claims. Bulk loans in-force decreased due to cancellations in the current year.

In Other Countries, flow loans in-force and flow delinquent loans decreased compared to March 31, 2014 mainly attributable to a lender settlement in Ireland in the fourth quarter of 2014, which resulted in a decrease of 2,634 delinquent loans. Bulk loans in-force increased from a bulk transaction in Mexico in the current year.

U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment

Segment results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment for the periods indicated:

		onths ended rch 31,	Incre (decrea) perce cha	se) and ntage nge
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs	. 2014
Revenues:				
Premiums	\$ 150	\$ 137	\$ 13	9%
Net investment income	19	18	1	6%
Net investment gains (losses)			_	%
Insurance and investment product fees and other	1		1	NM(1)
Total revenues	170	155	15	10%
Benefits and expenses:				
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	50	63	(13)	(21)%
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	37	33	4	12%
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	2	2		%
Total benefits and expenses	89	98	(9)	(9)%
Income before income taxes	81	57	24	42%
Provision for income taxes	29	24	5	21%
Net income	52	33	19	58%
Adjustment to net income:				
Net investment (gains) losses, net				%
Net operating income	<u>\$ 52</u>	\$ 33	<u>\$ 19</u>	58%

(1) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

Net operating income

The increase in net operating income was mainly attributable to higher premiums from higher average flow insurance in-force and lower reserves on new delinquencies and a decline in the number of new delinquencies, partially offset by lower cures on existing delinquencies in the current year.

Revenues

Premiums increased mainly attributable to higher average flow insurance in-force in the current year.

Benefits and expenses

Benefits and other changes in policy reserves decreased primarily driven by lower reserves on new delinquencies and a continued decline in delinquencies from fewer new delinquencies from factors such as lower foreclosure starts and ongoing loss mitigation efforts. The prior year also included a net reserve strengthening of \$17 million that did not recur. These decreases were partially offset by a lower number of cures on existing delinquencies in the current year.

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, increased primarily from a write-off of software and higher premium taxes mainly attributable to higher production in the current year.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate decreased to 35.7% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from 42.1% for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to changes in the state tax valuation allowance and the loss of foreign credits in the prior year, both of which increased the effective tax rate in the prior year. These decreases were partially offset by higher state taxes and lower benefits from tax favored investments in the current year.

U.S. Mortgage Insurance selected operating performance measures

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment as of or for the dates indicated:

	As of or for the three months ended March 31,		Increase (decrease) and percentage change	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs. 2	2014
Primary insurance in-force	\$115,200	\$109,100	\$6,100	6%
Risk in-force	28,900	27,000	1,900	7%
New insurance written	6,300	3,900	2,400	62%
Net premiums written	170	144	26	18%

Primary insurance in-force and risk in-force

Primary insurance in-force increased primarily as a result of the increase of \$7.0 billion in flow insurance in-force, which increased from \$104.9 billion as of March 31, 2014 to \$111.9 billion as of March 31, 2015 as a result of new insurance written during the current year. The increase in flow insurance in-force was partially offset by a decline of \$0.9 billion in bulk insurance in-force, which decreased from \$4.2 billion as of March 31, 2014 to \$3.3 billion as of March 31, 2015 from cancellations and lapses. In addition, risk in-force increased primarily as a result of higher flow insurance in-force. Flow persistency was 81% and 85% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

New insurance written

New insurance written increased in the current year primarily driven by an increase in both our market share and the mortgage insurance originations market. Mortgage refinance originations also increased as a result of lower interest rates during the current year.

Net premiums written

Net premiums written increased due to higher new insurance written and average flow insurance in-force in the current year.

Loss and expense ratios

The following table sets forth the loss and expense ratios for our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment for the dates indicated:

		Three months ended March 31,		
	2015	2014	2015 vs. 2014	
Loss ratio	33%	46%	(13)%	
Expense ratio	23%	24%	(1)%	

The loss ratio is the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses to net earned premiums. The expense ratio is the ratio of general expenses to net premiums written. In our business, general expenses consist of acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, and amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles.

The decrease in the loss ratio was primarily driven by lower reserves on new delinquencies and a continued decline in delinquencies from fewer new delinquencies from factors such as lower foreclosure starts and ongoing loss mitigation efforts. The prior year also included a net reserve strengthening of \$17 million that did not recur. These decreases were partially offset by lower number of cures on existing delinquencies in the current year.

The decrease in the expense ratio was primarily from higher net premiums written, partially offset by a write-off of software and higher premium taxes mainly attributable to higher production in the current year

Delinquent loans

The following table sets forth the number of loans insured, the number of delinquent loans and the delinquency rate for our U.S. mortgage insurance portfolio as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	March 31, 2014
Primary insurance:			
Insured loans in-force	631,591	630,852	618,442
Delinquent loans	35,665	39,786	45,861
Percentage of delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	5.65%	6.31%	7.42%
Flow loan in-force	601,472	599,206	582,553
Flow delinquent loans	34,220	38,177	43,733
Percentage of flow delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	5.69%	6.37%	7.51%
Bulk loans in-force	30,119	31,646	35,889
Bulk delinquent loans (1)	1,445	1,609	2,128
Percentage of bulk delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	4.80%	5.08%	5.93%
A minus and sub-prime loans in-force	33,805	33,529	37,714
A minus and sub-prime loans delinquent loans	7,019	7,851	8,789
Percentage of A minus and sub-prime delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	20.76%	23.42%	23.30%
Pool insurance:			
Insured loans in-force	7,979	8,282	10,710
Delinquent loans	468	521	575
Percentage of delinquent loans (delinquency rate)	5.87%	6.29%	5.37%

(1) Included loans where we were in a secondary loss position for which no reserve was established due to an existing deductible. Excluding these loans, bulk delinquent loans were 984 as of March 31, 2015, 1,109 as of December 31, 2014 and 1,434 as of March 31, 2014.

Delinquency and foreclosure levels that developed principally in our 2005 through 2008 book years have declined as the United States has continued to experience improvement in its residential real estate market. We also have seen a decline in new delinquencies and lower foreclosure starts in the current year.

The following tables set forth flow delinquencies, direct case reserves and risk in-force by aged missed payment status in our U.S. mortgage insurance portfolio as of the dates indicated:

		March 31, 2015						
(Dollar amounts in millions)	Delinquencies	Direct case reserves ⁽¹⁾	Risk in- force	Reserves as % of risk in-force				
Payments in default:								
3 payments or less	8,895	\$ 57	\$ 360	16%				
4-11 payments	8,792	223	361	62%				
12 payments or more	16,533	712	825	86%				
Total	34,220	\$ 992	\$1,546	64%				

(1) Direct flow case reserves exclude loss adjustment expenses, incurred but not reported and reinsurance reserves.

	December 31, 2014							
Delinquencies	Direct case reserves ⁽¹⁾	Risk in- force	Reserves as % of risk in-force					
10,849	\$ 76	\$ 426	18%					
9,368	238	383	62%					
17,960	751	895	84%					
38,177	\$ 1,065	\$1,704	63%					
	10,849 9,368 	Delinquencies Direct case reserves ⁽¹⁾ 10,849 \$ 76 9,368 238 17,960 751 38,177 \$ 1,065	Delinquencies Direct case reserves ⁽¹⁾ Risk in- force 10,849 \$ 76 \$ 426 9,368 238 383 17,960 751 895					

(1) Direct flow case reserves exclude loss adjustment expenses, incurred but not reported and reinsurance reserves.

Primary insurance delinquency rates differ from region to region in the United States at any one time depending upon economic conditions and cyclical growth patterns. The tables below set forth our primary delinquency rates for the various regions of the United States and the 10 largest states by our risk in-force as of the dates indicated. Delinquency rates are shown by region based upon the location of the underlying property, rather than the location of the lender.

	Percent of primary	Percent of total reserves as of		Delinquency rate	
	risk in-force as of M March 31, 2015		March 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	March 31, 2014
By Region:					
Southeast (2)	20%	26%	6.92%	7.89%	9.85%
South Central (3)	16	7	4.03%	4.50%	5.10%
Northeast (4)	15	30	10.04%	10.83%	11.60%
Pacific (5)	12	10	4.03%	4.51%	5.77%
North Central (6)	12	9	4.72%	5.35%	6.59%
Great Lakes (7)	10	5	3.96%	4.48%	5.33%
New England (8)	6	6	5.75%	6.34%	7.15%
Mid-Atlantic (9)	5	5	5.71%	6.32%	7.32%
Plains (10)	4	2	3.88%	4.39%	4.76%
Total	100%	100%	5.65%	6.31%	7.42%

(1) Total reserves were \$1,087 million as of March 31, 2015.

(2) Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee.

(3) Arizona, Colorado, Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Texas and Utah.

(4) New Jersey, New York and Pennsylvania.

(5) Alaska, California, Hawaii, Nevada, Oregon and Washington.

(6) Illinois, Minnesota, Missouri and Wisconsin.

(7) Indiana, Kentucky, Michigan and Ohio.

(8) Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island and Vermont.

(9) Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, Washington D.C. and West Virginia.

(10) Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Montana, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota and Wyoming.

	Percent of primary	Percent of total reserves as of		Delinquency rate	
	risk in-force as of March 31, 2015	March 31, 2015	March 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	March 31, 2014
By State:					
California	7%	3%	2.75%	3.09%	3.78%
Texas	7%	3%	3.97%	4.55%	4.89%
New York	6%	14%	10.11%	10.88%	11.34%
Florida	6%	17%	10.87%	12.61%	17.49%
Illinois	5%	6%	5.98%	6.76%	8.73%
New Jersey	4%	12%	14.40%	15.15%	16.27%
Pennsylvania	4%	4%	6.94%	7.78%	8.67%
Ohio	4%	2%	4.61%	5.06%	6.01%
Georgia	4%	3%	5.60%	6.39%	7.37%
North Carolina	3%	2%	5.20%	5.59%	6.58%

(1) Total reserves were \$1,087 million as of March 31, 2015.

The following table sets forth the dispersion of our total reserves and primary insurance in-force and risk in-force by year of policy origination and average annual mortgage interest rate as of March 31, 2015:

	Average	Percent of total	Primary insurance	Percent	Primary risk	Percent
(Amounts in millions)	rate	reserves (1)	in-force	of total	in-force	of total
Policy Year						
2004 and prior	6.09%	12.2%	\$ 5,110	4.4%	\$ 1,164	4.0%
2005	5.66%	12.3	4,378	3.8	1,173	4.1
2006	5.90%	17.7	6,919	6.0	1,765	6.1
2007	5.82%	36.9	16,817	14.6	4,223	14.7
2008	5.35%	17.8	14,748	12.8	3,732	12.9
2009	4.96%	0.7	2,372	2.1	545	1.9
2010	4.69%	0.6	3,129	2.7	750	2.6
2011	4.51%	0.5	4,224	3.7	1,061	3.7
2012	3.80%	0.5	10,533	9.1	2,672	9.3
2013	3.97%	0.5	18,003	15.6	4,497	15.6
2014	4.39%	0.3	22,690	19.7	5,669	19.7
2015	4.08%		6,320	5.5	1,551	5.4
Total portfolio	4.93%	100.0%	\$115,243	100.0%	\$28,802	100.0%

(1) Total reserves were \$1,087 million as of March 31, 2015.

U.S. Life Insurance Division

Division results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our U.S. Life Insurance Division. See below for a discussion by segment.

	Three months ended March 31,		Increase (decrease) and percentage change	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs	s. 2014
Net operating income:				
U.S. Life Insurance segment:				
Long-term care insurance	\$ 10	\$ 46	\$(36)	(78)%
Life insurance	40	21	19	90%
Fixed annuities	31	27	4	15%
U.S. Life Insurance segment	81	94	(13)	(14)%
Total net operating income	81	94	(13)	(14)%
Adjustment to net operating income:				
Net investment gains (losses), net	(1)	1	(2)	(200)%
Net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ 80</u>	<u>\$ 95</u>	<u>\$(15</u>)	(16)%



U.S. Life Insurance segment

Segment results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our U.S. Life Insurance segment for the periods indicated:

	Three mo Mar	Increase (decrease) and percentage change		
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2015 2014		s. 2014
Revenues:				
Premiums	\$ 778	\$ 759	\$ 19	3%
Net investment income	671	660	11	2%
Net investment gains (losses)	(4)	3	(7)	NM(1)
Insurance and investment product fees and other	180	171	9	5%
Total revenues	1,625	1,593	32	2%
Benefits and expenses:				
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	1,091	1,030	61	6%
Interest credited	150	154	(4)	(3)%
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	163	161	2	1%
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	73	75	(2)	(3)%
Interest expense	25	21	4	19%
Total benefits and expenses	1,502	1,441	61	4%
Income before income taxes	123	152	(29)	(19)%
Provision for income taxes	43	57	(14)	(25)%
Net income	80	95	(15)	(16)%
Adjustment to net income:				
Net investment (gains) losses, net	1	(1)	2	200%
Net operating income	<u>\$ 81</u>	<u>\$94</u>	<u>\$(13)</u>	(14)%

(1) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

The following table sets forth net operating income for the businesses included in our U.S. Life Insurance segment for the periods indicated:

				Incre	ease
				(decrea:	se) and
	Т	Three months ended		perce	ntage
		March 31,			ıge
(Amounts in millions)	201	5	2014	2015 vs	. 2014
Net operating income:					
Long-term care insurance	\$	10	\$ 46	\$(36)	(78)%
Life insurance		40	21	19	90%
Fixed annuities		31	27	4	15%
Total net operating income	<u>\$</u>	81	\$ 94	<u>\$(13)</u>	(14)%

Net operating income

- Our long-term care insurance business decreased \$36 million largely as a result of higher severity and frequency on new claims and higher benefits paid on existing claims, partially offset by higher investment income in the current year. The current year also included net unfavorable adjustments of \$7 million reflecting a refinement to a reserve calculation on our acquired block of business, partially offset primarily by a favorable correction related to reinsurance.
- Our life insurance business increased \$19 million principally from favorable mortality in the current year.
- Our fixed annuities business increased \$4 million primarily related to favorable mortality in the current year.

Revenues

Premiums

- Our long-term care insurance business increased \$24 million largely from \$22 million of increased premiums from in-force rate actions in the current year.
- Our life insurance business decreased \$4 million primarily related to our term life insurance products driven primarily by higher ceded reinsurance in the current year.

Net investment income

- Our long-term care insurance business increased \$23 million largely from higher average invested assets due to growth of our in-force block, favorable prepayment speed adjustments on structured securities and higher gains of \$3 million from bond calls and mortgage loan prepayments, partially offset by lower reinvestment yields and an \$8 million favorable correction to investment amortization for preferred stock in the prior year that did not recur.
- Our fixed annuities business decreased \$11 million largely due to lower reinvestment yields and lower gains of \$3 million from limited partnerships, partially offset by higher average invested assets in the current year.

Net investment gains (losses). For further discussion of the change in net investment gains (losses), see the comparison for this line item under "--Investments and Derivative Instruments."

- Net investment gains in our long-term care insurance business increased \$3 million predominantly from derivative gains, partially offset by net investment losses from the sale of investment securities.
- Net investment gains in our life insurance business increased \$2 million predominantly from higher net investment gains from the sale of investment securities.
- In the current year, net investment losses of \$10 million in our fixed annuities business were principally related to losses on embedded derivatives related to our
 fixed indexed annuities and net investment losses from the sale of investment securities, partially offset by derivative gains. Net investment gains of \$2 million in
 the prior year were primarily related to derivative gains, partially offset by losses on embedded derivatives related to our fixed indexed annuities.

Insurance and investment product fees and other. The increase was primarily attributable to our life insurance business largely related to our universal life insurance products driven by less unfavorable mortality experience and a decrease in our in-force block in the current year.

Benefits and expenses

Benefits and other changes in policy reserves

- Our long-term care insurance business increased \$102 million principally from aging and growth of the in-force block, higher severity and frequency on new claims and higher benefits paid on existing claims. The increase was also attributable to a less favorable impact from reduced benefits related to in-force rate actions of \$20 million in the current year. The current year also included net unfavorable adjustments of \$11 million reflecting a refinement to a reserve calculation on our acquired block of business, partially offset primarily by a favorable correction related to reinsurance. These increases were partially offset by favorable mortality on existing claims.
- Our life insurance business decreased \$31 million primarily related to our term life insurance products largely from favorable mortality, higher ceded reinsurance
 and lower reserves on older in-force blocks in the current year.
- Our fixed annuities business decreased \$10 million largely attributable to favorable mortality in the current year.

Interest credited. The decrease in interest credited was related to our fixed annuities business driven by lower crediting rates in the current year.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles

- Our life insurance business increased \$4 million largely from higher lapses in our term life insurance products in the current year.
- Our fixed annuities business decreased \$6 million largely attributable to higher net investment losses in the current year.

Interest expense. Interest expense increased driven by our life insurance business principally from the impact of credit rating downgrades of our life insurance subsidiaries which increased the cost of financing term life insurance reserves in the current year.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate decreased to 35.3% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from 37.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to favorable state taxes compared to the prior year and unfavorable tax adjustments recorded in the prior year.

U.S. Life Insurance selected operating performance measures

Long-term care insurance

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our individual and group long-term care insurance products for the periods indicated:

(Amounts in millions)	 Three months ended March 31, 2015 2014		Increa (decrease percent <u>chang</u> 2015 vs.) and age ge
Net earned premiums:	 			
Individual long-term care insurance	\$ 561	\$ 539	\$ 22	4%
Group long-term care insurance	28	26	2	8%
Total	\$ 589	<u>\$ 565</u>	<u>\$ 24</u>	4%
Annualized first-year premiums and deposits:				
Individual long-term care insurance	\$ 10	\$ 21	\$ (11)	(52)%
Group long-term care insurance	1	1		— %
Annualized first-year premiums and deposits	\$ 11	\$ 22	<u>\$ (11</u>)	(50)%
Loss ratio	72%	63%	9%	

The loss ratio is the ratio of benefits and other changes in reserves less tabular interest on reserves less loss adjustment expenses to net earned premiums.

Net earned premiums increased mainly attributable to \$22 million of increased premiums from in-force rate actions in the current year.

Annualized first-year premiums and deposits decreased principally from higher pricing on the product introduced in 2014 and certain distributor suspensions driven by rating agency actions in the fourth quarter of 2014.

The loss ratio increased for the three months ended March 31, 2015 largely from aging and growth of the in-force block and higher severity and frequency on new claims. The current year also included net unfavorable adjustments of \$11 million reflecting a refinement to a reserve calculation on our acquired block of business, partially offset primarily by a favorable correction related to reinsurance. These increases were partially offset by favorable mortality on existing claims.

Life insurance

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our life insurance business as of or for the dates indicated:

		months ended March 31,	(decre perc ch	crease case) and centage ange
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015	vs. 2014
Term and whole life insurance				
Net earned premiums	\$ 179	\$ 183	\$ (4)	(2)%
Sales	9	13	(4)	(31)%
Life insurance in-force, net of reinsurance	315,478	338,372	(22,894)	(7)%
Life insurance in-force before reinsurance	520,749	523,925	(3,176)	(1)%
Term universal life insurance				
Net deposits	\$ 66	\$ 69	\$ (3)	(4)%
Life insurance in-force, net of reinsurance	127,508	131,256	(3,748)	(3)%
Life insurance in-force before reinsurance	128,498	132,294	(3,796)	(3)%
Universal life insurance				
Net deposits	\$ 141	\$ 128	\$ 13	10%
Sales:				
Universal life insurance	4	6	(2)	(33)%
Linked-benefits	4	2	2	100%
Life insurance in-force, net of reinsurance	41,576	42,814	(1,238)	(3)%
Life insurance in-force before reinsurance	48,133	49,418	(1,285)	(3)%
Total life insurance				
Net earned premiums and deposits	\$ 386	\$ 380	\$6	2%
Sales:				
Term life insurance	9	13	(4)	(31)%
Universal life insurance	4	6	(2)	(33)%
Linked-benefits	4	2	2	100%
Life insurance in-force, net of reinsurance	484,562	512,442	(27,880)	(5)%
Life insurance in-force before reinsurance	697,380	705,637	(8,257)	(1)%

Term and whole life insurance

Net earned premiums decreased primarily due to higher ceded reinsurance in the current year. Sales of our term life insurance product have decreased predominantly related to our focus on shifting to a broader portfolio of competitive universal life insurance products. The decrease in life insurance in-force was predominantly related to a reinsurance transaction in the current year.

Term universal life insurance

We no longer solicit sales of term universal life insurance products; however, we continue to service our existing block of business.

Universal life insurance

Net deposits increased primarily related to higher production of our linked-benefits product in the current year. Our life insurance in-force decreased primarily from higher lapses of older issued policies, partially offset by an increase in deposits in the current year.

Fixed annuities

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our fixed annuities as of or for the dates indicated:

		As of or for the three months ended March 31,	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	
Single Premium Deferred Annuities			
Account value, beginning of period	\$ 12,437	\$ 11,807	
Deposits	310	496	
Surrenders, benefits and product charges ⁽¹⁾	(352)	(313)	
Net flows	(42)	183	
Interest credited and investment performance (1)	82	80	
Account value, end of period	<u>\$ 12,477</u>	\$ 12,070	
Single Premium Immediate Annuities			
Account value, beginning of period	\$ 5,763	\$ 5,837	
Premiums and deposits	40	49	
Surrenders, benefits and product charges	(211)	(215)	
Net flows	(171)	(166)	
Interest credited	64	68	
Effect of accumulated net unrealized investment gains (losses)	69	136	
Account value, end of period	<u>\$ 5,725</u>	\$ 5,875	
Structured Settlements			
Account value, net of reinsurance, beginning of period	\$ 1,078	\$ 1,093	
Surrenders, benefits and product charges	(15)	(15)	
Net flows	(15)	(15)	
Interest credited	14	14	
Account value, net of reinsurance, end of period	<u>\$ 1,077</u>	\$ 1,092	
Total premiums from fixed annuities	\$ 10	\$ 11	
Total deposits from fixed annuities	\$ 340	\$ 534	

(1) Amounts for prior periods have been re-presented as a result of classification differences between surrenders, benefits and product charges and interest credited and investment performance. There was no impact on total account value, end of the period from the classification changes.

Single Premium Deferred Annuities

Account value of our single premium deferred annuities increased as deposits and interest credited and investment performance outpaced surrenders. Sales declined primarily related to suspension of our products by distributors driven by the rating actions in the fourth quarter of 2014 and from pressured current market conditions and continued low interest rates.

Single Premium Immediate Annuities

Account value of our single premium immediate annuities decreased as benefits exceeded premiums and deposits, interest credited and net unrealized investment gains. Sales declined primarily related to suspension of our products by distributors driven by the rating actions in the fourth quarter of 2014 and from pressured current market conditions and continued low interest rates.

Structured Settlements

We no longer solicit sales of structured settlements; however, we continue to service our existing block of business.

Valuation systems and processes

Our U.S. Life Insurance segment will continue to migrate to a new valuation and projection platform for certain lines of business, while we upgrade platforms for other lines of business. The migration and upgrades are part of our ongoing efforts to improve the infrastructure and capabilities of our information systems and our routine assessment and refinement of financial, actuarial, investment and risk management capabilities enterprise wide. These efforts will also provide our U.S. Life Insurance segment with improved platforms to support emerging accounting guidance and ongoing changes in capital regulations. Concurrently, valuation processes and methodologies will be reviewed. Any material changes in balances, margins or income trends that may result from these activities will be disclosed accordingly.

Corporate and Other Division

Division results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our Corporate and Other Division. See below for a discussion by segment and Corporate and Other activities.

(Amounts in millions)	Three mon Marcl 2015		Increa (decrea percea chai 2015 ys	se) and ntage nge
Net operating income (loss):	2013	2014	2013 13	2014
International Protection segment	\$ —	\$7	\$ (7)	(100)%
Runoff segment	11	12	(1)	(8)%
Corporate and Other activities	(52)	(51)	(1)	(2)%
Total net operating loss	(41)	(32)	(9)	(28)%
Adjustment to net operating loss:				
Net investment gains (losses), net	5	(10)	15	150%
Net loss available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders	<u>\$ (36</u>)	<u>\$ (42</u>)	<u>\$6</u>	14%

International Protection segment

Segment results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our International Protection segment for the periods indicated:

			Incre (decreas	
		Three months ended March 31,		
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs	. 2014
Revenues:				
Premiums	\$ 180	\$ 175	\$5	3%
Net investment income	22	30	(8)	(27)%
Net investment gains (losses)	—	1	(1)	(100)%
Insurance and investment product fees and other		1	(1)	(100)%
Total revenues	202	207	(5)	(2)%
Benefits and expenses:				
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	51	46	5	11%
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	117	109	8	7%
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	26	30	(4)	(13)%
Interest expense	9	15	(6)	(40)%
Total benefits and expenses	203	200	3	2%
Income before income taxes	(1)	7	(8)	(114)%
Benefit for income taxes	(1)	(1)		— %
Net income	_	8	(8)	(100)%
Adjustment to net income:				
Net investment (gains) losses, net		(1)	1	100%
Net operating income	<u>\$ </u>	\$ 7	<u>\$ (7</u>)	(100)%

Net operating income

Net operating income decreased primarily from higher commissions and claim reserves, partially offset by higher premiums in the current year.

Revenues

Premiums increased \$5 million primarily driven by an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in the second quarter of 2014 that was previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting which increased premiums by \$32 million and higher volume driven by growth. These increases were partially offset by lower premiums from our runoff clients and a favorable adjustment of \$4 million in the prior year related to German premium taxes that did not recur. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$32 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Net investment income decreased principally attributable to reinsurance agreements accounted for under the deposit method of accounting as certain of these arrangements were in a lower gain position in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$3 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Benefits and expenses

Benefits and other changes in policy reserves increased primarily driven by \$10 million related to an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in the second quarter of 2014 that was previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting, partially offset by a decline in new claim registrations in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$9 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, increased largely from higher commissions of \$22 million related to an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in the second quarter of 2014 that was previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting. This increase was partially offset by lower profit commissions and lower operating expenses in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$20 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2015 from a decrease of \$4 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest expense decreased mainly due to reinsurance arrangements accounted for under the deposit method of accounting as certain of these arrangements were in a lower loss position in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$2 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate increased to 35.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from (14.3)% for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The increase in effective tax rate was primarily attributable to a favorable tax adjustment in the prior year, partially offset by lower foreign income in the current year.

International Protection selected operating performance measures

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our International Protection segment for the periods indicated:

(Amounts in millions)	Marc	/	Increa (decrease percen chan	e) and tage ge
Net Premiums Written:	2015	2014	2015 vs.	2014
Northern Europe	\$ 82	\$ 115	\$ (33)	(29)%
Southern Europe	100	108	(8)	(7)%
Structured Deals (1)	58	1	57	NM(2)
New Markets	6	11	(5)	(45)%
Pre-deposit accounting basis (1)	246	235	11	5%
Deposit accounting adjustments (1)	53	39	14	36%
Total	<u>\$ 193</u>	\$ 196	<u>\$ (3</u>)	(2)%
Loss ratio	28 %	26 %	2 %	

(1) Amounts for prior period has been re-presented as a result of classification differences between pre-deposit accounting amounts and deposit accounting adjustments. There was no impact on total net premiums written from the classification changes.

(2) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

The loss ratio is the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses to net earned premiums.

Net premiums written decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2015 including a decrease of \$36 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates. Excluding the effects of foreign exchange, net premiums written increased primarily from an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in second quarter of 2014 that was previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting and from growth in France, Italy and Germany in the current year. These increases were partially offset by lower premiums from our runoff clients and a favorable adjustment related to German premium taxes in the prior year that did not recur.

The loss ratio increased driven mainly by an amendment to a reinsurance agreement in second quarter of 2014 that was previously accounted for under the deposit method of accounting, which impacted both benefits and premiums. The increase was also driven by a decrease in premiums from our runoff clients and a favorable adjustment related to German premium taxes in the prior year, partially offset by higher premium volume driven by growth.

Runoff segment

Segment results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to our Runoff segment for the periods indicated:

		nths ended ch 31,	Incr (decrea perce cha	se) and		
(Amounts in millions)	2015			<u> </u>		s. 2014
Revenues:						
Premiums	\$ —	\$ 1	\$(1)	(100)%		
Net investment income	31	32	(1)	(3)%		
Net investment gains (losses)	(6)	(13)	7	54%		
Insurance and investment product fees and other	49	53	<u>(4</u>)	(8)%		
Total revenues	74	73	1	1%		
Benefits and expenses:						
Benefits and other changes in policy reserves	7	8	(1)	(13)%		
Interest credited	30	29	1	3%		
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	19	20	(1)	(5)%		
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	5	11	(6)	(55)%		
Total benefits and expenses	61	68	(7)	(10)%		
Income before income taxes	13	5	8	160%		
Provision for income taxes	3		3	NM(1)		
Net income	10	5	5	100%		
Adjustment to net income:						
Net investment (gains) losses, net	1	7	(6)	(86)%		
Net operating income	<u>\$ 11</u>	\$ 12	<u>\$(1</u>)	(8)%		

(1) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

Net operating income

Net operating income decreased marginally as less favorable taxes were mostly offset by favorable equity market performance in the current year.

Revenues

The net investment losses decreased primarily related to lower net losses on embedded derivatives associated with our variable annuity products with GMWBs in the current year. The decrease was also attributable to net investment gains from the sale of investment securities in the current year compared to net investment losses in the prior year, partially offset by lower derivative gains in the current year.

Insurance and investment product fees and other decreased mainly attributable to lower account values in our variable annuity products in the current year.

Benefits and expenses

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles related to our variable annuity products decreased principally from favorable equity market performance in the current year.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate increased to 26.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from zero for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily driven by a change in valuation allowance in the prior year.

Runoff selected operating performance measures

Variable annuity and variable life insurance products

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our variable annuity and variable life insurance products as of or for the dates indicated:

	As of or for t months ended	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Variable Annuities—Income Distribution Series ⁽¹⁾		
Account value, beginning of period	\$ 5,666	\$ 6,061
Deposits	9	16
Surrenders, benefits and product charges	(190)	(198)
Net flows	(181)	(182)
Interest credited and investment performance	110	111
Account value, end of period	<u>\$ 5,595</u>	\$ 5,990
Traditional Variable Annuities		
Account value, net of reinsurance, beginning of period	\$ 1,455	\$ 1,643
Deposits	2	3
Surrenders, benefits and product charges	(75)	(78)
Net flows	(73)	(75)
Interest credited and investment performance	40	30
Account value, net of reinsurance, end of period	\$ 1,422	\$ 1,598
Variable Life Insurance		
Account value, beginning of period	\$ 313	\$ 316
Deposits	2	2
Surrenders, benefits and product charges	(8)	(11)
Net flows	(6)	(9)
Interest credited and investment performance	9	6
Account value, end of period	\$ 316	\$ 313

(1) The Income Distribution Series products are comprised of our deferred and immediate variable annuity products, including those variable annuity products with rider options that provide guaranteed income benefits, including GMWBs and certain types of guaranteed annuitization benefits. These products do not include fixed single premium immediate annuities or deferred annuities, which may also serve income distribution needs.



Variable Annuities—Income Distribution Series

Account value related to our Income Distribution Series products decreased primarily related to surrenders outpacing favorable equity market performance and interest credited. We no longer solicit sales of our variable annuities; however, we continue to service our existing block of business and accept additional deposits on existing contracts.

Traditional Variable Annuities

In our traditional variable annuities, the decrease in account value was primarily the result of surrenders outpacing favorable equity market performance. We no longer solicit sales of our variable annuities; however, we continue to service our existing block of business and accept additional deposits on existing contracts.

Variable Life Insurance

We no longer solicit sales of variable life insurance; however, we continue to service our existing block of business.

Institutional products

The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures regarding our institutional products as of or for the dates indicated:

	As of or for months ender	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
GICs, FABNs and Funding Agreements		
Account value, beginning of period	\$ 493	\$ 896
Surrenders and benefits	(3)	(7)
Net flows	(3)	(7)
Interest credited	1	2
Account value, end of period	<u>\$ 491</u>	\$ 891

Account value related to our institutional products decreased mainly attributable to scheduled maturities of these products. We consider the issuance of our institutional contracts on an opportunistic basis.

Corporate and Other Activities

Results of operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations relating to Corporate and Other activities for the periods indicated:

	Three months ended March 31,		Increase (decrease) and percentage change	
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014	2015 vs.	. 2014
Revenues:				
Net investment income	\$ (6)	\$ (9)	\$ 3	33%
Net investment gains (losses)	11	(5)	16	NM(1)
Insurance and investment product fees and other	(2)		(2)	NM(1)
Total revenues	3	(14)	17	121%
Benefits and expenses:				
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals	2	6	(4)	(67)%
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles	1	1	_	— %
Interest expense	75	83	(8)	(10)%
Total benefits and expenses	78	90	(12)	(13)%
Loss before income taxes	(75)	(104)	29	28%
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(29)	(49)	20	41%
Net loss	(46)	(55)	9	16%
Adjustment to net loss:				
Net investment (gains) losses, net	(6)	4	(10)	NM(1)
Net operating loss	<u>\$ (52</u>)	\$ (51)	<u>\$ (1</u>)	(2)%

(1) We define "NM" as not meaningful for increases or decreases greater than 200%.

Net operating loss

The net operating loss increased slightly as lower tax benefits were mostly offset by lower interest expense and higher allocated expenses in the current year.

Revenues

Net investment income increased primarily from higher average invested assets in the current year.

We had net investment gains in the current year mainly from derivative gains and gains from the sale of investment securities. We had net investment losses in the prior year from losses from derivative losses, partially offset by gains from the sale of investment securities.

Insurance and investment product fees and other decreased as a result of losses in the current year from non-functional currency transactions attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates related to intercompany transactions.

Benefits and expenses

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, decreased primarily attributable to lower net expenses after allocations to our operating segments in the current year.

Interest expense decreased largely driven by the repayment of \$485 million of senior notes in June 2014.

The income tax benefit decreased primarily attributable to additional tax expense required to offset tax benefits reported by our operating segments and stock-based compensation, partially offset by higher taxed foreign income allocated to our operating segments in the current year.

Investments and Derivative Instruments

Investment results

The following table sets forth information about our investment income, excluding net investment gains (losses), for each component of our investment portfolio for the periods indicated:

	T	Three months ended March 31,				Increase (decrease)		
(Amounts in millions)	20	015	20	014	2015 vs	s. 2014		
	Yield	Amount	Yield	Amount	Yield	Am	ount	
Fixed maturity securities—taxable	4.5%	\$ 639	4.6%	\$ 648	(0.1)%	\$	(9)	
Fixed maturity securities-non-taxable	3.5%	3	3.7%	3	(0.2)%		_	
Commercial mortgage loans	5.6%	85	5.6%	83	— %		2	
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	8.2%	4	7.0%	4	1.2%		_	
Equity securities	6.0%	4	5.1%	4	0.9%		—	
Other invested assets (1)	48.7%	55	36.5%	50	12.2%		5	
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	1.0%	1	1.0%	1	— %		—	
Policy loans	8.8%	33	8.6%	31	0.2%		2	
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments	0.2%	3	0.4%	5	(0.2)%		(2)	
Gross investment income before expenses and fees	4.6%	827	4.7%	829	(0.1)%		(2)	
Expenses and fees	(0.1)%	(24)	(0.1)%	(24)	— %		_	
Net investment income	4.5%	\$ 803	4.6%	\$ 805	(0.1)%	\$	(2)	
Average invested assets and cash		\$71,126		\$69,739		<u>\$</u>	1,387	

(1) Included in other invested assets was \$15 million and \$21 million of net investment income related to reinsurance arrangements accounted for under the deposit method during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Yields are based on net investment income as reported under U.S. GAAP and are consistent with how we measure our investment performance for management purposes. Yields are annualized, for interim periods, and are calculated as net investment income as a percentage of average quarterly asset carrying values except for fixed maturity and equity securities, derivatives and derivative counterparty collateral, which exclude unrealized fair value adjustments, and securities lending activity, which is included in other invested assets and is calculated net of the corresponding securities lending liability.

For the three months ended March 31, 2015, annualized weighted-average investment yields decreased primarily attributable to lower reinvestment yields on higher average invested assets in the current year. The three months ended March 31, 2015 included a decrease of \$10 million attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates.



The following table sets forth net investment gains (losses) for the periods indicated:

	Three mor Marc	nths ended ch 31,
(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Available-for-sale securities:		
Realized gains	\$ 15	\$ 7
Realized losses	(12)	(23)
Net realized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities	3	(16)
Impairments:		
Total other-than-temporary impairments	(3)	(1)
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)		
Net other-than-temporary impairments	(3)	(1)
Trading securities	6	12
Commercial mortgage loans	2	3
Net gains (losses) related to securitization entities	8	6
Derivative instruments	(32)	(21)
Net investment gains (losses)	<u>\$ (16)</u>	<u>\$ (17)</u>

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

- We recorded net other-than-temporary impairments of \$3 million and \$1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to
 commercial mortgage loans.
- Net investment losses related to derivatives of \$32 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 were primarily associated with losses related to
 derivatives used to hedge foreign currency risk associated with assets held. In addition, there were GMWB losses, including decreases in the values of instruments
 used to protect statutory surplus from equity market fluctuation. These losses were partially offset by gains related to derivatives to hedge foreign currency risk
 associated with expected dividend payments from certain foreign subsidiaries.

Net investment losses related to derivatives of \$21 million during the three months ended March 31, 2014 were primarily associated with GMWB losses, including decreases in the values of instruments used to protect statutory surplus from equity market fluctuation, which were partially offset by non-derivative investment gains on trading securities. In addition, there were losses related to derivatives used to hedge foreign currency risk associated with assets held and expected dividend payments from certain foreign subsidiaries, as well as losses related to a non-qualified derivative strategy to mitigate interest rate risk with our statutory capital positions. These losses were partially offset by gains related to hedge ineffectiveness from our cash flow hedge programs for our long-term care insurance business due to a decrease in long-term interest rates.

We recorded net gains of \$3 million related to the sale of available-for-sale securities during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to net losses of \$16 million during the three months ended March 31, 2014. We also recorded \$6 million of lower net gains related to trading securities during the three months ended March 31, 2014.

Investment portfolio

The following table sets forth our cash, cash equivalents and invested assets as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015		December 31	, 2014
(Amounts in millions)	Carrying value	% of total	Carrying value	% of total
Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:				
Public	\$ 47,046	59%	\$ 46,636	60%
Private	15,896	20	15,811	20
Commercial mortgage loans	6,149	8	6,100	8
Other invested assets	2,723	3	2,296	3
Policy loans	1,506	2	1,501	2
Restricted other invested assets related to securitization entities	411	1	411	1
Equity securities, available-for-sale	306	_	282	_
Restricted commercial mortgage loans related to securitization entities	188	_	201	_
Cash and cash equivalents	5,158	7	4,918	6
Total cash, cash equivalents and invested assets	\$ 79,383	100%	\$ 78,156	100%

For a discussion of the change in cash, cash equivalents and invested assets, see the comparison for this line item under "--Consolidated Balance Sheets." See note 4 in our consolidated financial statements under "Item 1--Financial Statements" for additional information related to our investment portfolio.

We hold fixed maturity, equity and trading securities, derivatives, embedded derivatives, securities held as collateral and certain other financial instruments, which are carried at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As of March 31, 2015, approximately 9% of our investment holdings recorded at fair value was based on significant inputs that were not market observable and were classified as Level 3 measurements. See note 6 in our consolidated financial statements under "Item 1—Financial Statements" for additional information related to fair value.

Fixed maturity and equity securities

As of March 31, 2015, the amortized cost or cost, gross unrealized gains (losses) and fair value of our fixed maturity and equity securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows:

		Gross unrealized gains				Gross unrealized losses					
(Amounts in millions)	Amortized cost or cost	tem	her-than- porarily paired	temp	er-than- oorarily oaired	tem	ther-than- porarily paired	tem	er-than- porarily paired	Fair value	
Fixed maturity securities:											
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored											
enterprises	\$ 4,985	\$	1,147	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 6,132	
Tax-exempt (1)	348		29		_		(16)		—	361	
Government-non-U.S. (2)	1,829		180		—		(1)		—	2,008	
U.S. corporate (2), (3)	24,526		3,395		22		(43)		—	27,900	
Corporate—non-U.S. (2)	13,791		1,177		1		(83)		—	14,886	
Residential mortgage-backed (4)	4,746		414		15		(11)		(1)	5,163	
Commercial mortgage-backed	2,508		180		5		(3)			2,690	
Other asset-backed (4)	3,813		29		1		(41)		_	3,802	
Total fixed maturity securities	56,546		6,551		44		(198)		(1)	62,942	
Equity securities	280		29			. <u></u>	(3)			306	
Total available-for-sale securities	\$ 56,826	\$	6,580	\$	44	\$	(201)	\$	(1)	\$63,248	

(1) Fair value included municipal bonds of \$281 million related to special revenue bonds and \$80 million related to general obligation bonds.

(2) Fair value included European periphery exposure of \$401 million in Ireland, \$192 million in Spain, \$146 million in Italy and \$16 million in Portugal.

(3)

Fair value included municipal bonds of \$1,388 million related to special revenue bonds and \$591 million related to general obligation bonds. Fair value included \$83 million collateralized by Alt-A residential mortgage loans and \$52 million collateralized by sub-prime residential mortgage loans. (4)

As of December 31, 2014, the amortized cost or cost, gross unrealized gains (losses) and fair value of our fixed maturity and equity securities classified as available-forsale were as follows:

		Gross unreal	lized gains	Gross unreali	ized losses	
(Amounts in millions)	Amortized cost or cost	Not other-than- temporarily impaired	Other-than- temporarily impaired	Not other-than- temporarily impaired	Other-than- temporarily impaired	Fair value
Fixed maturity securities:						
U.S. government, agencies and government-sponsored						
enterprises	\$ 5,006	\$ 995	\$ —	\$ (1)	\$ —	\$ 6,000
Tax-exempt (1)	347	29	_	(14)	—	362
Government-non-U.S. (2)	1,952	156	_	(2)	_	2,106
U.S. corporate (2), (3)	24,251	3,017	20	(88)	—	27,200
Corporate—non-U.S. (2)	14,214	1,015	_	(97)	_	15,132
Residential mortgage-backed ⁽⁴⁾	4,881	362	15	(17)	(1)	5,240
Commercial mortgage-backed	2,564	143	4	(9)	_	2,702
Other asset-backed ⁽⁴⁾	3,735	23	1	(54)		3,705
Total fixed maturity securities	56,950	5,740	40	(282)	(1)	62,447
Equity securities	253	36		(7)		282
Total available-for-sale securities	\$ 57,203	\$ 5,776	\$ 40	\$ (289)	<u>\$ (1</u>)	\$62,729

(1) Fair value included municipal bonds of \$277 million related to special revenue bonds, \$80 million related to general obligation bonds and \$5 million related to other municipal bonds.

(2) Fair value included European periphery exposure of \$238 million in Ireland, \$201 million in Spain, \$145 million in Italy and \$16 million in Portugal.

(3) Fair value included municipal bonds of \$1,303 million related to special revenue bonds and \$546 million related to general obligation bonds.

(4) Fair value included \$56 million collateralized by sub-prime residential mortgage loans and \$86 million collateralized by Alt-A residential mortgage loans.

Fixed maturity securities increased \$495 million principally from higher net unrealized gains attributable to changes in interest rates in the current year and as purchases exceeded sales and maturities.

The majority of our unrealized losses were related to securities held in our U.S. Life Insurance segment. Our U.S. Mortgage Insurance segment had gross unrealized losses of \$17 million and \$21 million as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Our exposure in peripheral European countries consists of fixed maturity securities and trading bonds in Portugal, Ireland, Italy and Spain. Investments in these countries are primarily made to support our international businesses and to diversify our U.S. corporate fixed maturity securities with European bonds denominated in U.S. dollars. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, our exposure to the peripheral European countries increased by \$155 million to \$755 million with unrealized gains of \$75 million. Our exposure as of March 31, 2015 was diversified with direct exposure to local economies of \$238 million, indirect exposure through debt issued by subsidiaries outside of the European periphery of \$85 million and exposure to multinational companies where the majority of revenues come from outside of the country of domicile of \$432 million.

Commercial mortgage loans

The following tables set forth additional information regarding our commercial mortgage loans as of the dates indicated:

	March 31, 2015								
(Dollar amounts in millions)			Total recorded investment		Number of loans	Loan-to-value ⁽¹⁾	Delinquent o-value ⁽ⁱ⁾ principal balance		Number of delinquent loans
Loan Year									
2004 and prior	\$	681	377	36%	\$	_	—		
2005		808	209	50%		—	—		
2006		769	207	57%		2	1		
2007		633	144	61%		_	_		
2008		226	51	62%		6	1		
2009			_	— %					
2010		112	52	44%			_		
2011		259	52	55%			_		
2012		643	94	60%					
2013		839	138	63%			—		
2014		954	150	68%			_		
2015		246	31	71%					
Total	\$	6,170	1,505	58%	\$	8	2		

(1) Represents weighted-average loan-to-value as of March 31, 2015.

	December 31, 2014								
(Dollar amounts in millions)		Total recorded investment		Loan-to-value ⁽¹⁾	Delinqu princip balanc	al delinquent			
Loan Year									
2004 and prior	\$	722	393	37%	\$ -				
2005		875	225	53%	-				
2006		802	215	59%		2 1			
2007		664	148	68%	-				
2008		230	51	63%		6 1			
2009		_	_	— %	-				
2010		115	54	44%	_				
2011		264	53	56%	-				
2012		647	94	60%	_				
2013		845	138	64%	-				
2014		959	150	69%	-				
Total	\$	6,123	1,521	59%	\$	8 2			

(1) Represents weighted-average loan-to-value as of December 31, 2014.

Other invested assets

The following table sets forth the carrying values of our other invested assets as of the dates indicated:

	Marcl	h 31, 2015	Decem	December 31, 2014			
(Amounts in millions)	Carrying value	% of total	Carrying value	% of total			
Derivatives	\$ 1,484	54%	\$ 1,132	49%			
Short-term investments	412	15	300	13			
Securities lending collateral	323	12	289	13			
Trading securities	218	8	241	10			
Limited partnerships	215	8	252	11			
Other investments	71	3	82	4			
Total other invested assets	\$ 2,723	100%	\$ 2,296	100%			

Our investments in derivatives increased primarily attributable to changes in the long-term interest rate environment in the current year. Short-term investments increased from higher net purchases in the current year.

Derivatives

The activity associated with derivative instruments can generally be measured by the change in notional value over the periods presented. However, for GMWB and fixed index annuity embedded derivatives, the change between periods is best illustrated by the number of policies. The following tables represent activity associated with derivative instruments as of the dates indicated:

(Notional in millions)	Measurement	December 31, 2014	Additions	Maturities/ terminations	March 31, 2015
Derivatives designated as hedges			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Cash flow hedges:					
Interest rate swaps	Notional	\$ 11,961	\$ —	\$ (6)	\$ 11,955
Inflation indexed swaps	Notional	571	1	(10)	562
Foreign currency swaps	Notional	35			35
Total cash flow hedges		12,567	1	(16)	12,552
Total derivatives designated as hedges		12,567	1	(16)	12,552
Derivatives not designated as hedges					
Interest rate swaps	Notional	5,074	250	(392)	4,932
Interest rate swaps related to securitization entities	Notional	77		(4)	73
Credit default swaps	Notional	394			394
Credit default swaps related to securitization entities	Notional	312	_	_	312
Equity index options	Notional	994	212	(201)	1,005
Financial futures	Notional	1,331	1,465	(1,433)	1,363
Equity return swaps	Notional	108	127	(103)	132
Foreign currency swaps	Notional	104	4	—	108
Other foreign currency contracts	Notional	425	104	(129)	400
Total derivatives not designated as hedges		8,819	2,162	(2,262)	8,719
Total derivatives		\$ 21,386	\$ 2,163	\$ (2,278)	\$ 21,271

(Number of policies) Derivatives not designated as hedges	Measurement	December 31, 2014	Additions	Maturities/ terminations	March 31, 2015
GMWB embedded derivatives	Policies	39,015	_	(784)	38,231
Fixed index annuity embedded derivatives	Policies	13,901	1,179	(82)	14,998
Indexed universal life embedded derivatives	Policies	421	127	(2)	546

The decrease in the notional value of derivatives was primarily attributable to our non-qualified interest rate swaps related to our interest rate hedging strategy associated with our long-term care insurance products.

The number of policies related to our GMWB embedded derivatives decreased as variable annuity products are no longer being offered. The number of policies related to our fixed index annuity and indexed universal life embedded derivatives increased as a result of product sales in the current year.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Total assets. Total assets increased \$973 million from \$111,358 million as of December 31, 2014 to \$112,331 million as of March 31, 2015.

- Cash, cash equivalents and invested assets increased \$1,227 million primarily from an increase of \$987 million in invested assets and \$240 million in cash and cash equivalents. Our fixed maturity securities portfolio increased \$495 million principally attributable to higher unrealized gains attributable to changes in interest rates in the current year and as purchases exceeded sales and maturities. Other invested assets increased \$427 million primarily driven by an increase in derivatives largely attributable to changes in the long-term interest rate environment and net purchases of short-term investments in the current year.
- Deferred acquisition costs decreased \$124 million primarily from lower production in the current year.
- Separate account assets decreased \$144 million as death and surrender benefits exceeded favorable market performance in the current year.

Total liabilities. Total liabilities increased \$689 million from \$94,561 million as of December 31, 2014 to \$95,250 million as of March 31, 2015.

- Our future policy benefits increased \$573 million primarily driven by an increase in our long-term care insurance business from the aging and growth of the in-force block.
- Our unearned premiums decreased \$255 million primarily driven by our international mortgage insurance business largely attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates in the current year.
- Other liabilities increased \$295 million mainly related to an increase in derivatives in the current year.
- Deferred tax liability increased \$195 million primarily from an increase in unrealized net investment gains in the current year.
- Separate account liabilities decreased \$144 million as death and surrender benefits exceeded favorable market performance in the current year.

Total stockholders' equity. Total stockholders' equity increased \$284 million from \$16,797 million as of December 31, 2014 to \$17,081 million as of March 31, 2015.

- We reported net income available to Genworth Financial, Inc.'s common stockholders of \$154 million in the current year.
- Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) increased \$246 million predominantly attributable to higher net unrealized investment gains and derivatives qualifying as hedges mainly related to changes in the long-term interest rate environment in the current year. These increases were partially offset by decreases in foreign currency translation related to the continued strengthening of the U.S. dollar in the current year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and capital resources represent our overall financial strength and our ability to generate cash flows from our businesses, borrow funds at competitive rates and raise new capital to meet our operating and growth needs.

Genworth and subsidiaries

The following table sets forth our unaudited condensed consolidated cash flows for the three months ended March 31:

(Amounts in millions)	2015	2014
Net cash from operating activities	\$ 624	\$ 61
Net cash from investing activities	(366)	(204)
Net cash from financing activities	35	269
Net decrease in cash before foreign exchange effect	<u>\$ 293</u>	<u>\$ 126</u>

Our principal sources of cash include sales of our products and services, income from our investment portfolio and proceeds from sales of investments. As an insurance business, we typically generate positive cash flows from operating activities, as premiums collected from our insurance products and income received from our investments exceed policy acquisition costs, benefits paid, redemptions and operating expenses. These positive cash flows are then invested to support the obligations of our insurance and investment products and required capital supporting these products. Our cash flows from operating activities are affected by the timing of premiums, fees and investment income received and benefits and expenses paid. We had higher cash inflows from operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014 mainly from cash collateral received from counterparties primarily as a result of the change in the derivative and lower tax payments in the current year.

In analyzing our cash flow, we focus on the change in the amount of cash available and used in investing activities. We had higher cash outflows from investing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014 primarily from net purchases of short-term investments in the current year compared to net maturities and sales of short-term investments in the prior year.

Changes in cash from financing activities primarily relate to the issuance of, and redemptions and benefit payments on, universal life insurance and investment contracts; the issuance and acquisition of debt and equity securities; the issuance and repayment or repurchase of borrowings and non-recourse funding obligations; and dividends to our stockholders and other capital transactions. We had lower cash inflows from financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014 primarily from lower deposits to our investment contracts and from cash dividends paid to noncontrolling interests related to our Australian mortgage insurance business during the current year.

In the United States and Canada, we engage in certain securities lending transactions for the purpose of enhancing the yield on our investment securities portfolio. We maintain effective control over all loaned securities and, therefore, continue to report such securities as fixed maturity securities on our consolidated balance sheets. We are currently indemnified against counterparty credit risk by the intermediary.

Under the securities lending program in the United States, the borrower is required to provide collateral, which can consist of cash or government securities, on a daily basis in amounts equal to or exceeding 102% of the applicable securities loaned. Currently, we only accept cash collateral from borrowers under the program. Cash collateral received by us on securities lending transactions is reflected in other invested assets with an offsetting liability recognized in other liabilities for the obligation to return the collateral. Any cash collateral received by our custodian based upon the investment guidelines provided within our agreement. In

the United States, the reinvested cash collateral is primarily invested in a money market fund approved by the NAIC, U.S. and foreign government securities, U.S. government agency securities, asset-backed securities and corporate debt securities. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of securities loaned under our securities lending program in the United States was \$323 million and \$288 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of collateral held under our securities lending program in the United States was \$323 million and \$289 million, respectively, and the offsetting obligation to return collateral of \$334 million and \$299 million, respectively, was included in other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. We did not have any non-cash collateral provided by the borrower in our securities lending program in the United States as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Under our securities lending program in Canada, the borrower is required to provide collateral consisting of government securities on a daily basis in amounts equal to or exceeding 105% of the fair value of the applicable securities loaned. Securities received from counterparties as collateral are not recorded on our consolidated balance sheet given that the risk and rewards of ownership is not transferred from the counterparties to us in the course of such transactions. Additionally, there was no cash collateral as cash collateral is not permitted as an acceptable form of collateral under the program. In Canada, the lending institution must be included on the approved Securities Lending Borrowers List with the Canadian regulator and the intermediary must be rated at least "AA-" by S&P. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of securities loaned under our securities lending program in Canada was \$345 million and \$371 million, respectively.

We also have a repurchase program in which we sell an investment security at a specified price and agree to repurchase that security at another specified price at a later date. Repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are carried at the amounts at which the securities will be subsequently reacquired, including accrued interest, as specified in the respective agreements. The market value of securities to be repurchased is monitored and collateral levels are adjusted where appropriate to protect the counterparty and us against credit exposure. Cash received is invested in fixed maturity securities. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of securities pledged under the repurchase program was \$531 million and \$592 million, respectively, and the repurchase obligation of \$503 million and \$553 million, respectively, was included in other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.

Genworth-holding company

Genworth Financial and Genworth Holdings each acts as a holding company for their respective subsidiaries and do not have any significant operations of their own. Dividends from their respective subsidiaries, payments to them under tax sharing and expense reimbursement arrangements with their subsidiaries and proceeds from borrowings or securities issuances are their principal sources of cash to meet their obligations. Insurance laws and regulations regulate the payment of dividends and other distributions to Genworth Financial and Genworth Holdings by their insurance subsidiaries. We expect dividends paid by the insurance subsidiaries will vary depending on strategic objectives, regulatory requirements and business performance.

The primary uses of funds at Genworth Financial and Genworth Holdings include payment of holding company general operating expenses (including taxes), payment of principal, interest and other expenses on current and any future borrowings, payments under current and any future guarantees (including guarantees of certain subsidiary obligations), payment of amounts owed to GE under the Tax Matters Agreement, payments to subsidiaries (and, in the case of Genworth Holdings, to Genworth Financial) under tax sharing agreements, contributions to subsidiaries, repurchases of debt and equity securities and, in the case of Genworth Holdings, loans, dividends or other distributions to Genworth Financial. In deploying future capital, important current priorities include focusing on our operating businesses so they remain appropriately capitalized, and accelerating progress on reducing overall indebtedness. We may from time to time seek to repurchase or redeem outstanding notes for cash (with cash on hand, proceeds from the issuance of new debt and/or the proceeds from asset or stock sales) in open market purchases, tender offers, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. We currently seek to reduce our indebtedness over time through repurchases, redeemptions and/or repayments at maturity.

Our Board of Directors has suspended the payment of dividends on our common stock indefinitely. The declaration and payment of future dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent on many factors including the receipt of dividends from our operating subsidiaries, our financial condition and operating results, the capital requirements of our subsidiaries, legal requirements, regulatory constraints, our credit and financial strength ratings and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant. In addition, our Board of Directors has suspended repurchases of our common stock under our stock repurchase program indefinitely. The resumption of our stock repurchase program will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors.

Genworth Holdings had \$820 million and \$953 million of cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. As of March 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents of Genworth Holdings included \$70 million of restricted cash. Genworth Holdings also held \$250 million and \$150 million in U.S. government securities as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, we received dividends from our international subsidiaries of \$132 million. We also made capital contributions to one of our life subsidiaries of \$25 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015.

Regulated insurance subsidiaries

The liquidity requirements of our regulated insurance subsidiaries principally relate to the liabilities associated with their various insurance and investment products, operating costs and expenses, the payment of dividends to us, contributions to their subsidiaries, payment of principal and interest on their outstanding debt obligations and income taxes. Liabilities arising from insurance and investment products include the payment of benefits, as well as cash payments in connection with policy surrenders and withdrawals, policy loans and obligations to redeem funding agreements.

Our insurance subsidiaries have used cash flows from operations and investment activities to fund their liquidity requirements. Our insurance subsidiaries' principal cash inflows from operating activities are derived from premiums, annuity deposits and insurance and investment product fees and other income, including commissions, cost of insurance, mortality, expense and surrender charges, contract underwriting fees, investment management fees and dividends and distributions from their subsidiaries. The principal cash inflows from investment activities result from repayments of principal, investment income and, as necessary, sales of invested assets.

Our insurance subsidiaries maintain investment strategies intended to provide adequate funds to pay benefits without forced sales of investments. Products having liabilities with longer durations, such as certain long-term care insurance and life insurance policies, are matched with investments having similar duration such as long-term fixed maturity securities and commercial mortgage loans. Shorter-term liabilities are matched with fixed maturity securities that have short- and medium-term fixed maturities. In addition, our insurance subsidiaries hold highly liquid, high quality short-term investment securities and other liquid investment grade fixed maturity securities to fund anticipated operating expenses, surrenders and withdrawals. As of March 31, 2015, our total cash, cash equivalents and invested assets were \$79.4 billion. Our investments in privately placed fixed maturity securities, commercial mortgage loans, policy loans, limited partnership interests and select mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities are relatively illiquid. These asset classes represented approximately 31% of the carrying value of our total cash, cash equivalents and invested assets as of March 31, 2015.

As disclosed on April 17, 2015, we estimate our U.S. mortgage insurance business will require additional capital of \$500 million to \$700 million to be fully compliant with the final PMIERs by the effective date of December 31, 2015. We intend to take the necessary steps so that our U.S. mortgage insurance business will comply with the final PMIERs by the effective date. The outcome of the review of our strategic options and the implementation of any decisions based on the review, in combination with our assessment of reinsurance cost and capacity, among other things, will determine the mix of reinsurance and holding company cash we will use to meet the capital requirements of the final PMIERs.

In April 2015, Genworth Canada announced acceptance by the Toronto Stock Exchange of its Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid ("NCIB"). Pursuant to the NCIB, Genworth Canada may, if considered advisable, purchase from time to time over the next 12 months, up to an aggregate of 4.7 million of its issued and outstanding common shares. If Genworth Canada decides to repurchase shares through the NCIB, we intend to participate in the NCIB in order to maintain our overall ownership at its current level.

In April 2015, we received regulatory approval for the potential issuance of up to AUD\$250 million of subordinated notes from our Australian mortgage insurance business. A decision to issue these notes has not yet been made and will be subject to business and market conditions.

Capital resources and financing activities

We believe existing cash held at Genworth Holdings combined with dividends from subsidiaries, payments under tax sharing and expense reimbursement arrangements with subsidiaries and proceeds from borrowings or securities issuances will provide us with sufficient capital flexibility and liquidity to meet our future operating requirements. We actively monitor our liquidity position, liquidity generation options and the credit markets given changing market conditions. We manage liquidity at Genworth Holdings to maintain a minimum balance one and one-half times expected annual debt interest payments plus the additional excess of \$350 million, although the excess amount may be lower during the quarter due to the timing of cash inflows and outflows. We will evaluate the target level of the excess amount as circumstances warrant. We cannot predict with any certainty the impact to us from any future disruptions in the credit ratings of our holding companies. The availability of additional funding will depend on a variety of factors such as market conditions, regulatory considerations, the general availability of credit, the overall availability of credit to the financial services industry, the level of activity and availability of reinsurance, our credit ratings and credit capacity and the performance of and outlook for our business.

Contractual obligations and commercial commitments

There have been no material additions or changes to our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as set forth in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2015.

Securitization Entities

There were no off-balance sheet securitization transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2015 or 2014.

New Accounting Standards

For a discussion of recently adopted accounting standards, see note 2 in our consolidated financial statements under "Item 1-Financial Statements."

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of the loss of fair value resulting from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk is directly influenced by the volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the related underlying financial instruments are traded. The following is a discussion of our market risk exposures and our risk management practices.

During the first quarter of 2015, there was little change in the credit spreads for most fixed-income asset classes and U.S. Treasury yields remained at historically low levels. See "—Business trends and conditions" and "—Investments and Derivative Instruments" in "Item 2—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for further discussion of recent market conditions.

In the first quarter of 2015, the U.S. dollar strengthened against currencies in Australia, Canada and the United Kingdom, as well as the Euro. The overall strengthening of the U.S. dollar in the first quarter of 2015 generally resulted in lower levels of reported revenues and net income, assets, liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in our U.S. dollar consolidated financial statements. See "Item 2—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for further discussion on the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

There were no other material changes in our market risks since December 31, 2014.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2015, an evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective solely as a result of a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as disclosed in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Management has concluded that the material weakness that was present as of December 31, 2014 was also present as of March 31, 2015 as we are working to implement enhanced control procedures and plan to complete them during 2015.

Previously Identified Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As previously disclosed in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K, we did not have adequate controls designed and in place to ensure that we correctly implemented changes made to one of our methodologies as part of our comprehensive long-term care insurance claim reserves review completed in the third quarter of 2014.

Remediation Status

We are currently working to remediate this material weakness and have created a project team to lead the remediation efforts. To date, we have developed a detailed timeline and project plan for remediation and we have already separated our actuarial team responsibilities to provide that, beginning in the second quarter of 2015, one team develops and implements all significant assumption and methodology changes to our long-term care insurance claim reserves while another team determines the nature and scope of the review required as a result of the changes, and then executes the review process. In addition, we have begun re-designing the "review control" over the implementation of assumption and methodology changes to our claim reserves to include testing of our claim reserves calculation, on an individual claim basis, from the point at which the claim record is included in our policy administration system through the point at which our reserve is reported in our consolidated financial statements. These control enhancements are intended to ensure that assumption and methodology changes to our long-term care insurance claim reserves function as intended.

We believe these measures will remediate the control deficiency identified above and will strengthen our internal control over financial reporting for the calculation of our long-term care insurance claim reserves. We are working to implement these enhanced control procedures and plan to complete them during 2015. We will test the ongoing operating effectiveness of the new controls subsequent to implementation, and consider the material weakness remediated after the applicable remedial controls operate effectively for a sufficient period of time.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting During the Quarter Ended March 31, 2015

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, there have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See note 7 in our consolidated financial statements under "Part I—Financial Information—Item 1—Financial Statements" for a description of material pending litigation and regulatory matters affecting us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The discussion of our business and operations should be read together with the risk factors contained in Item 1A of our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K which describe various risks and uncertainties to which we are or may become subject. These risks and uncertainties have the potential to affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, strategies or prospects in a material and adverse manner. Except as disclosed below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors set forth in the above-referenced filing as of March 31, 2015.

We may be unable to successfully develop and execute strategic plans to effectively address our current business challenges.

In connection with the release of our results for the fourth quarter of 2014, we announced that we are conducting a thorough review of our portfolio exploring all options to maximize long-term stockholder value. We continue to make progress on our review of strategic options in order to position us for the future and are actively engaged in three areas: (1) strengthening our mortgage insurance businesses and the capital, earnings and sales of our long-term care insurance business; (2) simplifying our business portfolio with a focus on our life insurance and annuity businesses and our Australian mortgage insurance business; and (3) increasing our financial strength and flexibility through initiatives such as a multi-step restructuring plan targeting cash savings in excess of \$100 million over the next two years as well as reducing holding company debt levels. In addition, we continue to pursue the planned sale of our lifestyle protection insurance business, which had previously been designated as a non-core business for us. We expect to realize a significant loss on any sale of our lifestyle protection insurance business given its current book value. We cannot be sure we will be able to successfully develop and execute these strategic plans to effectively address our current business challenges (including with respect to our long-term care insurance business, ratings and capital), including as a result of: (a) our failure to attract buyers for our lifestyle protection insurance business and any other businesses or other assets we may seek to sell, or securities we may seek to issue (if any), in each case, in a timely manner on anticipated, or otherwise acceptable terms; (b) our inability to generate required capital; (c) our failure to obtain any required regulatory, stockholder and/or noteholder approvals or consents or anticipated credit or financial strength ratings; (d) our challenges changing or being more costly or difficult to successfully address than we currently anticipate or the benefits achieved bein

We may be unable to increase the capital needed in our businesses in a timely manner and on anticipated terms, including through improved business performance, reinsurance or similar transactions, asset sales, securities offerings or otherwise, in each case as and when required.

We have in the past provided, and currently expect to provide, additional capital to our businesses as necessary (and to the extent we determine it is appropriate to do so) to meet regulatory capital requirements, comply with rating agency requirements, provide capital and liquidity buffers for our businesses to operate and meet unexpected cash flow obligations. We may not be able to fund or raise the required capital as and when required and the amount of capital required may be higher than anticipated. Our inability to fund or raise the capital required timeframes and on the anticipated terms, could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition, including causing us to reduce our business levels or be subject to a variety of regulatory actions.

For example, we intend to further increase capital in our U.S. life insurance business in order to (i) address the reduction in capital resulting from the completion of a comprehensive review of our long-term care insurance claim reserves and (ii) enhance our financial strength and flexibility to maintain our commercial presence and provide for unforeseen events or developments. To increase capital in our U.S. life insurance business, we intend, among other things, at least over the near term, not to pay dividends from our life insurance subsidiaries to the holding company, pursue additional long-term care insurance rate actions, seek opportunities to reduce risk in older blocks of our long-term care insurance business, utilize reinsurance, pursue block transactions or other sales and significantly reduce expenses.

In addition, we intend to support the increased capital needs of our U.S. mortgage insurance business resulting from the final PMIERs. To address the increased capital needs of our U.S. mortgage insurance business, we intend to utilize reinsurance transactions, together with cash available at the holding company. The outcome of our review of strategic options that we are currently undergoing and the implementation of any decisions based on the review, in combination with our assessment of reinsurance cost and capacity, among other factors, will determine the mix of reinsurance and holding company cash we will use to meet the final PMIERs. The implementation of reinsurance transactions depends on market conditions, third-party approvals or other actions (including approval by regulators), and other factors which are outside of our control, and therefore we cannot be sure we will be able to successfully implement these actions on the anticipated timetable and terms or at all, or achieve the anticipated benefits. For a discussion of risks related to our strategic plans, see "—We may be unable to successfully develop and execute strategic plans to effectively address our current business challenges." For a discussion of factors affecting our estimate of the amount of additional capital that will be required to meet the final PMIERs and operate our business and our ability to utilize reinsurance or similar transactions to satisfy these capital requirements, see "—If we are unable to write new insurance on loans sold to or guaranteed by the GSEs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition."

Although we do not currently intend to do so, if circumstances change we may decide to issue equity at Genworth Financial, which would be dilutive to our shareholders, or debt at Genworth Financial or Genworth Holdings (including debt convertible into equity of Genworth Financial), which would increase our leverage. The availability of any additional debt or equity funding will depend on a variety of factors, including, market conditions, regulatory considerations, the general availability of credit and particularly, to the financial services industry, our credit ratings and credit capacity and the performance of and outlook for our business. Market conditions may make it difficult to obtain funding or complete asset sales to generate additional liquidity, especially on short notice and when the demand for additional funding in the market is high. Our access to funding may be further impaired if our credit or financial strength ratings are negatively impacted.

Recent adverse rating agency actions have resulted in a loss of business and adversely affected our results of operations, financial condition and business and future adverse rating actions could have a further and more significant adverse impact on us.

Financial strength ratings, which various rating agencies publish as measures of an insurance company's ability to meet contractholder and policyholder obligations, are important to maintaining public confidence in our products, the ability to market our products and our competitive position. Credit ratings, which rating agencies publish as measures of an entity's ability to repay its indebtedness, are important to our ability to raise capital through the issuance of debt and other forms of credit and to the cost of such financing.

Over the last several years, the ratings of our holding company and several of our insurance companies have been downgraded, placed on negative outlook and/or put on review for potential downgrade on various occasions. A ratings downgrade, negative outlook or review could occur (and has occurred) for a variety of reasons, including reasons specifically related to our company, generally related to our industry or the broader financial services industry or as a result of changes by the rating agencies in their methodologies or rating criteria. We may be at risk of additional ratings downgrades in the future, particularly in light of the recent increases to our long-term care insurance reserves. A negative outlook on our ratings or a downgrade in any of our financial strength or credit ratings, the announcement of a potential downgrade, negative outlook or review, or customer, investor, regulator or other concerns about the possibility of a downgrade, negative outlook or review, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and business.

Following the release of our results for each of the third quarter of 2014 (including the increase of our long-term care insurance claim reserves) and the fourth quarter of 2014 (including the increase of our long-term care insurance reserves as a result of loss recognition testing), rating agencies took a variety of adverse ratings actions with respect to Genworth Holdings. On November 6, 2014, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's) announced, among other things, that it has placed the credit ratings of Genworth Holdings on review for downgrade. On February 11, 2015, Moody's announced, among other things, that it had downgraded the credit ratings of Genworth Holdings to "Ba1" from "Ba3." This action concluded the review for downgrade of Genworth Holding's credit ratings initiated on November 6, 2014. On November 6, 2014, S&P announced, among other things, that it had lowered the issuer credit and senior unsecured debt ratings of Genworth Holdings to "BB+" with a negative outlook. On February 18, 2015, S&P announced, among other things, that it that lowered the issuer credit and senior unsecured debt ratings of Genworth Holdings to "BB+" with a negative outlook. In December 2014, A.M. Best Company, Inc. ("A.M. Best") also placed Genworth Holdings issuer credit rating and existing debt ratings to "bbb-" from "bbb." The rating agencies also took a variety of adverse ratings actions with respect to the financial strength ratings of certain of our insurance subsidiaries after the announcement of our results for both the third quarters of 2014.

The direct or indirect effects of such adverse ratings actions or any future actions could include, but are not limited to:

- reducing new sales of our products;
- adversely affecting our relationships with distributors, independent sales intermediaries and our dedicated sales specialists, including the loss of exclusivity under certain agreements with our independent sales intermediaries and distribution partners;
- causing us to lose key distributors that have ratings requirements that we may no longer satisfy (or resulting in our renegotiation of new, less favorable arrangements with those distributors);
- requiring us to modify some of our existing products or services to remain competitive, or introduce new products or services;
- · materially increasing the number or amount of policy surrenders, withdrawals and loans by contractholders and policyholders;

- requiring us to post additional collateral for our derivatives or hedging agreements (including those providing us with protection against certain foreign currency exchange movement, interest rate fluctuation and equity market risk) or enabling the counterparties to these agreements to exercise their right to terminate all transactions under the agreements;
- requiring us to provide support in the form of collateral, capital contributions or letters of credit under the terms of certain of our reinsurance, securitization and other agreements;
- adversely affecting our ability to maintain reinsurance or obtain new reinsurance or obtain it on reasonable pricing and other terms;
- regulators requiring certain of our subsidiaries to maintain additional capital, limiting thereby our financial flexibility and requiring us to raise additional capital;
- adversely affecting our ability to raise capital;
- · increasing our cost of borrowing and making it more difficult to borrow in the public debt markets and replace our credit agreement when it expires in 2016; and
- making it more difficult to execute strategic plans to effectively address our current business challenges.

Following the adverse rating actions after the announcement of our results for the third and fourth quarters of 2014, several distributors suspended distribution related to our U.S. Life Insurance Division's products. Those distributors represented, in aggregate, approximately 30%, 20% and 11%, respectively, of sales of our annuities, linkedbenefits and long-term care insurance products for the year ended December 31, 2014. We expect we will continue to be adversely impacted by recent rating actions. Any further adverse ratings announcements or actions likely would have, or intensify, the adverse impact of the direct or indirect effects discussed above (among others), all of which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations, financial condition and business.

In addition, the GSEs require maintenance of a financial strength rating by at least two out of three listed rating agencies (S&P, Fitch Ratings and Moody's) of at least "AA-"/"Aa3" (as applicable) under the GSE MI Eligibility Standards. These MI Eligibility Standards provide that if these requirements are not met additional limitations or requirements may be imposed in the case of Fannie Mae or will be imposed in the case of Freddie Mac for eligibility to insure loans purchased by the GSEs. Currently, we do not meet the ratings requirements of the GSE MI Eligibility Standards. In February 2008, the GSEs temporarily suspended their ratings requirements for top tier mortgage insurers, subject to submission of an acceptable remediation plan. We have submitted remediation plans to both GSEs. On April 17, 2015, the GSEs in conjunction with FHFA publicly released the final PMIERs with an effective date of December 31, 2015. Eligible mortgage insurers will be required to meet the financial and other standards established by the final PMIERs including obtaining a rating from a rating agency approved by the respective GSE. This ratings change under the final PMIERs will replace the existing ratings requirements of the GSE MI Eligibility Standards. Prior to the effective date of the final PMIERs and any transition period we may avail ourselves of, as a condition to us being eligible to continue to insure mortgage loans sold to Fannie Mae, Fannie Mae has imposed additional restrictions on us in additional information. We cannot be sure those limitations will not have a material adverse impact on our results of operations, financial condition and business. Our inability to insure new mortgage loans sold to the GSEs, or the transfer by the GSEs of our existing policies to an alternative mortgage insurer, would have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to meet the capital requirements mandated by the PMIERs because the capital requirements are higher than we currently anticipate or otherwise, we may not be eligible to write new insurance on loans sold to or guaranteed by the GSEs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Private mortgage insurers must satisfy the MI Eligibility Standards. Each GSE's Congressional charter generally prohibits it from purchasing or guaranteeing a mortgage where the loan-to-value ratio exceeds 80% of home value unless the portion of the unpaid principal balance of the mortgage, which is in excess of 80% of the value of the property securing the mortgage, is protected against default by lender recourse, participation or by a qualified insurer. In furtherance of their respective charter requirements, each GSE has adopted MI Eligibility Standards to establish when a mortgage insurer is qualified to issue coverage that will be acceptable to the respective GSE for purchase or guarantee of high loan-to-value mortgages.

The GSEs publicly released the final PMIERs on April 17, 2015 with an effective date of December 31, 2015. The amount of additional capital that will be required to meet the Minimum Required Assets, as defined in the final PMIERs, and operate our business is dependent upon, among other things: (i) the way the PMIERs are applied and interpreted by the GSEs and FHFA as and after they are implemented; (ii) the future performance of the U.S. housing market; (iii) our generating and having expected U.S. mortgage insurance business earnings, available assets and risk-based required assets (including as they relate to the value of the shares of our Canadian mortgage insurance subsidiary that are owned by our U.S. mortgage insurance business as a result of share price and foreign exchange movements or otherwise), reducing risk in-force and reducing delinquencies as anticipated, and writing anticipated amounts and types of new U.S. mortgage insurance business; (iv) our ability to complete, in a timely manner, certain internal restructuring steps within our U.S. mortgage insurance business, some of which require GSE and/or regulatory approvals; and (v) our projected overall financial performance, capital and liquidity levels being as anticipated. As a result, the amount of capital required for our U.S. mortgage insurance business may be higher than currently anticipated, which would increase the associated risks. In the absence of a premium increase, the more capital we hold relative to insured loans, the lower our returns will be. We may be unable to increase premium rates for various reasons, principally due to competition. Our inability, on the other hand, to increase the capital as required in the anticipated timeframes and on the anticipated terms, and to realize the anticipated benefits, could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our ability to meet the additional capital requirements is subject to the foregoing factors and also dependent upon, among other things: (i) our ability to complete reinsurance transactions on our anticipated terms and timetable, which are subject to market conditions, third-party approvals and other actions (including approval by regulators), and other factors which are outside of our control; (ii) our ability to successfully develop and execute strategic options currently under review and the timing and terms of implementation, which may be subject to market conditions, third-party approvals (including approval by regulators) and other actions and factors that are outside of our control; (iii) our ability to contribute holding company cash or other sources of capital to satisfy the portion of the additional capital requirements that are not satisfied through reinsurance transactions; and (iv) the approval by the GSEs of our application to meet the financial requirements by the conclusion of the transition period, if such application is pursued by us. In addition, another potential capital source includes, but is not limited to, the issuance of securities by Genworth Financial or Genworth Holdings, which could materially adversely impact our business, shareholders and debtholders.

Although we believe we will be able to increase the capital of our U.S. mortgage insurance business as required on or before the effective date so that we will continue to be an eligible mortgage insurer after the final PMIERs are fully effective, there can be no assurance this will be the case. If we are unable to meet the capital requirements mandated by the PMIERs upon their becoming fully effective because the capital requirements are higher than we currently anticipate or otherwise or we determine not to or are unable to generate or utilize additional sources of capital to meet them, we may not be eligible to write new insurance on loans sold to or guaranteed by the GSEs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Item 6.	Exhibits
Number	Description
10.1	Form of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 2012 Genworth Financial, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan
12	Statement of Ratio of Income to Fixed Charges
31.1	Certification of Thomas J. McInerney
31.2	Certification of Martin P. Klein
32.1	Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code—Thomas J. McInerney
32.2	Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code-Martin P. Klein
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 29, 2015

GENWORTH FINANCIAL, INC. (Registrant)

By: /s/ Kelly L. Groh

Kelly L. Groh Kelly L. Groh Vice President and Controller (Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Dear [Participant Name]:

You have been selected to receive an Award under the 2012 Genworth Financial, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (the '<u>Plan</u>''), on the terms and conditions set forth below. This Award Agreement and the Plan together govern your rights under this Award and set forth all of the conditions and limitations affecting such rights. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan. If there is any inconsistency between the terms of this Award Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the Plan's terms shall supersede and replace the conflicting terms of this Award Agreement.

- 1. Grant of Performance Stock Units. You are hereby granted performance stock units (<u>Units</u>"), representing the right to earn, on a one-for-one basis, Shares of the Company's Class A common stock (<u>"Shares</u>"), all in accordance with the terms of this Award Agreement, the Plan, and any rules and procedures adopted by the Committee. The Units represent the right to earn from 0% to []% of the Target Award, based on (i) your continued future employment, and (ii) the Company's level of achievement of the Performance Goals during the Performance Period, in accordance with the terms of this Award Agreement.
 - a. Grant Date. The Grant Date of your Units is [DATE].
 - b. <u>Target Award</u>. The Target Award of Shares subject to this Award is [].
 - c. <u>Performance Goals.</u> The Performance Goals are described on Exhibit A.
 - d. <u>Performance Period</u>. The Performance Period is the period beginning [DATE] and ending [DATE].
- 2. Agreement to Participate. You have been provided with this Agreement, and you have the opportunity to accept this agreement, by accessing and following the procedures set forth on the stock plan administrator's website. The Plan is available for your reference on the stock plan administrator's website. You may also request a copy of the Plan at any time by contacting Human Resources at the address or telephone number set forth below in Section 11(a). By agreeing to participate, you acknowledge that you have reviewed the Plan and this Award Agreement, and you fully understand all of your rights under the Plan and this Award Agreement, the Company's remedies if you violate the terms of this Award Agreement, and all of the terms and conditions which may limit your eligibility to retain and receive the Units and/or Shares issued pursuant to the Plan and this Award Agreement.

If you do not wish to accept the Units and participate in the Plan and be subject to the provisions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, please contact the Human Resources Department, Genworth Financial, Inc., 6620 W. Broad Street, Richmond, VA 23230, or at (804) 281-6000, within thirty (30) days of receipt of this Award Agreement. If you do not respond within thirty (30) days of receipt of this Award Agreement, the Award Agreement is deemed accepted. If you choose to participate in the Plan, you agree to abide by all of the governing terms and provisions of the Plan and this Award Agreement

3. Earning and Vesting of Units. The Units shall not provide you with any rights or interests therein until the Units have been earned and vested. Not later than March 15 following the end of the Performance Period (the "Vesting Date"), the Committee shall determine and certify the level of achievement of the Performance Goals, and determine the number of Units earned and vested ("Confirmed Units"). Any Units that fail to vest in accordance with the terms of this Award Agreement will be forfeited and reconveyed to the Company without further consideration or any act or action by you.

4. <u>Conversion to Shares</u>. The Confirmed Units shall automatically convert to Shares on the Vesting Date (the '<u>Conversion Date</u>'). These Shares will be registered on the books of the Company in your name as of the Conversion Date, and the Company shall deliver to you a certificate or certificates, or evidence of book entry, with respect to such Shares.

If for any reason the Committee is unable to certify the level of achievement of the Performance Goals by March 15 following the end of the Performance Period, then the Vesting Date shall be March 15 following the end of the Performance Period, but the determination of the number of Confirmed Units and the Conversion Date shall be delayed, in the discretion of the Committee, for such period as may be required for the Committee to certify the level of achievement of the Performance Goals, but in no event shall the Conversion Date extend beyond [DATE].

5. Treatment of Units Upon Termination of Employment. The Units shall be immediately and automatically cancelled upon termination of your service with the Company and its Affiliates prior to the Vesting Date, for any reason other than your death, Total Disability or Retirement on or after the first anniversary of the grant date. If your service with the Company and its Affiliates terminates prior to the Vesting Date as a result of your death, Total Disability or Retirement on or after the first anniversary of the grant date, then the Award shall fully vest as of your termination date, and you (or your estate, in the event of your death) shall receive a pro rata payout on the regular Conversion Date, determined by multiplying the Confirmed Shares that otherwise would have paid out based on actual performance for the entire Performance Period, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of full months elapsed from [DATE] until the date of your termination, and the denominator of which is [].

For purposes of this Award Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"<u>Retirement</u>" shall mean your voluntary resignation on or after you have attained age sixty (60) and accumulated five (5) or more years of combined and continuous service with the Company.

"Total Disability" shall mean a permanent disability that would make you eligible for benefits under the long-term disability program maintained by the Company or any of its Affiliates (without regard to any time period during which the disabling condition must exist) or in the absence of any such program, such meaning as the Committee shall determine.

- 6. Change of Control. The Units shall fully vest as of the effective date of the Change of Control of the Company (Genworth Financial, Inc.); shall be deemed earned based on the target performance being attained for the Performance Period; shall be distributed or paid to you within thirty (30) days following the date of the Change of Control pro rata based on the portion of the performance period elapsed on the date of the Change of Control in cash, Shares (based on the value of the Shares as of the effective date of the Change of Control), other securities, or any combination, as determined by the Committee; and shall thereafter terminate; provided, however, that if, as of the effective date of a Change of Control, you have been designated as a participant under the Company's 2014 Change of Control Plan, or any successor plans thereto, this Section 5 shall not apply and this Award shall instead be governed by the terms and conditions of such plan.
- 7. Payment of Taxes. The Company or any of its Affiliates employing you has the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or require you to remit to the employer, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes (including your FICA obligation) required by law to be withhold with respect to any taxable event arising as a result of the vesting or payment of this Award. With respect to such withholding, the employer may satisfy the tax withholding requirement by withholding Shares having a Fair Market Value as of the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined as nearly equal as possible to the total minimum statutory tax required to be withheld. The obligations of the Company under this Award Agreement will be conditional on such payment or arrangements, and the Company, and, where applicable, its Affiliates will, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to you.
- 8. Nontransferability. This Award may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated (<u>Transfer</u>"), other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, except as provided in the Plan. If any prohibited Transfer, whether voluntary or involuntary, of the

Award is attempted to be made, or if any attachment, execution, garnishment, or lien shall be attempted to be issued against or placed upon this Award, your right to receive any payment pursuant to the terms of this Award shall be immediately and automatically be forfeited, and this Award Agreement shall be null and void.

- 9. <u>Administration</u>. This Award Agreement and your rights hereunder are subject to all the terms and conditions of the Plan, as the same may be amended from time to time, as well as to such rules and regulations as the Committee may adopt for administration of the Plan. It is expressly understood that the Committee is authorized to administer, construe, and make all determinations necessary or appropriate to the administration of the Plan and this Award Agreement, all of which shall be binding upon you.
- 10. Limitation of Rights. The Units do not confer to you or your beneficiary, executors or administrators any rights of a stockholder of the Company unless and until Shares are in fact issued to such person in connection with the Units. This Award Agreement shall not confer upon you any right to continuation of employment by the Company or any of its Affiliates, nor shall this Award Agreement interfere in any way with the Company's or any of its Affiliate's right to terminate your employment at any time.

11. Plan; Prospectus and Related Documents; Electronic Delivery.

- a. A copy of the Plan will be furnished upon written or oral request made to the Human Resources Department, Genworth Financial, Inc., 6620 W. Broad Street, Richmond, VA 23230, or telephone (804) 281-6000.
- b. As required by applicable securities laws, the Company is delivering to you a prospectus in connection with this Award, which delivery is being made electronically. A paper copy of the prospectus may also be obtained without charge by contacting the Human Resources Department at the address or telephone number listed above. By accepting this Award Agreement, you shall be deemed to have consented to receive the prospectus electronically.
- c. The Company will deliver to you electronically a copy of the Company's Annual Report to Stockholders for each fiscal year, as well as copies of all other reports, proxy statements and other communications distributed to the Company's stockholders. You will be provided notice regarding the availability of each of these documents, and such documents may be accessed by going to the Company's website at www.genworth.com and clicking on "Investors" and then "SEC Filings & Financial Reports" (or, if the Company changes its web site, by accessing such other web site address(es) containing investor information to which the Company may direct you in the future) and will be deemed delivered to you upon posting or filing by the Company. Upon written or oral request, paper copies of these documents (other than certain exhibits) may also be obtained by contacting the Company's Human Resources Department at the address or telephone number listed above or by contacting the Investor Relations Department, Genworth Financial, Inc., 6620 W. Broad Street, Richmond, VA 23230, or telephone (804) 281-6000.
- d. By accepting this Award, you agree and consent, to the fullest extent permitted by law, in lieu of receiving documents in paper format to accept electronic delivery of any documents that the Company may be required to deliver in connection with this Award and any other Awards granted to you under the Plan. Electronic delivery of a document may be via a Company e-mail or by reference to a location on a Company intranet or internet site to which you have access.
- 12. <u>Amendment, Modification, Suspension, and Termination</u>. Subject to the terms of the Plan, this Agreement may be modified or amended by the Committee; provided that no such amendment shall materially and adversely affect your rights hereunder without your consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you hereby expressly agree to any amendment to the Plan and this Agreement to the extent necessary to comply with applicable law or changes to applicable law (including, but not limited to, Code Section 409A) and related regulations or other guidance and federal securities laws.
- 13. <u>Applicable Law</u>. The validity, construction, interpretation, and enforceability of this Award Agreement shall be determined and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to the

principles of conflicts of law. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises under this grant or the Award Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the jurisdiction of the State of Virginia, and agree that such litigation shall be conducted in the courts of Richmond, Virginia or the federal courts for the United States for the Eastern District of Virginia, where this Award is made and/or to be performed.

- 14. <u>Entire Agreement: Plan Controls</u>. This Award Agreement, the Plan, and the rules and procedures adopted by the Committee contain all of the provisions applicable to the Award and no other statements, documents or practices may modify, waive or alter such provisions unless expressly set forth in writing, signed by an authorized officer of the Company and delivered to you. In the event of any actual or alleged conflict between the provisions of the Plan and the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of the Plan shall be controlling and determinative.
- 15. <u>Compensation Recoupment Policy</u>. This Award shall be subject to any compensation recoupment policy of the Company that is applicable by its terms to you and to Awards of this type.
- 16. Successors. This Award Agreement shall be binding upon any successor of the Company, in accordance with the terms of this Award Agreement and the Plan.

PLEASE REFER ANY QUESTIONS YOU MAY HAVE REGARDING YOUR PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD TO THE EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES.

<u>Exhibit A</u>

Performance Stock Unit Award Performance Measure and Goals

The Units will be earned, in whole or in part, based on the Company's achievement of [] (as defined below) during the Performance Period, as follows:

Performance <u>Measure</u>	Weight (% of <u>Target)</u>	Threshold <u>([]% Payout)</u>	Target <u>(100% Payout)</u>	Maximum <u>([]% Payout)</u>

Total:

100%

- Payout for performance between points is interpolated on a straight-line basis.
- No payout shall be earned for performance below threshold levels
- Notwithstanding the level of achievement of the above Performance Goals, the Committee may exercise negative discretion to pay out a lesser amount, or no
 amount at all, under the Performance Stock Unit Award based on such considerations as the Committee deems appropriate.

Genworth Financial, Inc.

Statement of Ratio of Income to Fixed Charges (Dollar amounts in millions)

	Three months		Years ended December 31,						
		1ded 31, 2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010		
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and accounting changes	\$	295	\$(1,276)	\$1,050	\$ 606	\$ 130	\$ (143)		
Less: income attributable to noncontrolling interests before income taxes		66	262	210	270	190	199		
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and accounting changes and excluding income attributable to noncontrolling interests	\$	229	<u>\$(1,538</u>)	<u>\$ 840</u>	<u>\$ 336</u>	<u>\$ (60</u>)	<u>\$ (342</u>)		
Fixed charges included in income (loss) from continuing operations:									
Interest expense	\$	113	\$ 463	\$ 482	\$ 467	\$ 496	\$ 454		
Interest portion of rental expense		3	12	13	14	15	14		
Subtotal		116	475	495	481	511	468		
Interest credited to investment contractholders		180	737	738	775	794	841		
Total fixed charges from continuing operations	\$	296	\$ 1,212	\$1,233	\$1,256	\$1,305	\$ 1,309		
Income (loss) from continuing operations available for fixed charges (including interest credited to investment contractholders)	\$	525	\$ (326)	\$2,073	\$1,592	\$1,245	<u>\$ 967</u>		
Ratio of income (loss) from continuing operations available for fixed charges to fixed charges from continuing operations (including interest credited to investment contractholders)		1.77	(0.27)	1.68	1.27	0.95	0.74		
Income (loss) from continuing operations available for fixed charges (excluding interest credited to investment contractholders)	\$	345	<u>\$(1,063</u>)	\$1,335	<u>\$ 817</u>	<u>\$ 451</u>	<u>\$ 126</u>		
Ratio of income (loss) from continuing operations available for fixed charges to fixed charges from continuing operations (excluding interest credited to investment contractholders)		2.97	(2.24)	2.70	1.70	0.88	0.27		

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2011 and 2010, our deficiency in income from continuing operations necessary to cover fixed charges was \$1,538 million, \$60 million and \$342 million, respectively.

I, Thomas J. McInerney, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Genworth Financial, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 29, 2015

/s/ Thomas J. McInerney

Thomas J. McInerney President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) I, Martin P. Klein, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Genworth Financial, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 29, 2015

/s/ Martin P. Klein

Martin P. Klein Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 (AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

I, Thomas J. McInerney, as President and Chief Executive Officer of Genworth Financial, Inc. (the "Company"), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:

- (1) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2015 (the "Report"), filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 29, 2015

/s/ Thomas J. McInerney

Thomas J. McInerney President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 (AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

I, Martin P. Klein, as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Genworth Financial, Inc. (the "Company"), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:

- (1) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2015 (the "Report"), filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 29, 2015

/s/ Martin P. Klein

Martin P. Klein Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)